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Headquartered in Columbus, Ohio, Big Lots (NYSE: BLI) is a

about our company

Fortune 500 company with over 1,400 stores nationwide.
For more than three decades, we've delighted our customers
with a vibrant mix of exciting brands, unique products, and
closeout prices. Big Lots offers new merchandise every week
at substantial savings over traditional discount retailers,
on average 20 to 40 percent less. Our customers love our
unexpected, once-in-a-lifetime deals. We also carry attractive,
affordable furniture, home furnishings, seasonal merchandise,
and hundreds of everyday items consumers want and need.
Through excellent relationships with manufacturers, high-volume
purchases, and strict expense control, we pass tremendous

savings on to our customers.



ﬁ nOnCi(]l hlg h | |g hts (UNAUDITED ADJUSTED RESULTS)

Fiscal Year
($ in thousands, except per share amounts and sales per selling square foof) m 2004 2003 2002 2001
EARNINGS DATA (q)
Net sales $ 4,429,905 $ 4,149,252 $ 3,942,653 $ 3,647,771 $ 3,248,622
Net sales increase (b) 6.8% 5.2% 8.1% 12.3% NR
Income from continuing operations (c) $ 15,725 $ 31,432 $ 81,073 $ 68,281 $ 26,614
Income from continuing operations increase (decrease] (b) (c) (50.0)% (61.2)% 18.7% 156.6% NR
Income from continuing operations per share - diluted (c) $ RV $ 027 $ 068 $ 059 $ 0.23
Income from continuing operations per share - diluted increase
(decrease) (b] (c) [ZERIVA (60.3)% 15.3% 156.5% NR
Average diluted common shares outstanding 113,677 114,801 117,253 116,707 113,660
Gross margin - % of net sales (c) 39.1% 40.7% 41.9% 42.2% 40.8%
Selling and administrative expenses - % of net sales (c) 36.0% 36.6% 36.0% 36.3% 36.8%
Depreciation expense - % of net sales () 2.5% 2.4% 2.3% 2.2% 2.1%
Operating profit - % of net sales (c) 0.6% 1.7% 3.6% 3.6% 1.9%
Net interest expense - % of net sales 0.1% 0.6% 0.4% 0.6% 0.6%
Income from continuing operations - % of net sales (c) 0.4% 0.8% 2.1% 1.9% 0.8%
BALANCE SHEET DATA AND FINANCIAL RATIOS
Cash equivalents and shortterm investments - B3 - $ 170,300 $ 143,815 $ 17,500
Inventories 836,092 895,016 829,569 776,210 705,293
Property and equipment - net 584,083 648,741 621,998 548,103 527,011
Total assets 1,625,497 1,733,584 1,800,543 1,655,571 1,470,281
I.ong-term obligcﬁons 5,500 159,200 204,000 204,000 204,000
Shareholders’ equity 1,078,724 1,075,490 1,108,779 1,020,088 922,533
Working copik]| 557,231 622,269 718,620 654,626 555,719
Net debt (d] 5,500 $ 159,200 $ 33,700 $ 60,185 $ 186,500
Current ratio 2.3 2.5 2.7 2.7 2.8
Inventory turnover (e) 3.0 2.8 3.0 2.9 2.7
Long-term obligations to fotal capitalization 0.5% 12.9% 15.5% 16.7% 18.1%
Return on assets - continuing operations (a] (c) 0.9% 1.8% 4.7% 4.4% 1.8%
Return on shareholders’ equity - continuing operations (a) (c) 1.5% 2.9% 7.6% 7.0% 2.9%
CASH FLOW DATA
Depreciation and amortization $ 114617 BRIV $ 92,407 $ 85,840 $ 69,935
Copital expenditures $ 68,503 $ 135,291 $ 170,175 $ 110,110 $ 113,387
STORE DATA
Stores open at end of the fiscal year 1,401 1,502 1,430 1,380 1,335
Gross square footage (000's) AWAKS 42,975 40,040 37,882 35,528
Selling square footage (000's) 29,856 30,943 29,019 27,593 26,020
Increase (decrease) in selling square footage (3.5)% 6.6% 5.2% 6.0% 5.6%
Average selling square footage per store 21,310 20,601 20,293 19,995 19,491
OTHER SALES DATA
Comparable store sales growth 0.0% 3.4% 7.7% 2.0%
Average sales per store (f $ 2,951 $ 2,932 $ 2,809 $ 2,582
Sales per selling square foot (f) $ 144§ 146 $ 142§ 134
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(o) Earnings data and related financial ratios have been adjusted to reflect the reclassification of 130 closed stores fo discontinued operations for all periods presented. For information relating fo the 130 closed stores,
refer fo the Discontinued Operations Note fo the Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10 for fiscal year 20035.

(b) Comparable metrics o fiscal year 2000 are not reported (“NR”) because the Company did not report the results of fiscal year 2000 with the results of the 130 closed stores reported in discontinued operations.

[c] This item is shown excluding the impact of charges for fiscal years 2003 and 2001. A reconciliation of the differences between GAAP and the non-GAAP financial measures presented in this table for fiscal years
2003 and 2001 is shown on the following page

(d) Net debt is calculated as long-ferm obligations less cash equivalents and shortterm investments.

(e) Inventory turnover includes the results of the 130 closed stores reported in discontinued operations for all periods presented and excludes the impact of the fiscal year 2001 charge described on the following page.

() Excludes wholesale business for periods presented, and includes the 130 closed stores reported in discontinued operations for all periods presented.



The Unaudited Adjusted Results, which include financial measures that are not calculated in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”), are presented in order to improve comparability of financial information
for periods presented. The following information and reconciliation exclude charges related to fiscal years 2003 and 2001, as
described below.

Fiscal Year 2003 Fiscal Year 2001
Unaudited Unaudited
Reported Adjustments Adjusted Results Reported Adjustments Adjusted Results

($ in thousands, except per share amounts) (CAAP) (non-GAAP) (GAAP) (non-GAAP)
Net sales $3,942,653  100.0% $ - $3,942,653  100.0% $3,248,622 1000% $ - $ 3,248,622 100.0 %
Cost of sales 2,292,123 58.1 - 2,292,123  58.1 1,983,959  61.1 (62,439 1,921,520  59.2
Gross margin 1,650,530 419 - 1,650,530 419 1,264,663 389 62,439 1,327,102 40.8
Selling and administrative expenses 1,439,444 365 (18,698) 1,420,746 360 1,229,085 378 34,888) 1,194,197 368
Depreciation expense 88,960 23 - 88,960 23 68,683 2.1 - 68,683 2.1
Operating profit (loss) 122,126 3.1 18,698 140,824 3.6 (33,105 (1.0) 97,327 64,222 1.9
Inferest expense 16,443 0.4 - 16,443 0.4 20,489 0.6 - 20,489 0.6
Interest income 1,061 (0.0) - 1,061 (0.) (287)  (0.0] - (287)  (0.)
Income (loss] from continuing operations

before income taxes 106,744 27 18,698 125442 32 (53,307)  (1.9) 97,327 44020 13
Income tax expense (benefit) 20,833 0.5 23,536 44,369 1.1 (21,038)  (0.9) 38,444 17,406 0.5
Income (loss| from continuing operations 85,911 2.2 (4,838 81,073 2.1 (32,269)  (1.0) 58,883 26614 0.8
Income (loss] from discontinued operations (5,691 (0.2) 9,720 4,029 0.1 11287 04 (8,480) 2807 0.1
Net income (loss) $ 80,220 20% § 4,882 $ 85102 2.2% $ (20,982 0.6)% $ 50,403 $ 29421 0.9%
Income (loss] per common share - basic:

Continuing operations $ 0.74 $ (004 $ 0.70 $  (0.29) $ 052 § 0.24

Discontinued operations (0.05) 0.08 0.03 0.10 (0.07) 0.03

$ 0.9 $ 004 $ 073 $ (018 $§ 045 § 027

Income (loss] per common share - diluted:

Continuing operations $ 0.73 $ (005 § 0.68 $  (0.29) $ 051 § 0.23

Discontinued operations (0.05) 0.09 0.04 0.10 (0.07) 0.03

$ 068 $ 004 § 072 $ (0.18) $ 044 § 026

For a discussion of defined terms, refer to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10K for fiscal year 2005 (“2005 Form 10-K").
The 2005 Form 10K is included in this Annual Report to Shareholders.

FISCAL YEAR 2003 CHARGE

In fiscal year 2003, the Company recorded charges related to KB Toys matters and litigation of $4.9 million (net of tax), or $0.04 per
diluted share. The KB Toys charge resulted primarily from KB’s bankruptcy filing on January 14, 2004, and represented: o) a $14.3
million (net of tax) charge related to KB store lease guarantee obligations; b) a $10.6 million (net of tax) benefit related to the partial
charge-off of the HCC Note and the write-off of the KB warrant; and c) a $5.8 million (net of tax) benefit related to the resolution and
closure of KB state and local tax matters. In another KB matter unrelated to the bankruptcy proceedings, a litigation charge of $1.2
million (net of tax) was recorded relating to certain advertising practices of KB Toys. Unrelated to KB Toys, the Company also recorded
a $5.7 million (net of tax) charge to settle the Company’s two California class action lawsuits relating to the calculation of earned
overtime wages for certain former and current store managers and assistant store managers in that state.

FISCAL YEAR 2001 CHARGE

In fiscal year 2001, the Company recorded a charge of $50.4 million (net of tax), or $0.44 per diluted share. The charge
represented: a) costs to modify the Company’s product assortment and exit certain merchandise categories ($6.1 million net of tax);
b) adjustments to the estimated capitalized freight costs related to inbound imported inventories in response to better systems and
information ($15.0 million net of tax); c) adjustments to inventory-related costs that were identified as a result of the completion of

a significant multiyear conversion to a detailed stock-keeping unit inventory management system ($16.7 million net of tax); and d)
changes in estimates and estimating methodology related to insurance reserves ($12.6 million net of tax).

The Unaudited Adjusted Results should not be construed as an alternative to the reported results determined in accordance with
GAAP. Further, the Company’s definition of adjusted income information may differ from similarly titled measures used by other
companies. While it is not possible to predict future results, management believes the adjusted non-GAAP information is useful for the
assessment of the Company’s ongoing operations. The Unaudited Adjusted Results should be read in conjunction with the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes contained in the 2005 Form 10K.
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chairman’s letter

Dear Shareholders:

Let me begin by expressing how proud I am to be the new CEO of Big Lots. I
joined the company in July 2005. During my first few weeks on the job, I spent a
great deal of time learning and listening — not unusual activities for a new CEO.
I also talked with hundreds of associates, company leaders, and customers during
planning sessions and store visits.

What’s been clear to me from the beginning is that we have talented people and a
strong niche in the retail marketplace. At the same time, we also have an incredible
opportunity to transform Big Lots from a good company to a truly great one.

We deliberately set out looking at our business in new ways, challenging our
assumptions about how we operate and what our customers expect. As I often

STEVEN S. FISHMAN . . . )
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President  Temind our associates, retail constantly changes, and that’s the fun part about

this business. We always have to challenge ourselves to make changes in order to
improve our results and drive shareholder value. And a new CEO — especially an optimistic one — can embrace
change with an open mind.

WIN

In August we launched a new strategy called WIN, or What's Important Now. WIN involves tactical plans to
improve the financial performance of the business in the short and long term. Throughout 2005, development
of the WIN strategy focused the leaders of the business on three key areas: operating expenses, real estate,

and merchandising.

The strategy involves three steps: Discovery, Testing, and Execution. We went through Discovery during my first six
months. As a result of what we learned, we began doing some things differently. The following provides an overview
of our actions involving our expense structure, real estate, and merchandising.

Operating expenses

Our overhead costs in relation to our sales were simply too high. It was critical for the future success of the business
that we quickly reduce our cost structure. We began taking action in October and have already identified annual
expense reductions of $30 to $35 million. We've cut millions of dollars from our budget in corporate overhead
expenses. We reorganized our field operations structure, realigned positions to eliminate management redundancies,
and are reducing the number of tasks and related payroll we are spending in our stores.

Real estate
Like every retailer, we constantly review the performance of our stores. Historically, we have closed or relocated
approximately 30 to 40 stores per year. However, as part of our WIN strategy and in light of softening sales trends
in 2004 and early 2005, we decided to perform a detailed review of every store in our fleet. As a result of our
analysis, we accelerated the closing of an additional 85 closeout stores, bringing our total number of
closeout store closings to 131 for the year. This was a very proactive move to improve the long-term
fitness of our business without compromising our solid cash position. In addition to closing the

131 closeout stores, we made a decision to exit the stand-alone furniture business. While I
love the furniture business, I do not have the same affection for the stand-alone furniture
stores. We have a greater opportunity to improve sales in furniture departments
within our closeout stores while reducing the operating expenses and the inventory
committed to operating a stand-alone furniture business. In total, we closed 174
stores during 2005, which will improve our profitability in 2006 and beyond.

New store openings for the company have historically been very
opportunistic, spreading across all parts of the country. Starting with
2006, we will implement a more market-specific strategy, opening stores
selectively and tailoring the expense structure to match the market
potential. As a result, new store growth will be minimal as we focus on
our prime obsession: boosting sales and profits at existing stores.



Merchandising

One of the greatest challenges we have before us is to define and refine our merchandising strategy. I admit that
merchandising has been my passion for many years. I started out as a merchant, and I often accompany our buyers
on trips to market and at trade shows. Our business plan for 2006 begins with the same objective we start with
every year — providing our customers with incredible brand-name deals at prices nobody can beat. Simultaneously,
we will work hard to grow our profit margins by focusing on opportunities to improve our assortment, sales,
productivity, and marketing.

The process to refine our merchandising strategy began with extensive research. During our Discovery phase, we
studied current successes, received input from store managers and company leaders, and interviewed over 20,000
Big Lots customers.

We learned that Big Lots appeals to an extremely wide range of cost-conscious consumers. The majority of those
surveyed have household incomes between $25,000 and $75,000, are married, and have children. About a third
of them shop us at least once a month. But no matter their age, race, or income level, they all have one thing in

common: They’re treasure hunters.

To our customers, Big Lots represents a unique opportunity to indulge their inner treasure hunter. It doesn’t matter
if they’re looking for bottled water or a bedroom suite — it’s the thrill of finding brand-name merchandise that’s

Stupid Cheap.™

REINVENTING CLOSEOUTS

We're aggressively pursuing new ideas and business relationships that will help us deliver even more of the great deals
our customers know and love. Based on our research, we've launched the following key merchandising initiatives:

Buzz builders, basket builders, musthaves On average, our customers spend about $18 a trip. We have
challenged ourselves to develop strategies to capture a greater share of our existing customers’ wallet or weekly
spend. To achieve this goal, we are looking to build the value of the average basket through three specific
merchandise categories: buzz builders, basket builders, and must-haves. Buzz builders are the WOW items that
create excitement — the ones customers brag to their friends about (our famous-maker jeans at ridiculously
low prices are a good example). These are primarily closeouts and once-in-a-lifetime deals. Basker builders

are impulse items that increase the average sale, such as seasonal merchandise and snacks. And last,
must-haves are frequently purchased items we should always have in stock, such as pens, paper towels,

and tissues. The brand may vary, but we'll always offer a great deal.

Raise the ring This is another merchandising and pricing strategy aimed at increasing the value of
our average basket. We'll study the value of low-ticket items to our selling mix. In some categories, we'll
experiment with larger package sizes that can generate a slightly higher average ticket.

Engineered closeouts and captive labels Closeouts will always be the biggest part of our business.
Often we acquire closeouts through package changes, canceled orders, discontinued items, or manufacturer
overruns. But many manufacturers have the ability to engineer closeouts just for Big Lots. We're
building relationships with major manufacturers to help us bring even more brand-name deals to
our customers. In January 2006, we held our first Big Lots Business Summit with over 100
executives from many of the nation’s leading companies to explore unique options we have
for working together.

We're also starting to carry captive label brands, such as our Rival® dog food.
Rival was a brand-name dog food made many years ago, and we control the
rights to the name. The prospects for expanding our engineered closeout and
private label programs are very promising, and we hope to have more to
report on this front in the coming year.



A SELLING ORGANIZATION

In the past, our approach has been, If you buy i1, they will come. Today
our priorities are different. It’s not enough to focus solely on the buy-side

of closeouts. We are directing our energy on being a buying and selling
organization. Going forward, every great “buy” will have multiple selling
mechanisms — a mixture of in-store, online, and multimedia marketing that will
communicate great value instantaneously.

Brand Names. Closeout Prices® That’s our mantra. We will convey this message at every
sales touch-point. Our marketing activities will address print and broadcast advertising and,
most important, the in-store experience. Our research shows that the majority of our customers

come into Big Lots with no specific item in mind. They’re shopping just for the treasure hunt. That

means how we market inside our stores, how we present, and how well we execute across all merchandise

categories will be critical to growing our business. We'll experiment with signage, color, and clearer sight lines

to help customers navigate the store and locate our great bargains. In February 2006, we launched a laboratory store
to test a number of new marketing concepts and merchandise presentations. Our print circulars are undergoing a
makeover too, and we'll be tracking the distribution and effectiveness of our print advertising with a fresh eye. Also
look for new TV commercials.

FULL STEAM AHEAD

Our team enters 2006 with incredible momentum. Our accomplishments are a testimony to the efforts of our

44,000 associates who accepted the challenge to pick up the pace. Business is everything but usual, and we are not
afraid of change. In retail, it’s a necessity. We are literally changing the way closeouts are done. We're not waiting for
vendors to call us. We're making decisions about the merchandise we want to carry — how we want to buy it, price it,
market it, and distribute it efficiently. Every detail of our plan is designed to help us become a selling machine.

Testing of our strategies is already underway in a group of stores across the country and will continue through 2006.
Our testing phase gives all of us a chance to see strategy in action. Some of our ideas will be home runs. Others may
miss the mark, and frankly, that’s a good thing. If you never make a mistake, that means youre not trying something
new, different, and exciting.

Exciting things are clearly happening — new directions, new marketing, and new horizons of opportunity that
make now the best time to be at Big Lots. The results of our testing in 2006 will lay the groundwork for refining our
strategies and executing our successes in 2007. We will focus on the elements that are easily adaptable to our existing
store prototypes and roll them out efficiently and cost-effectively.

WOW is the endgame. We like to call it the closeout moment. It’s not always easy getting there. It takes exceptional
people with unrelenting determination and the drive to perform.

I believe in the Big Lots team. There will always be external forces that can impact our bottom line, from the national
economy to intense competition and even weather. But there is one force that is more powerful, and that force is us.
How we manage, how we work, how we look out for each other — these are the factors that will help separate a great
company from the rest of the pack.

Our niche as the nation’s most dominant broadline closeout retailer is one of our most important assets. We are not a
dollar store, and we are not a discount store. We are a company unlike any other, that goes where few other retailers
can follow. And we are committed to working together to make our company bigger, better, and stronger in returning
shareholder value.

Thank you for your support and confidence as we look forward to a great year.

Sincerely,

Steve Fishman
Chairman, CEO, and President
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Big Lots, Inc.
300 Phillipi Road
Columbus, Ohio 43228

April 19, 2006
Dear Shareholder:

You are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Big Lots, Inc., which will be held
at the Company’s corporate office located at 300 Phillipi Road, Columbus, Ohio, on Thursday, May 25, 2006,
beginning at 9:00 a.m. EDT.

The following pages contain the formal Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders and the Proxy Statement.
You should review this material for information concerning the business to be conducted at the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders.

Your vote is important. Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, you are urged
to complete, date and sign the enclosed proxy card and return it in the enclosed envelope. If you attend the
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, you may revoke your proxy and vote in person if you wish, even if you
have previously returned your proxy.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, we would like to express our appreciation for your continued interest in
the affairs of the Company.

STEVEN S. FISHMAN
Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer and President
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Big Lots, Inc.
300 Phillipi Road
Columbus, Ohio 43228

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TO BE HELD MAY 25, 2006

Notice is hereby given that the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Big Lots, Inc. will be held at the
Company’s corporate office located at 300 Phillipi Road, Columbus, Ohio, on Thursday, May 25, 2006,
beginning at 9:00 a.m. EDT. At the meeting, the holders of the Company’s outstanding common shares will
act on the following matters:

1. The election of nine directors of the Company;

2. The approval of the Big Lots 2006 Bonus Plan, in the form attached hereto as Appendix I; and

3. The transaction of such other business as may properly come before the meeting.
Only shareholders of record at the close of business on March 27, 2006, are entitled to notice of and to vote
at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders and any postponements or adjournment thereof.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

CHARLES W. HAUBIEL II
Senior Vice President, General Counsel
and Corporate Secretary

April 19, 2006
Columbus, Ohio

Your vote is important. Shareholders are urged to complete, date and sign the enclosed proxy card and
return it in the enclosed envelope to which no postage need be affixed if mailed in the United States. If
you attend the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, you may revoke your proxy and vote in person if you
wish, even if you have previously returned your proxy.
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BIG
LOTSY

Big Lots, Inc.
300 Phillipi Road
Columbus, Ohio 43228

PROXY STATEMENT

This Proxy Statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directors

(the “Board”) of Big Lots, Inc., an Ohio corporation (the “Company”), for use at the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders (the “Annual Meeting”) to be held on May 25, 2006, at the Company’s corporate office located
at 300 Phillipi Road, Columbus, Ohio. The Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders, this Proxy Statement
and the accompanying proxy card, together with the Company’s Annual Report to Shareholders for the fiscal
year ended January 28, 2006 (“fiscal 2005”), are first being mailed to shareholders on or about April 19, 2006.

ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING

Purpose of the Annual Meeting

At the Annual Meeting, shareholders will act upon the matters outlined in the Notice of Annual Meeting
included with this Proxy Statement. Specifically, the shareholders will be asked to elect the Company’s
directors, approve the Big Lots 2006 Bonus Plan (the “2006 Bonus Plan”), and transact such other business
as may properly come before the Annual Meeting. In addition, management will report on the performance of
the Company.

Shareholder Voting Rights

Only those shareholders of record at the close of business on March 27, 2006, the record date for the Annual
Meeting, are entitled to receive notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting. At the record date, the Company
had outstanding 113,759,701 common shares, $.01 par value per share. Each of the outstanding common
shares is entitled to one vote on each matter voted upon at the Annual Meeting, or any postponement or
adjournment thereof. The holders of common shares have no cumulative voting rights in the election of
directors. All voting shall be governed by the Code of Regulations of the Company and the General
Corporation Law of the State of Ohio.

Registered Shareholders and Beneficial Shareholders

If your common shares are registered in your name directly with the Company’s transfer agent, National City
Bank, you are considered, with respect to those common shares, a registered shareholder. The Notice of
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, Proxy Statement, proxy card, and 2005 Annual Report to Shareholders
have been sent directly to registered shareholders by the Company.

If your common shares are held in a brokerage account or by a bank or other holder of record, you are
considered the beneficial owner of common shares held in street name. The Notice of Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, Proxy Statement, proxy card, and 2005 Annual Report to Shareholders have been forwarded to
you by your broker, bank or other holder of record who is considered, with respect to those common shares,
the registered shareholder. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker, bank or other
holder of record on how to vote your common shares by using the voting instruction card included in the
mailing or by following their instructions for voting electronically.



Attendance at the Annual Meeting

All shareholders as of the record date, or their duly appointed proxies, may attend the Annual Meeting.
Registration and seating will begin at 8:30 a.m. EDT, and the Annual Meeting will begin at 9:00 a.m. EDT. If
you attend, please note that you may be asked to present valid picture identification, such as a driver’s license
or passport. Cameras, recording devices and other electronic devices will not be permitted at the Annual
Meeting. Please also note that if you hold your common shares as a beneficial shareholder, you will need to
bring a copy of a brokerage statement reflecting your stock ownership as of the record date and check in at
the registration desk at the Annual Meeting.

How to Vote

You may vote by completing, dating and signing the accompanying proxy card and returning it in the
enclosed envelope. You may also vote online at www.proxyvote.com until May 24, 2006 at 11:59 p.m. EDT.
If you wish to vote online, you will need your proxy card and must follow the instructions posted on the
website. If you complete, date, sign and return your proxy card or you properly complete your proxy via the
Internet, your shares will be voted as you direct.

If you are a registered shareholder and attend the Annual Meeting, you may deliver your completed proxy card
in person. Beneficial shareholders who wish to vote at the Annual Meeting will need to obtain a proxy form
from the broker or other nominee that is the registered holder of the common shares. Additionally, beneficial
shareholders may be able to instruct the broker or other nominee how to vote by telephone or electronically, so
please contact your broker or other nominee to determine availability and applicable deadlines.

A proxy may be revoked at any time before it is exercised by filing with the Secretary of the Company a
notice of revocation or a duly executed proxy bearing a later date. A proxy may also be revoked by attending
the Annual Meeting and giving notice of revocation to the Secretary of the meeting, either in writing or in
open meeting. Attendance at the Annual Meeting will not by itself revoke a previously granted proxy.

Householding

The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) has enacted a regulation that allows multiple shareholders
residing at the same address the convenience of receiving a single copy of annual reports, proxy statements,
notices of shareholder meetings, and other documents if they consent to do so. Please note that if you do not
respond to the householding election, householding will begin 60 days after the mailing of the Proxy
Statement. Householding will be permitted only upon certain conditions, including where you agree to or do
not object to the householding of your materials and you have the same last name and address as another
shareholder. If these conditions are met, and SEC regulations allow, your household will receive a single copy
of annual reports, proxy statements, notices of shareholder meetings, and other documents.

The householding election that appears on the enclosed proxy card provides a means for you to notify us
whether or not you consent to householding. By marking “yes” in the box provided, you will consent to
householding. By marking “no” in the box provided, you withhold your consent to participation. If you do
nothing, you will be deemed to have given your consent to householding. Your consent to householding will
be perpetual unless you revoke it. You may revoke your consent at any time by contacting Automatic Data
Processing, Inc. (“ADP”), either by calling 1-800-542-1061, or by writing to: ADP-ICS, Householding
Department, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, New York 11717. You will be removed from the householding
program within 30 days of receipt of your response, following which you will receive an individual copy of
our disclosure document.

Beneficial owners can request more information about householding from their banks, brokers or other holders
of record.

Electronic Delivery of Proxy Materials and Annual Report

In lieu of receiving paper copies of next year’s proxy materials and annual report in the mail, shareholders
may elect to receive these documents electronically via e-mail or the Internet. By opting to access these
documents electronically, you will save the Company the cost of producing and mailing documents to you,
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reduce the amount of mail you receive, and help preserve environmental resources. To enroll in the electronic
delivery service for future annual meetings, use your proxy card information to register online at
www.proxyvote.com by indicating that you agree to receive or access shareholder communications
electronically in future years.

Tabulation of the Votes

Tabulation of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting will be performed by ADP, as inspected by duly appointed
officers of the Company.

Board’s Recommendation

Unless you give other instructions on your proxy card (excluding broker non-votes), the persons named as
proxy holders on the proxy card will vote the common shares in accordance with the recommendations of the
Board. The Board’s recommendation is set forth together with the description of each proposal in this Proxy
Statement. In summary, the Board recommends a vote FOR election of the nominated slate of directors (see
Proposal One), and FOR the approval of the 2006 Bonus Plan (see Proposal Two). If any other matter
properly comes before the Annual Meeting, or if a director nominee named in the Proxy Statement is unable
to serve or for good cause will not serve, the proxy holders will vote on such matter or for such substitute
nominee as recommended by the Board.

Vote Required to Approve a Proposal

Proposal One

For purposes of Proposal One, the nine director nominees receiving the greatest number of votes cast shall be
elected. A properly executed proxy marked “withhold authority” with respect to the election of one or more
nominees for director will not be voted with respect to the nominee or nominees for director indicated,
although it will be counted for purposes of determining whether there is a quorum. If you are a beneficial
shareholder, your broker or other nominee that is the registered holder of your common shares is permitted to
vote your shares for the election of directors even if the broker or other nominee does not receive voting
instructions from you.

Other Matters

For purposes of Proposal Two and any other matters that may properly come before the Annual Meeting, the
affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the common shares represented in person or by proxy and
entitled to vote on each such matter will be required for approval. A properly executed proxy marked
“abstain” with respect to any such matter will not be voted, although it will be counted for purposes of
determining whether there is a quorum. Accordingly, an abstention will have the effect of a negative vote. If
no voting instructions are given (excluding broker non-votes), the persons named as proxy holders on the
proxy card will vote the common shares in accordance with the recommendations of the Board.

If you are a beneficial shareholder, your broker or other nominee may not be permitted to exercise
discretionary voting power with respect to some of the matters to be acted upon. Thus, if you do not give
your broker or other nominee specific voting instructions, your common shares may not be voted on those
matters and will not be counted in determining the number of common shares necessary for approval.
Common shares represented by such “broker non-votes” will, however, be counted in determining whether
there is a quorum.

Quorum

The presence, in person or by proxy, of the holders of a majority of the outstanding common shares entitled to
vote at the Annual Meeting will constitute a quorum, permitting the Company to conduct its business at the
Annual Meeting. Proxies received but marked as abstentions and broker non-votes will be included in the
calculation of the number of votes considered to be present at the Annual Meeting for purposes of establishing
a quorum.



PROPOSAL ONE: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

At the Annual Meeting, the common shares of the Company represented by proxies will be voted,
unless otherwise specified, for the election of the nine director nominees named below. All nine nominees

are currently directors of the Company. Proxies cannot be voted at the Annual Meeting for more than

nine persons.

Set forth below is certain information relating to the nominees for election as directors. Directors are elected
to serve until the next annual meeting of shareholders and until their respective successors are elected and
qualified, or until their earlier death, resignation or removal.

Name

Sheldon M. Berman

Steven S. Fishman

David T. Kollat

Brenda J. Lauderback

Philip E. Mallott

Ned Mansour

Russell Solt

James R. Tener

Dennis B. Tishkoff

Age
65

54

67
55

57

58

56

Principal Occupation
for the Past Five Years

Director
Since

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President, Xtreem Creative, Inc.
(business planning, marketing planning, and advertising services).

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company;
former President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Restructuring
Officer, Rhodes, Inc. (furniture retailer) — Rhodes, Inc. filed for
bankruptcy on November 4, 2004; former Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, Frank’s Nursery & Crafts, Inc. (lawn and garden
specialty retailer) — Frank’s Nursery & Crafts, Inc. filed for bankruptcy
on September 8, 2004; former President and Founder, SSF Resources,
Inc. (investment and consulting).

President and Founder, 22, Inc. (research and management consulting).

Former President — Wholesale Group, Nine West Group, Inc. (retail
and wholesale footwear); former President — Footwear Wholesale,
U.S. Shoe Corporation (retail and wholesale footwear); former Vice
President, General Merchandise Manager, Dayton Hudson Corporation
(retail stores).

Independent financial consultant; retail stock analyst, Coker & Palmer
(securities brokerage services); former Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer, Intimate Brands, Inc. (retail stores).

Former President, Mattel, Inc. (designer, manufacturer and marketer of
toy products).

Director of Investor Relations, West Marine, Inc. (specialty retailer and
catalog company); former Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer, West Marine, Inc.; former Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer, West Marine, Inc.; former President, Venture Stores
(discount retailer).

President and Chief Operating Officer, Brook Mays Music Group (retail
and wholesale music); former Chief Operating Officer, The Sports
Authority (sporting goods retailer).

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Drew Shoe Corporation
(manufacture, import and export, retail and wholesale footwear);
President, Tishkoff and Associates, Inc. (retail consultant); former
President and Chief Executive Officer, Shoe Corporation of America
(retail footwear).

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR EACH OF THE
NOMINEES LISTED ABOVE.

1994

2005

1990

1997

2003

2003

2003

2005

1991



GOVERNANCE OF THE COMPANY

Current Members of the Board of Directors

The members of the Board as of the date of this Proxy Statement, and the committees of the Board on which
they serve, are identified below. The Board has standing Audit, Compensation, and Nominating/Corporate

Governance Committees. During fiscal 2005, the Board used an ad hoc Search Committee to assist the Board
in identifying a new Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). All committees report on their activities to the Board.

Nominating/
Corporate
Audit Compensation Governance Search

Director Committee Committee Committee Committee
Sheldon M. Berman .......................... *
Steven S. Fishman ............................
David T. Kollat ...................coiinn... *% * *%
Brenda J. Lauderback ......................... *
Philip E. Mallott ...............coiiiiiian... *k
Ned Mansour ..........coevvniiiiiiiiniinenenn. Hk
Russell Solt ...t
James R. Tener ................ociiiiiiiiit
Dennis B. Tishkoff ............................ * *

*  Committee Member
*#*  Committee Chair

Board Meetings in Fiscal 2005

Nine meetings of the Board were held during fiscal 2005. During the period for which he or she was a
director in fiscal 2005, each director attended at least 75% of all meetings of the Board and the committees on
which he or she served. Absent extenuating circumstances, it is the policy of the Company that each nominee
standing for election be present at the Company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders. Each director listed above
attended the Company’s most recent Annual Meeting of Shareholders held in May 2005, except for

Mr. Fishman who did not become a director until July 11, 2005. Under the Company’s Corporate Governance
Guidelines (the “Guidelines”), each director is expected to dedicate sufficient time and attention to ensure the
diligent performance of his or her duties, including by attending meetings of the shareholders of the Company,
the Board, and the committees of which he or she is a member.

Role of the Board’s Committees

Audit Committee

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibility
with respect to the integrity of the financial reports and other financial information provided by the Company
to its shareholders and others; the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; the
engagement of the independent auditor and the evaluation of the independent auditor’s qualifications,
independence and performance; the performance of the Company’s system of internal controls; and the
Company’s audit, accounting and financial reporting processes generally. All members of the Audit Committee
are independent as required by the Audit Committee’s charter and by the applicable New York Stock
Exchange (“NYSE”) and SEC rules. Philip E. Mallott and Russell Solt serve as the Audit Committee’s
financial experts, and the Board has determined that both satisfy the standards for “audit committee financial
expert” as required by the SEC under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Each member of the Audit Committee
is “financially literate,” as required by the NYSE rules.

The functions of the Audit Committee are further described in its charter and in the Audit Committee Report
found later in this Proxy Statement. The charter of the Audit Committee is included as Appendix II to this
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Proxy Statement and is available on the Company’s website at www.biglots.com under the “Investor Relations
— Governance” caption. A copy may also be obtained, without charge, upon written request of the Company’s
Corporate Secretary. The Audit Committee met twelve times during fiscal 2005.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee discharges the responsibilities of the Board relating to the administration of the
Company’s compensation programs. The Compensation Committee is involved in establishing the Company’s
general compensation philosophy, reviewing and approving executive compensation, and overseeing the
development and implementation of compensation programs. All members of the Compensation Committee
are independent as required by the Committee’s charter and the NYSE rules.

The functions of the Compensation Committee are further described in its charter and in the Compensation
Committee Report on Executive Compensation found later in this Proxy Statement. The charter of the
Compensation Committee is available on the Company’s website at www.biglots.com under the “Investor
Relations — Governance” caption. A copy may also be obtained, without charge, upon written request of the
Company’s Corporate Secretary. The Compensation Committee met four times during fiscal 2005.

Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee

The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for recommending individuals to the Board
for nomination as members of the Board and its committees and taking a leadership role in shaping the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, including recommending to the Board the Guidelines
applicable to the Company and monitoring Company compliance with the same. All members of the
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee are independent as required by the Committee’s charter and the
NYSE rules. The functions of the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee are further described in its
charter, which is available on the Company’s website at www.biglots.com under the “Investor Relations —
Governance” caption. A copy may also be obtained, without charge, upon written request of the Company’s
Corporate Secretary. The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee met twice during fiscal 2005.

Search Committee

In January 2005, the Board formed an ad hoc Search Committee for the purpose of identifying a new CEO to
replace Michael J. Potter. The Search Committee was assisted in its recruitment efforts by an independent
executive search firm that provides research and other pertinent information regarding potential candidates. In
conducting its search, the Search Committee reviewed the candidates’ skill set and experience as it related to
the needs of the Company. As the result of its efforts, the Search Committee recommended Mr. Fishman to
the Board for its consideration as the new CEO. Following Mr. Fishman’s appointment as the Company’s
CEO in July 2005, the Search Committee was disbanded. The members of the Search Committee met
individually with several candidates and met as a group once in fiscal 2005.

Presiding Member of the Board

The Board has a presiding director whose primary responsibility is to preside over periodic executive sessions
of the Board in which management directors and other members of management are not present. The role of
presiding director is rotated among the non-management members of the Board. The presiding director is
responsible for establishing an agenda for the session over which he or she presides and, upon the conclusion
of an executive session of the Board, meets with the Company’s CEO and addresses any issues raised during
the executive session.

Determination of Director Independence

In November 2005, the Board revised the Guidelines, which were initially adopted in August 2003. The
Guidelines adopted by the Board comply with the NYSE rules. The Guidelines can be found on the
Company’s website at www.biglots.com under the “Investor Relations — Governance” caption. A copy may
also be obtained, without charge, upon written request of the Company’s Corporate Secretary.
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Pursuant to the Guidelines, the Board undertook its most recent annual review of director independence in
February 2006. During this review, the Board considered transactions and relationships between each director,
his or her affiliates, and any member of his or her immediate family and the Company, its subsidiaries, and
members of senior management. The purpose of this review was to determine whether any such transactions
or relationships were inconsistent with a determination that the director is independent. In determining under
the NYSE rules whether any director has a material relationship with the Company (either directly or as a
partner, shareholder or officer of another entity) aside from his or her service as a director of the Company,
the Board considered the following factors:

e whether the director is, or has been within the last three years, an employee of the Company, or
an immediate family member is, or has been within the last three years, an executive officer, of
the Company;

e  whether the director has received, or an immediate family member has received, during any
twelve-month period within the last three years, more than $100,000 in direct compensation from
the Company, other than director and committee fees and pension or other forms of deferred
compensation for prior service for which such compensation is not contingent in any way on
continued service to the Company;

e  whether the director or an immediate family member is a partner or employee of a firm that is
the Company’s internal or external auditor, whether the director’s immediate family member who
is a current employee of such a firm participates in the firm’s audit, assurance or tax compliance
practice, or whether the director or an immediate family member was within the last three years a
partner or employee of such a firm and personally worked on the Company’s audit within that time;

e  whether the director or an immediate family member is, or has been within the last three years,
employed as an executive officer of another company where any of the Company’s present executive
officers at the same time serves or served on that company’s compensation committee; and

e whether the director is a current employee, or an immediate family member is a current executive
officer, of a company that has made payments to, or received payments from, the Company for
property or services in an amount which, in any of the last three fiscal years, exceeds the greater
of $1 million, or 2% of such other company’s consolidated gross revenues.

As a result of this review, the Board affirmatively determined that all of the directors nominated for election
at the Annual Meeting, with the exception of Mr. Fishman, are independent of the Company and its
management under the standards set forth by the NYSE rules and none of them have a material relationship
with the Company aside from his/her service as a director of the Company. Mr. Fishman is considered a
non-independent inside director due to his employment as the Company’s CEO.

Other Directorships

Mr. Kollat is a director of Limited Brands, Inc., Select Comfort Corporation, and Wolverine Worldwide, Inc.
Mr. Kollat serves on the finance committee at Limited Brands, Inc., the audit committee at Select Comfort
Corporation, and the governance and audit committees at Wolverine Worldwide, Inc., where he is the chair of
the audit committee. Ms. Lauderback is a director of Select Comfort Corporation, Irwin Financial Corporation,
Wolverine Worldwide, Inc. and Denny’s Corporation. Ms. Lauderback is a member of the audit committee at
Wolverine Worldwide, Inc., and serves on both the audit and compensation committees at Irwin Financial
Corporation. Mr. Mallott is a director of Too, Inc., where he also serves as the chair of the audit committee.
Mr. Mansour is a director of The Ryland Group, where he is a member of the audit committee. Mr. Tener is a
director of Edwin Watts Golf. Mr. Tishkoff is a director of Drew Shoe Corporation.

Selection of Nominees by the Board

The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee has oversight over a broad range of issues surrounding the
composition and operation of the Board. The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for
recommending to the Board the appropriate skills and qualifications required of Board members, based on the



needs of the Company from time to time. The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee also evaluates
prospective nominees against the standards and qualifications set forth in the Company’s Corporate
Governance Guidelines. Although the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee has not approved any
specific minimum qualifications that must be met by a nominee for director recommended by the Committee,
the Committee does consider factors such as the prospective nominee’s relevant experience, character,
intelligence, independence, commitment, judgment, prominence, diversity, age, and compatibility with the
Company’s CEO and other members of the Board. The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee also
considers such other relevant factors as it deems appropriate, including the current composition of the Board,
the balance of management and independent directors, and the need for committee expertise. The Nominating/
Corporate Governance Committee confers with the full Board as to the criteria it intends to apply before the
search for a new director nominee is commenced.

In identifying potential candidates for Board membership, the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee
considers recommendations from the Board, shareholders, and management. A shareholder who wishes to
recommend a prospective nominee to the Board must send written notice to: Chair of the Nominating/
Corporate Governance Committee, 300 Phillipi Road, Columbus, Ohio 43228. The written notice shall include
the prospective nominee’s name, age, business address, principal occupation, beneficial ownership of the
Company’s common shares, information that would be required under the rules of the SEC in a proxy
statement soliciting proxies for the election of such prospective nominee as a director, and any other
information that is deemed relevant by the recommending shareholder. Shareholder recommendations that
comply with these procedures and that meet the factors outlined above will receive the same consideration
that the recommendations of the Board and management receive.

Pursuant to its written charter, the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee also has the authority to
retain consultants and search firms to assist in the process of identifying and evaluating candidates and to
approve the fees and other retention terms for any such consultant or search firm. In fiscal 2005, an outside
search firm was retained to assist in identifying and evaluating prospective Board members, including in
connection with the search for a new CEO.

After completing the evaluation of a prospective nominee, the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee
may make a recommendation to the full Board that the targeted individual be nominated by the Board, and
the Board shall decide whether to approve a nominee after considering the recommendation and report of the
Committee. Any invitation to join the Board will be extended through the chair of the Nominating/Corporate
Governance Committee and the Company’s CEO, after approval by the full Board.

Director Compensation

Retainers and Fees

Pursuant to arrangements with the Company, each director who is not an officer of the Company and who is
not involved in the daily affairs of managing the Company (“outside director”) is compensated for Board and
committee participation. The retainers and fees for outside directors in fiscal 2005 consisted of: an annual
retainer of $36,000; an additional annual retainer of $4,000 for the chair of the Audit Committee; an
additional annual retainer of $2,000 for the chair of each of the Board’s other committees; $1,500 for each
Board meeting attended in person; $1,000 for each committee meeting attended in person; $500 for each
Board or committee meeting attended telephonically; and the ability to have the Company consider making a
donation of up to $10,000 annually to a charity recommended by the director. During fiscal 2005, the chair of
the Search Committee also received a one-time retainer of $15,000 and each other member of the Search
Committee received a one-time retainer of $10,000. During fiscal 2005, eight directors, Messrs. Berman,
Kollat, Mallott, Mansour, Solt, Tener and Tishkoff, and Ms. Lauderback, qualified as outside directors and,
thus, were parties to such arrangements. The following table summarizes the retainers and fees earned in
fiscal 2005 by each director standing for election.



Board Board Committee Committee

Director Retainer Meeting Fees Retainer Meeting Fees Total

Sheldon M. Berman .......................... $36,000 $11,000 $ 0 $ 2,000 $49,000
David T. Kollat ................ccocoiiiiiinnt. $36,000 $11,500 $17,000 $ 6,500 $71,000
Brenda J. Lauderback ................ ..., $36,000 $10,500 $10,000 $ 5,500 $62.,000
Philip E. Mallott .................cciiiiiiat. $36,000 $11,500 $14,000 $13,000 $74,500
Ned Mansour ........c.oeveeireinininennnnnnns $36,000 $ 8,000 $ 2,000 $ 1,500 $47,500
Russell Solt ..., $36,000 $11,000 $ 0 $10,000 $57,000
James R. Tener .........coooueieeeeiiuuaneni... $36,000 $10,000 $ 0 $ 6,000 $52.,000
Dennis B. Tishkoff ............................ $36,000 $11,500 $10,000 $ 4,500 $62,000

Stock Options

In addition to the retainers and fees, outside directors receive an annual stock option grant under the Big Lots
Director Stock Option Plan (the “Director Stock Option Plan”). During fiscal 2005, each of the eight outside
directors received an option to acquire 10,000 common shares of the Company pursuant to the Director Stock
Option Plan. The number of common shares available under the Director Stock Option Plan initially consisted
of the original allocation of 500,000 common shares (781,250 shares as adjusted to account for the five for
four stock splits which occurred in December 1996 and June 1997).

The Director Stock Option Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee. Neither the Board nor the
Compensation Committee exercise any discretion in administering the Director Stock Option Plan, and the
administration performed by the Compensation Committee is ministerial in nature. The formula which governs
the grant of stock options to eligible participants may be amended by the Board, but not more frequently than
once in any six month period. Under the current formula, each outside director is granted annually an option
to acquire 10,000 of the Company’s common shares, for an exercise price equal to the fair market value on
the date of grant. Each annual grant occurs on the last day of the quarterly trading period next following the
Annual Meeting.

Stock options granted under the Director Stock Option Plan become exercisable over three years beginning
upon the first anniversary of the grant date, whereby the stock option becomes exercisable for 20% of the
shares on the first anniversary, 60% on the second anniversary, and 100% on the third anniversary. Stock
options automatically terminate 10 years and one month following the date of grant. An optionee may dispose
of the common shares underlying a stock option only during specific quarterly trading periods. Stock options
granted under the Director Stock Option Plan are not transferable other than by will or the laws of descent
and distribution.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS No. 123(R)”), which requires an entity to measure the
cost of services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of
the award. On November 21, 2005, the Company announced that the Compensation Committee, after
discussion with the Board, approved accelerating the vesting of stock options awarded on or before

February 21, 2005, under the Director Stock Option Plan and the Big Lots, Inc. 1996 Performance Incentive
Plan, as amended (the “1996 Incentive Plan”). The Committee did not, however, accelerate the vesting of
stock options granted after February 21, 2005, including those granted to the outside directors in fiscal 2005
or the stock options previously awarded to the Company’s former CEO. Additionally, the Committee imposed
a holding period that requires all directors, executive vice presidents, and senior vice presidents (including the
Company’s named executive officers other than Messrs. Fishman and Potter, whose options were not
accelerated) to refrain from selling net shares acquired upon any exercise of these accelerated options, until
the date on which the exercise would have been permitted under the options’ original vesting terms or, if
earlier, the executive officer’s death, disability or termination of employment. In addition to the perceived
positive effect on associate morale and retention, the decision to accelerate vesting of stock options was made
primarily to reduce non-cash compensation expense that would have been recorded following the adoption of
SFAS No. 123(R) in the first quarter of fiscal 2006.



Code of Business Conduct and Ethics & Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals

The Company has a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which is applicable to all of the Company’s
associates, including the directors, the principal executive officer, the principal financial officer and the
principal accounting officer. The Company has a separate Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals which is
applicable to its CEO, Chief Administrative Officer, and all other Senior Financial Officers (as that term is
defined therein). Both the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and the Code of Ethics for Financial
Professionals are available on the Company’s website at www.biglots.com under the “Investor Relations —
Governance” caption. A copy may also be obtained, without charge, upon written request of the Company’s
Corporate Secretary. The Company intends to post amendments to or waivers from its Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics (to the extent applicable to the Company’s directors and executive officers) or to the Code
of Ethics for Financial Professionals at this location on its website.

Shareholder Communications to the Board

Shareholders and other parties interested in communicating directly with the Board or with the outside
directors as a group may do so by choosing one of the following options:

Call the Board at: (866) 834-7325
Write to the Board at:  Big Lots Board of Directors, 300 Phillipi Road, Columbus, Ohio 43228-5311
E-mail the Board at: www.ci-wackenhut.com/getreal.htm

Under a process approved by the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee for handling correspondence
received by the Company and addressed to outside directors, the Office of the General Counsel of the
Company reviews all such correspondence and forwards to the Board or applicable members of the Board a
summary and/or copies of any such correspondence that, in the opinion of the General Counsel, deals with the
functions of the Board or committees thereof or that he otherwise determines requires their attention. Directors
may at any time review a log of all correspondence received by the Company that is directed to members of
the Board and request copies of any such correspondence. Concerns relating to the Company’s accounting,
internal accounting controls or auditing matters will be referred to members of the Audit Committee. Concerns
relating to the Board or members of senior management will be referred to the members of the Nominating/
Corporate Governance Committee. Those parties sending written communications to the Board will receive a
written acknowledgement upon the Company’s receipt of the communication. Parties submitting
communications to the Board may choose to do so anonymously or confidentially.

STOCK OWNERSHIP

Ownership of Company Stock by Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth certain information with regard to the beneficial ownership of the common
shares of the Company by each holder of more than 5% of such common shares, each director, each of the
executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table, and all executive officers and directors of the
Company as a group. The assessment of holders of more than 5% of the Company’s common shares is based
on a review of and reliance upon filings with the SEC. Except as otherwise indicated, all information is as of
March 27, 2006.
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Amount and Percent of

Name of Beneficial Nature of Beneficial Outstanding
Owner or Identity of Group Ownership(9)(10) Common Shares
Lisa M. Bachmann .............iiuiiuinii e 158,559 *
Sheldon M. Berman (1) ...t 77,562 *
Joe R.COOPET ..o 194,950 *
Steven S. Fishman ... 200,000 *
David T. Kollat ... e 162,034 *
Brenda J. Lauderback ....... ..o 55,300 *
Philip E. Mallott ... 22,500 *
Ned ManSOUL ...ttt e e e e e e e e e 28,000 *
JoOhn C. MAartin .. ... e e 206,277 *
Michael J. POtter .. ...ttt e e 1,468,326 1.3%
RUSSEIl SOOIt .ot 22,000 *
James R. Tener ... 0 *
Dennis B. TisShKOff .. ..o 65,422 *
Brad A. Waite .. ..o 650,057 *
FMR COrp. (2) o eeeneie et e e e e e e e 17,036,630 15.0%
Cooke & Bieler, L.P. (3) ..o.oiniii 12,507,190 11.0%
First Pacific Advisors, InC. (4) ... ... 10,611,300 9.3%
Capital Research and Management Company (5) ...........ccovvirernenn.. 9,271,400 8.1%
Royce & Associates, LLC (6) ....ouieiinii e 8,159,700 7.2%
Sasco Capital, InC. (7) ..o e 6,303,500 5.5%
Westport Asset Management, Inc. (8) ..., 5,835,182 51%
All directors & executive officers as a group (19 persons) .................. 4,334,099 3.8%
* Represents less than 1.0% of the outstanding common shares.

(1) Includes 5,468 common shares owned by Xtreem Creative, Inc., of which Mr. Berman serves as
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President.

(2) Inits joint statement on Schedule 13G/A filed on February 14, 2006 with Edward C. Johnson III,

FMR Corp. stated that it beneficially owned the number of common shares reported in the table as of
December 31, 2005, which number includes 16,933,816 shares (14.9% of the common shares at that
date) beneficially owned by Fidelity Management & Research Company in its capacity as investment
adviser to various investment companies registered under Section 8 of the Investment Company Act of
1940, and 102,814 shares beneficially owned by Fidelity Management Trust Company as a result of its
serving as investment manager for various institutional accounts. Of the common shares reported in the
table above, FMR Corp. had sole voting power over 445,134 shares and sole dispositive power over all
of the shares.

(3) Inits Schedule 13G/A filed on February 15, 2006, Cooke & Bieler, L.P. stated that it beneficially owned
the number of common shares reported in the table as of December 31, 2005, had no sole voting power
over the shares, shared voting power over 7,094,490 of the shares, no sole dispositive power over the
shares, and shared dispositive power over 12,074,090 of the shares.

(4) In its Schedule 13G/A filed on February 10, 2006, First Pacific Advisors, Inc. stated that it beneficially
owned the number of common shares reported in the table as of December 31, 2005, had shared voting
power over 3,478,100 of the shares, and shared dispositive power over all the shares.

(5) In its joint statement on Schedule 13G/A filed on February 10, 2006 with The Growth Fund of America,

Inc., Capital Research and Management Company stated that it beneficially owned the number of
common shares reported in the table as of December 31, 2005, had sole voting power over 4,271,400 of
the shares and sole dispositive power over all the shares, and that The Growth Fund of America, Inc.
had sole voting power over 5,000,000 of the shares and no dispositive power over any of the shares.
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(6) Inits Schedule 13G/A filed on January 11, 2006, Royce & Associates, LLC stated that it beneficially
owned the number of common shares reported in the table as of December 31, 2005, and had sole
voting power and sole dispositive power over all of the shares.

(7) Inits Schedule 13G filed on February 6, 2006, Sasco Capital, Inc. stated that it beneficially owned the
number of common shares reported in the table as of December 31, 2005, and had sole voting power
over 2,644,200 of the shares and sole dispositive power over all of the shares.

(8) Inits Schedule 13G filed on February 13, 2006, Westport Asset Management, Inc. stated that it
beneficially owned the number of common shares reported in the table as of December 31, 2005, had
sole voting power over 1,360,906 of the shares, shared voting power over 3,968,739 of the shares, sole
dispositive power over 1,360,906 of the shares, and shared dispositive power over 4,474,276 of the
shares. Westport Asset Management, Inc. owns 50% of Westport Advisors LLC, an investment advisor
with whom it shares voting power over 3,968,739 of the shares.

(9) The persons named in the table have sole voting power and dispositive power with respect to all
common shares of the Company shown as beneficially owned by them, except as otherwise stated in the
footnotes to this table. The amounts set forth in the table include common shares that may be acquired
within 60 days of the record date under stock options exercisable within that period. Of the common
shares reported for Messrs. Berman, Cooper, Fishman, Kollat, Mallott, Mansour, Martin, Potter, Solt,
Tener, Tishkoff and Waite, and Mss. Bachmann and Lauderback, and for all directors and executive
officers as a group, 62,813, 160,000, 0, 62,813, 20,000, 20,000, 150,000, 1,392,500, 20,000, 0, 62,813,
562,500, 130,000, 55,000 and 3,624,189, respectively, are common shares which may be acquired
within 60 days of the record date under stock options exercisable within that period.

(10) The amounts reported in the table above include common shares of the Company that it has acquired
for purposes of the Company’s obligation to match a portion of the Named Executive Officers’
respective contributions to the Big Lots Supplemental Savings Plan. With respect to the contributions of
Messrs. Cooper, Fishman, Martin, Potter and Waite, and Ms. Bachmann, 2,121, 0, 903, 31,346, 16,470
and 590 common shares were acquired by the Company, respectively. The Named Executive Officers do
not have voting or dispositive power with respect to the common shares held by the Company in
connection with the Big Lots Supplemental Savings Plan.

The addresses of the persons shown in the table above as a beneficial owner of more than 5% of the
Company’s common shares are as follows: FMR Corp., Fidelity Management & Research Company, and
Fidelity Management Trust Company, 82 Devonshire Street, Boston, MA 02109; Cooke & Bieler, L.P,,
1700 Market Street, Philadelphia, PA 19103; First Pacific Advisors, Inc., 11400 West Olympic Boulevard,
Suite 1200, Los Angeles, CA 90064; Capital Research and Management Company, 333 South Hope Street,
Los Angeles, CA 90071; Royce & Associates, LLC, 1414 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10019;
Sasco Capital, Inc., 10 Sasco Hill Road, Fairfield, CT 06824; and Westport Asset Management, Inc.,

253 Riverside Avenue, Westport, CT 06880.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), requires the
Company’s directors and executive officers, and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of the
Company’s outstanding common shares, to file with the SEC and the NYSE initial reports of ownership and
reports of changes in ownership of common shares of the Company. Executive officers, directors and greater
than 10% shareholders are required by the regulations of the SEC to furnish the Company with copies of all
Section 16(a) reports they file. Based upon a review of filings with the SEC and written representations that
no other reports were required, the Company believes that all of its directors, executive officers and 10%
shareholders complied during fiscal 2005 with the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange
Act, with the exception of the Form 3 that was filed late by Mr. Tener to report that he did not beneficially
own any of the Company’s securities.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee (referred to as the “Committee” for purposes of this Report) assists the Board in fulfilling
its oversight responsibility with respect to the integrity of the Company’s accounting, auditing and reporting
processes. Annually, the Committee selects the Company’s independent auditors. Deloitte & Touche LLP was
selected as the Company’s independent auditors for fiscal 2005. As of the date of the Proxy Statement, no
independent auditor has been selected for the fiscal year ending February 3, 2007 (“fiscal 20067), as the
Committee believes it to be in the Company’s best interest to delay its selection until a reasonable time
following the completion of the fiscal 2005 audit.

The Committee consists of three outside directors of the Board. The Company’s common shares are listed on
the NYSE. The members of the Committee have been reviewed by the Board and determined to be
independent within the meaning of all applicable SEC regulations and the listing standards of the NYSE.

The charter of the Committee specifies that the purpose of the Committee is to assist the Board in its
oversight of:

e the integrity of the Company’s financial statements and financial reporting process, and the
Company’s systems of internal accounting and financial controls;

e the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, including the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures;

e the annual independent audit of the Company’s financial statements, the engagement of the
independent auditor, and the evaluation of the independent auditor’s qualifications, independence and
performance;

e  the performance of the Company’s internal audit function;
e the evaluation of enterprise risk issues; and
e the fulfillment of other responsibilities set forth in its charter.

The full text of the Committee’s charter is included as Appendix II to this Proxy Statement and is available on
the Company’s website at www.biglots.com under the “Investor Relations — Governance” caption. The
Committee regularly reviews its responsibilities as outlined in its charter, prepares an annual agenda to include
all of its responsibilities, conducts a self-assessment and review of the charter annually, and believes it
fulfilled its responsibilities thereunder in fiscal 2005.

The Committee met twelve times during fiscal 2005. The Committee schedules its meetings with a view
towards ensuring that it devotes appropriate attention to all of its responsibilities. The Committee’s meetings
include, whenever appropriate, executive sessions with the Company’s independent auditors and with the
Company’s internal auditors, in each case without the presence of the Company’s management. The
Committee also meets in executive session without the presence of anyone else, whenever appropriate.

During the course of fiscal 2005, management completed the documentation, testing and evaluation of the
Company’s system of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the requirements set forth
in Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and related regulations. The Committee was apprised of
the progress of the evaluation and provided oversight and advice to management during the process. In
connection with this oversight, the Committee received periodic updates provided by management and
Deloitte & Touche LLP at each regularly scheduled Committee meeting. The Committee also reviewed the
report of management contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal 2005, as well as
Deloitte & Touche LLP’s Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm included in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K related to its audit of (i) the Company’s consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedule, (ii) management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, and (iii) the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. The
Committee continues to oversee the Company’s efforts related to its internal control over financial reporting
and management’s preparations for the evaluation in fiscal 2006.
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The Committee has reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements with management and Deloitte &
Touche LLP. Management has the primary responsibility for the financial statements and the reporting process.
The Committee has discussed with Deloitte & Touche LLP the matters required to be discussed by SAS No. 61
(Codification of Statements on Auditing Standards, AU Section 380), as modified or supplemented. The
Committee has received written disclosures and a letter from Deloitte & Touche LLP required by Independence
Standards Board Standard No. 1 (Independence Discussions with Audit Committees), as modified or
supplemented, and has discussed the independence of Deloitte & Touche LLP with Deloitte & Touche LLP.

The Committee has also considered whether Deloitte & Touche LLP’s provision of any non-audit services to
the Company is compatible with maintaining the independence of Deloitte & Touche LLP. Consistent with the
Committee’s Audit and Non-Audit Services Pre-Approval Policy, all audit and non-audit services rendered by
Deloitte & Touche LLP in fiscal 2005, including the related fees, were pre-approved by the Committee. Under
the policy, the Committee is required to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services performed by
the independent auditor in order to assure that the provision of those services does not impair the independent
auditor’s independence. Pre-approval is detailed as to the particular service or category of service and is
subject to a specific engagement authorization. The Committee requires the independent auditor and
management to report on the actual fees incurred for each category of service at Committee meetings
throughout the year.

During the year, circumstances may arise when it may become necessary to engage the independent auditor
for additional services which have not been approved. In those instances, the Committee requires specific
pre-approval before engaging the independent auditor. The Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to
one or more of its members for those instances when pre-approval is needed prior to a scheduled Committee
meeting. The member or members to whom pre-approval authority is delegated must report any pre-approval
decisions to the Committee at its next scheduled meeting.

The fees incurred by the Company for the professional services rendered by Deloitte & Touche LLP during
the two most recently completed fiscal years were as follows:

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004
Audit Fees .....oooviinii i $1,627,000 $1,367,000
Audit-Related Fees (a) ..........cccovviiiinn... $ 109,000 $ 120,000
Tax Fees (b) ...oooviiiii i $ 25,000 $ 114,000
All Other Fees .......c.ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiia . $ — $ —
Total FEES ..o e $1,761,000 $1,601,000

(a) Principally audits of employee benefit plans and accounting consultation.
(b) Principally tax planning and tax compliance services.

The Committee has also reviewed key initiatives and programs aimed at strengthening the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal and disclosure control structure. As part of this process, the Committee continued to
monitor the scope and adequacy of the Company’s internal auditing program, reviewing staffing levels and
steps taken to implement recommended improvements in internal procedures and controls. Based on all of
these discussions and a review of all the items delivered, the undersigned members of the Committee
recommended to the Board that it approve the inclusion of the Company’s audited consolidated financial
statements in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal 2005, for filing with the SEC.

Members of the Audit Committee

Philip E. Mallott, Chair
Russell Solt
James R. Tener
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COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The compensation program for the Company’s executives, including the CEO and the other executive

officers named in the Summary Compensation Table (the “Named Executive Officers”), is administered by
the Compensation Committee of the Board (referred to as the “Committee” for purposes of this Report). In
connection with the decision to shift certain responsibilities related to the identification of candidates for service
on the Board and its committees from the Committee to the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee,
the Committee’s charter was amended and its name was changed from the Nominating and Compensation
Committee to the Compensation Committee in November 2005. Notwithstanding these changes, the role of
the Committee continues to include establishing and implementing the philosophy, policies and procedures
applicable to the Company’s executive compensation program; reviewing and approving all executives’
compensation; administering the Company’s equity-based compensation plans and approving grants made to
executives thereunder; and reporting on the entirety of the executive compensation program to the Board. The
Committee’s charter reflects these responsibilities, and the Committee and the Board periodically review the
charter and revise it as needed. The charter, as last revised in November 2005, is available on the Company’s
website at www.biglots.com under the “Investor Relations — Governance” caption.

The Committee’s membership is determined by the Board and is composed of three outside directors who

are independent within the meaning of the listing standards of the NYSE. The Committee meets at scheduled
times during the year and as otherwise needed. The Committee Chair reports on Committee actions and
recommendations at Board meetings. The Company’s Human Resources Department and a management working
group support the Committee’s efforts and, in some cases, act pursuant to delegated authority to fulfill various
functions in administering the Company’s compensation programs. In addition, the Committee has the authority
to engage the services of outside advisers, experts and others to assist the Committee. As discussed in greater
detail below, in fiscal 2005, the Committee engaged an outside compensation consulting firm to assist the
Committee in its review of the compensation program for executives and other members of management. In
connection with its role in developing a reasonable and competitive compensation package for the Company’s
new CEO, the Committee also relied upon information provided by an outside executive search firm.

Committee Meetings

In fiscal 2005, the Committee met four times with 100% attendance. At the first Committee meeting during
the year, all components of the CEO’s and other executives’ compensation were reviewed and analyzed.
Information concerning the CEO’s and other executives’ compensation was distributed prior to the meeting to
ensure that the Committee members had time to ask for additional information, raise questions, and further
discuss the compensation amounts.

Compensation Philosophy

The Committee’s general compensation philosophy is that total compensation should vary with the Company’s
performance in achieving financial and non-financial objectives, and any incentive compensation should be
closely aligned with the shareholders’ interests. This philosophy applies to all of the Company’s full-time,
salaried employees, with a more significant level of variability and compensation at risk as an employee’s
level of responsibility increases.

The Committee believes that the strong performance of its executives is a key to the Company’s success.
Consequently, the Committee has adopted compensation incentives, both short-term and long-term, with a goal

of maximizing shareholder value. The Committee feels that these incentives should be implemented with a high
degree of responsiveness to the performance of the Company. To achieve this responsiveness, importance is placed
upon executive participation in the Company’s performance through equity ownership and bonus opportunities
based upon the Company’s performance. Guided by principles that reinforce the Company’s pay-for-performance
philosophy, the primary compensation components for all executives, including the CEO and the other Named
Executive Officers, consist of salary, bonus opportunities under the Company’s 1998 Key Associate Annual
Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended and restated in 2001 (the “2001 Bonus Plan”), and equity awards made
under the expired 1996 Incentive Plan and the successor Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2005
Incentive Plan”). The Committee believes these components properly align the financial interests and success of
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executives with those of the shareholders. In addition, executives are entitled to certain benefits according to the
Company’s policies and under the Company’s health, insurance and retirement plans.

In fiscal 2004, the Committee engaged in a review of the executive compensation program and the philosophy
driving the program. In fiscal 2005, the Committee continued this critical review, with the goal of developing
the appropriate mix of fixed and variable compensation linked to individual and Company performance. In the
course of this review, the Committee sought the advice of an outside compensation consultant and Company
management. The Committee also identified the key strategic compensation design priorities for the Company:
align executive compensation with shareholder interests; inspire and reward superior performance by executives
and the Company; retain executives by paying them competitively; motivate executives to contribute to the
Company’s success and reward them for their performance; manage executive compensation costs; and continue
to focus on corporate governance. The Committee also considered whether any changes should be made to the
Company’s compensation programs in support of these strategic priorities. With the exception of the restricted
stock award to Mr. Fishman discussed below, the Committee chose not to employ equity vehicles in fiscal 2005
that differ between the executives and the broad-based employee population. Instead, it used non-qualified stock
options as long-term incentives and for the retention for many employees, including executives.

Executive Compensation Practices

The Committee does not rely solely on predetermined formulas or a limited set of criteria when it evaluates
the performance of the CEO, the other Named Executive Officers, and the Company’s other executives.
Annually, the Committee surveys the executive compensation practices of selected Standard & Poor’s Retail
Stores Index companies and other companies with similar revenues. Included in this competitive set are
discount retailers, dollar stores, deep discount drugstore chains, traditional retailers, and specialty retailers.
The Committee’s practice is to target total direct compensation levels for the Company’s executives at a
competitive level when compared with total direct compensation of surveyed companies, adjusted to the
Columbus, Ohio market when possible. Total direct compensation includes salary, bonus at the targeted level,
and equity incentives. Overall individual performance is measured against the following factors, though these
factors vary as required by business conditions:

e Jlong-term strategic goals;

e  short-term business goals;

e revenue and profit goals;

e improving operating margins;

e revenue growth versus the industry;

e  earnings-per-share growth;

e  continued optimization of organizational effectiveness and productivity;
e  the development of talent and leadership throughout the Company; and
e the fostering of teamwork and other Company values.

In setting the goals and measuring an executive’s performance against those goals, the Committee also
considers the performance of its competitors and general economic and market conditions. None of the factors
used by the Committee are assigned a specific weight. Instead, the Committee recognizes that the relative
importance of these factors may change in order to adapt the Company’s operations to specific business
challenges and to reflect the changing economic and marketplace conditions. The success of each executive’s
efforts and their benefits to the Company cannot, of course, be quantifiably measured, but the Committee
believes they are vital to the Company’s continuing success.

Executive Compensation Components

The compensation program for the Company’s executives, including the CEO and the other Named Executive
Officers, consists of the following four components:

e  salary;

e  bonus;
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e  equity; and
e  benefits/perquisites.

The Company’s executives, including the CEO and the other Named Executive Officers, are not provided with
compensation outside of these components. The Committee believes this is important in order to establish a
culture that places value on the contributions of all of the Company’s employees.

Salary

Salary is base cash compensation and is determined by individual performance and the competitive market.
Salary for each executive is established annually based on a salary range that corresponds to the executive’s
job responsibilities and overall individual job performance. A minimum salary for the CEO and each other
Named Executive Officer has been established in their respective employment agreements.

Bonus

The 2001 Bonus Plan provides for cash compensation to be paid annually when certain Company financial
measures (“performance criteria”) are achieved. No right to a minimum bonus exists under the 2001 Bonus
Plan. Bonuses are only paid when the Company achieves the specific performance criteria established at the
Committee’s sole discretion. The Committee derives the performance criteria from the Company’s planned
earnings for the fiscal year, as approved by the Board at the start of the fiscal year.

The Committee also defines the “performance goals,” often referred to as floor, target and stretch, at the time
that the performance criteria are established. The performance goals equate to a percentage of the salary of the
CEO and each of the other Named Executive Officers. Performance goals are established at three levels — the
lowest percentage of salary that will be paid if the threshold performance criteria set by the Committee are
met but the targeted performance criteria are not fully achieved (“floor”); the percentage of salary that will be
paid if the performance criteria set by the Committee are met (“target”); and the percentage of salary that will
be paid if the performance criteria are exceeded, subject to a maximum set by the Committee (“stretch”). The
bonus awards that may be earned under the 2001 Bonus Plan range from the floor to the stretch performance
goals, and include all amounts in between. The target and stretch performance goals for the CEO and each of
the other Named Executive Officers has been established in their respective employment agreements, while
the floor is set annually by the Committee. For executives other than the CEO and the other Named Executive
Officers, the performance goals approved by the Committee are set by position level. Subject to the terms of
the employment agreements, the Committee retains the right to adjust the performance goals.

During fiscal 2005, the Company’s executives, including the CEO and the other Named Executive Officers,
participated in the 2001 Bonus Plan; however, no bonuses were paid under the 2001 Bonus Plan as the
performance criteria established by the Committee were not met. As discussed below, one-time bonuses were
paid to the CEO and the other Named Executive Officers in fiscal 2005. Mr. Fishman received a bonus in
connection with the commencement of his employment in July 2005, and each of the other Named Executive
Officers (excluding Mr. Potter) received a bonus in connection with the fulfillment of their obligations under
their respective retention packages dated January 6, 2005.

Equity

At the 2005 Annual Meeting, shareholders approved the 2005 Incentive Plan. The 2005 Incentive Plan
replaced the 1996 Incentive Plan, which expired on December 31, 2005. Beginning January 1, 2006, equity
awards will be issued under the 2005 Incentive Plan.

Like its replacement, the 1996 Incentive Plan is designed to encourage creation of long-term value for the
Company’s shareholders and equity ownership by the Company’s executive officers, including the CEO and
the other Named Executive Officers. Each stock option grant allows the executive to acquire common shares
of the Company, subject to the completion of a vesting period and continued employment with the Company.
Once vested, these common shares may be acquired at a fixed price per share (the fair market value on the
grant date) and remain exercisable for the term set by the Committee. An executive’s grant amount, if any, is

- 17 -



made at the Committee’s discretion and is based on competitive market conditions, the position of the
executive, and individual and Company performance, and is subject to the limits set forth in the 1996
Incentive Plan. Historically, the vesting period of stock options has been five years and the term has been ten
years. During fiscal 2005, the Company granted stock options to certain of the Company’s executives,
excluding the Named Executive Officers, under the historical vesting period and term. In connection with the
commencement of his employment as the Company’s CEO, Mr. Fishman was granted a stock option that vests
equally over four years and expires seven years after the grant date. Just as the Committee continues to assess
the reasonableness of each component of executive compensation, the Committee will continue to review the
appropriateness of vesting periods and term.

On November 21, 2005, the Company announced that the Committee, after discussion with the Board, approved
accelerating the vesting of stock options awarded on or before February 21, 2005, except those stock options
previously granted to Mr. Potter. As Mr. Fishman’s hire date was July 11, 2005, the stock options that he held
were not accelerated. Additionally, the Committee imposed a holding period that requires all directors, executive
vice presidents, and senior vice presidents (including the Company’s named executive officers other than Messrs.
Fishman and Potter, whose options were not accelerated) to refrain from selling net shares acquired upon any
exercise of these accelerated options, until the date on which the exercise would have been permitted under the
options’ original vesting terms or, if earlier, the executive officer’s death, disability or termination of
employment. In addition to the perceived positive effect on associate morale and retention, the decision to
accelerate vesting of stock options was made primarily to reduce non-cash compensation expense that would
have been recorded following the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) in the first quarter of fiscal year 2006.

During fiscal 2005, the Company also made a restricted stock grant to Mr. Fishman in connection with the
commencement of his employment. The restricted stock granted to Mr. Fishman in fiscal 2005 is held in
escrow and will vest fully after five years of service or in thirds upon the earlier attainment of common share
price targets. This restricted stock award will also vest fully if there is a change in effective control of the
Company (as defined in the 1996 Incentive Plan), and will vest on a prorated basis in the event that

Mr. Fishman dies or becomes disabled before the lapse of the five year term. The restricted stock award will
be forfeited, in whole or in part, as applicable, if Mr. Fishman’s employment terminates.

Benefits/Perquisites

The Company’s philosophy is to offer employees protection from catastrophic events by offering health
(medical, dental and vision) benefits under the Big Lots Associate Benefit Plan (the ‘“Benefit Plan”) and by
making disability coverage available. Where applicable, employees are responsible for managing benefit choices
and balancing their own level of risk and return. During fiscal 2005, the Company offered medical benefits to
its executives, including the CEO and the other Named Executive Officers, that were generally available to its
other employees under the Benefit Plan, plus the opportunity to participate in the Big Lots Executive Benefit
Plan (the “Executive Benefit Plan”). The Executive Benefit Plan is a supplemental health benefit plan that
reimburses participants for medical costs incurred but not covered under the Benefit Plan, up to an annual
maximum reimbursement of $40,000 per family. Amounts received by participants in the Executive Benefit

Plan are treated as taxable income. The Company reimburses each executive receiving taxable benefits under the
Executive Benefit Plan for the approximate amount of the executive’s income and payroll tax liability relating to
the benefits received. Also during fiscal 2005, the Company offered short-term disability coverage to most
employees and long-term disability coverage to all salaried employees. For executives, including the CEO and
the other Named Executive Officers, the benefit under the long-term disability coverage is greater than for
employees below the level of vice president. Under the long-term disability coverage, an executive may receive
67% of his or her monthly salary, up to $25,000 per month, until the executive is no longer disabled or turns
age 65, whichever occurs earlier. The premiums for long-term disability coverage are paid by the Company, and
the Company pays the executive the amount necessary to hold him or her harmless from the income taxes
resulting from premium payments.

The Company also provides executives with certain personal benefits. Personal benefits that are generally
available to all officers at or above the level of vice president include the option of using a Company
automobile or accepting a monthly allowance, and the use of a cellular telephone and a personal digital
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assistant. Additionally, the Company provides executives with certain other personal benefits consistent with
programs offered to substantially all of the Company’s salaried employees, including discounted purchases at
the Company’s stores and tuition reimbursement.

Comprehensive Review Process

During fiscal 2005, the Committee reviewed all components of executive compensation — salary, bonus,
equity and benefits/perquisites — as well as the accumulated realized and unrealized stock option gains.
Additionally, the Committee analyzed the market competitiveness and effectiveness of the design of the
Company’s executive compensation program. In order to assist with these deliberations, the Committee
engaged an outside compensation consulting firm.

With respect to the salary component of the Company’s executive compensation program, the Committee
reviewed the salaries of the Company’s top 11 compensated executives and salary survey information from the
competitive market. When considering adjustments in base salary, the Committee considered several factors,
including compensation history of the executive, market data and competitive factors.

As part of its review of the bonus component of the Company’s executive compensation program, the
Committee determined that the performance criteria established by the Committee for the fiscal year ended
January 29, 2005 (“fiscal 2004”) were not satisfied and, accordingly, no bonuses would be paid under the
2001 Bonus Plan for performance in fiscal 2004. For fiscal 2005, the Committee considered the various
indicia of Company achievement in order to establish meaningful performance criteria under the 2001 Bonus
Plan. The Committee chose to use a formula based on the executive’s salary and a measure of the Company’s
income. To determine eligibility and the amounts of each executive’s bonus for fiscal 2005, each executive’s
salary was multiplied by the performance criteria set by the Committee. The performance criteria established
by the Committee for fiscal 2005 were based on the greater of (i) income from continuing operations,

(i1) income (loss) from continuing operations before extraordinary items and/or the cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle, or (iii) income before extraordinary items, with each such measure being
adjusted to remove the effect of unusual or non-recurring event items. In making adjustments to remove the
effect of unusual or non-recurring event items, the Committee took into account: asset impairments under
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, as amended or superseded; acquisition-related charges;
accruals for restructuring and/or reorganization program charges; merger integration costs; merger transaction
costs; any loss attributable to the business operations of any entity or entities acquired during fiscal 2005; tax
settlement charges; any extraordinary, unusual in nature, infrequent in occurrence, or other non-recurring item
charges (not otherwise listed) as described in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30; any extraordinary,
unusual in nature, infrequent in occurrence, or other non-recurring item charges (not otherwise listed) in
management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations, selected financial data,
financial statements and/or in the footnotes to financial statements, each as appearing in the annual report to
shareholders; unrealized losses on investments; charges related to derivative transactions contemplated by
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, as amended or superseded (such as the amendment by
Statement 138, if applicable); and/or compensation charges related to stock option activity.

The Committee also allows bonus payouts at lower than target levels (floor), greater than target levels
(stretch), and all amounts in between. The Committee believes the performance criteria established for fiscal
2005 bear a strong relationship to its philosophy of tying executive compensation to shareholder value. The
Committee’s aim in setting the bonus objectives was to reward 2001 Bonus Plan participants while generating
substantial free cash flow and strong earnings growth for the Company.

In light of the Company’s results in fiscal 2005, the performance criteria established by the Committee were
not satisfied and no bonuses were paid under the 2001 Bonus Plan for performance in fiscal 2005. As
discussed below, Mr. Fishman and each of the other Named Executive Officers (excluding Mr. Potter)
received one-time bonuses in fiscal 2005. Consequently, fiscal 2005 total cash compensation for the CEO and
the other Named Executive Officers (excluding Mr. Potter) was on par with the market average. Excluding the
one-time bonuses, the total executive cash compensation remained below the market average, because the
Committee’s philosophy requires that the Company consistently perform at high levels to deliver at or above-
market compensation. Based on its review, the Committee has determined that the CEO’s and the other
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Named Executive Officers’ total compensation was reasonable and not excessive. It should be noted that
when the Committee considers any component of the CEO’s or another Named Executive Officer’s total
compensation, the aggregate amounts and mix of all the components, including accumulated (realized and
unrealized) equity award gains are taken into consideration in the Committee’s decisions.

Internal Pay Equity

In the process of reviewing each component of compensation separately, and in the aggregate, the
Committee directs the Company’s Human Resources Department to prepare a summary showing the relative
compensation of each level of management (e.g., between the CEO and other Named Executive Officers, and
then between the CEO and the lower levels of executives). The comparison includes all components of
compensation. Prior to hiring Mr. Fishman, the Committee believed that the relative difference between CEO
compensation and the compensation of the Company’s other executives had not increased significantly over
the years. While Mr. Fishman’s compensation package increases the relative difference between CEO
compensation and the compensation of the Company’s other executives, the Committee believes that the
increase in compensation from Mr. Potter to Mr. Fishman was appropriate and necessary in order to attract a
chief executive with Mr. Fishman’s experience. The factors considered with establishing Mr. Fishman’s
compensation are described in greater detail below.

Compensation for the Chief Executive Officer in Fiscal 2005

In fiscal 2005, in connection with his commencement as Chairman, CEO and President, Mr. Fishman entered
into an employment agreement with the Company. Mr. Fishman replaced Mr. Potter on July 11, 2005.

While the Committee generally followed the philosophy and practices described above to determine

Mr. Fishman’s fiscal 2005 compensation (e.g., tying a substantial portion of total compensation to the
Company’s future performance with non-qualified stock options, restricted stock, and a performance-based
cash bonus opportunity), the Committee believed that it was inappropriate to consider the Company’s prior
performance when establishing Mr. Fishman’s compensation. In setting both the cash-based and equity-based
elements of Mr. Fishman’s compensation, the Committee made an overall assessment of his ability to
formulate and execute the Company’s long-term and short-term strategic, operational and business goals.
Additionally, in order to attract Mr. Fishman with a compensation package that was competitive within the
discount retail industry, the Committee also considered information provided by an outside executive search
firm. Accordingly, Mr. Fishman’s total compensation reflects a consideration of both competitive forces and
the perceived value that Mr. Fishman brings to the Company.

Mr. Potter’s compensation was established by his employment agreement dated January 6, 2005, in accordance
with the philosophy and practices described above and in recognition of his desire to transition from his role
as Chairman, CEO and President.

CEO Salary

Mr. Fishman’s salary was established based on the competitive forces and perceived value described above.
While his employment agreement does not provide for automatic salary increases, such increases (if any) are
made in the sole discretion of the Committee during its annual review process of the Company’s executives.
The Committee has chosen not to adopt any specific schedule of salary increases, and may adjust

Mr. Fishman’s salary without regard to adjustments in the salaries of other executives of the Company.
Generally, the Committee will look to the factors described above, including Company performance, in
determining the amount of Mr. Fishman’s salary increase (if any). The Committee does not weigh such factors
in advance or tie Mr. Fishman’s salary to specific performance criteria. For fiscal 2005, Mr. Fishman’s
annualized salary was $960,000.

Pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Potter’s fiscal 2005 annualized salary was $765,000 for the period
in which he served as CEO.
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CEO Bonus

Mr. Fishman’s bonus is determined in accordance with his employment agreement and the 2001 Bonus Plan.
Under the 2001 Bonus Plan, Mr. Fishman’s bonus is based upon the Company’s achievement of specific
performance criteria established by the Committee. Although his employment agreement provides him with
the opportunity to earn a target bonus equal to 77.08% of his salary and a stretch bonus equal to 165.63% of
his salary (no right to a minimum bonus exists in the employment agreement), the establishment of the
Company’s performance criteria applicable to his performance goals are solely in the Committee’s discretion.
As a result of the Company’s performance in fiscal 2005, Mr. Fishman did not receive a bonus under the 2001
Bonus Plan. Mr. Fishman did, however, received a one-time bonus of $750,000 in connection with the
commencement of his employment. The one-time bonus is conditioned upon Mr. Fishman continuing his
employment with the Company for one year. Should Mr. Fishman voluntarily terminate his employment
within one year, he would be obligated to reimburse the Company the full amount of the one-time bonus.

While Mr. Potter’s employment agreement provided him the opportunity to earn a bonus under the 2001
Bonus Plan during the period in which he served as CEO, no bonus was paid to Mr. Potter for fiscal 2005.

CEO Equity

The Committee believes that the grant of a significant quantity of stock options and restricted stock to

Mr. Fishman further links Mr. Fishman’s interests with the interests of the shareholders. Consequently,

Mr. Fishman’s equity interests in the Company, through stock options and restricted stock granted under the
1996 Incentive Plan, comprise a substantial portion of his compensation and align his personal rewards and
motivation with Company performance and shareholder value. Stock options and restricted stock are granted
to Mr. Fishman at the discretion of the Committee. Contemporaneous with his hiring and consistent with the
competitive market review conducted by the Committee, Mr. Fishman was awarded a non-qualified stock
option to acquire 500,000 common shares of the Company and 100,000 restricted common shares.

Mr. Fishman’s stock option has an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common
shares at the date the stock option was granted, vests equally over four years, and expires seven years after
the grant date. Mr. Fishman’s restricted stock will vest fully after five years of service or in one-third
increments upon the earlier attainment of common share price targets. The restricted stock award will also
vest fully if there is a change in effective control of the Company (as defined in the 1996 Incentive Plan), and
will vest on a prorated basis in the event that Mr. Fishman dies or becomes disabled before the lapse of the
five year term. The restricted stock award will be forfeited, in whole or in part, as applicable, if Mr. Fishman’s
employment terminates for any reason before the restrictions lapse.

Given his previously announced intention to transition from his role as CEO, the Committee elected not to
grant Mr. Potter equity compensation in fiscal 2005.

Compensation for Other Executives in Fiscal 2005

Compensation for the Company’s non-CEO executives, including the “other Named Executive Officers,” is
based on the Committee’s assessment of each executive’s contributions to the Company’s financial and non-
financial goals. The Committee also considers the recommendation of, and relies upon information provided
by, the CEO in making its assessment and reaching its decision with respect to non-CEO executives. As
described above, the Committee undertakes a comprehensive review to align executives’ compensation with
shareholders’ interests, reinforce the Company’s pay-for-performance philosophy, and adhere to the
Committee’s overall compensation values.

Non-CEO Salary

The salaries paid to the other Named Executive Officers in fiscal 2005 are shown in the “Annual
Compensation — Salary” column of the Summary Compensation Table. Each of the other Named Executive
Officers is a party to an employment agreement with the Company. Although these employment agreements
establish the other Named Executive Officers’ respective base salaries, the employment agreements do not
provide for any automatic salary increases.
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The salary component for the Company’s executive officers, other than the CEO and the other Named
Executive Officers, is based upon competitive market data for comparable positions at similarly sized
companies, as adjusted to reflect the experience and expertise of the individual. Salary adjustments are
subjectively determined, and are not formally tied to Company performance.

Non-CEO Bonus

As shown in the “Annual Compensation — Bonus” column of the Summary Compensation Table and
accompanying footnote, no bonuses were paid to the other Named Executive Officers in fiscal 2005 in
accordance with the 2001 Bonus Plan. The bonus component for the other Named Executive Officers consists
of a percentage of salary earned as the Company achieves specific performance criteria established by the
Committee. The percentage of salary is generally set by position level, subject to adjustments by the
Committee based upon its subjective evaluation of the individual’s performance. Each other Named Executive
Officer’s employment agreement provides an opportunity to earn a target bonus and a stretch bonus, but no
right to a minimum bonus exists in the employment agreements. As with the Company’s CEO, the
establishment of the Company’s performance criteria applicable to the other Named Executive Officers, as
well as the performance goals of the other non-CEO executives, remains solely in the Committee’s discretion.
As a result of the Company’s performance in fiscal 2005, none of the Company’s non-CEO executives
received a bonus under the 2001 Bonus Plan.

In connection with the retention packages previously discussed, each of the other Named Executive Officers
received a one-time bonus in fiscal 2005. These one-time bonuses are reflected in the “Annual Compensation —
Bonus” column of the Summary Compensation Table and accompanying footnote. The purpose of the retention
packages was to provide additional incentives for certain executives to remain with the Company while it
selected and integrated a new CEO. In accordance with the retention packages, if the executive remained
employed with the Company through February 1, 2006, or if the executive was involuntarily terminated before
such date for any reason other than cause, he or she would receive a one-time bonus. The one-time retention
bonuses paid to Mr. Waite, Mr. Martin, Ms. Bachmann and Mr. Cooper were $375,000, $279,000, $187,500, and
$175,000, respectively. Had a bonus been earned by an executive under the 2001 Bonus Plan for fiscal 2005, it
would have been reduced by the one-time bonus received by the executive under the retention package.

Non-CEO Equity

The stock options granted to the other Named Executive Officers in fiscal 2005 are shown in the “Long-Term
Compensation — Awards” column of the Summary Compensation Table. The equity participation component
for executives other than the CEO consists of non-qualified stock options and, in certain instances, restricted
stock granted under the 1996 Incentive Plan. Equity awards are typically made near the beginning of each
fiscal year during the Committee’s annual review process and in an amount determined by position and
performance in the prior fiscal year. In addition, equity awards are often made in connection with the
promotion of an individual to a greater level of responsibility. The number of common shares covered by each
equity award is set in advance by position, subject to adjustment based upon the Committee’s subjective
evaluation of the individual’s performance.

Deductibility of Annual Compensation over $1 Million

Under the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993, provisions were added to Section 162(m) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), that generally limit the tax deductions for
compensation expense in excess of $1 million paid to the Company’s CEO and the four other highest
compensated executives. Compensation in excess of $1 million may be deducted if it is “performance-based
compensation” within the meaning of Section 162(m). For fiscal 2005, the Company believes it has taken the
necessary actions to preserve the deductibility of all payments made under the Company’s executive
compensation program, with the exception of a portion of the compensation paid to Mr. Fishman. As the Code
or the regulations promulgated thereunder change, the Committee intends to take reasonable steps to ensure
the continued deductibility of payments under the Company’s executive compensation program, while at the
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same time considering the goals of the Company’s executive compensation philosophy and the competitive
market for outstanding leadership talent.

Summary

The Committee believes the Company’s compensation philosophy and program are designed to foster a
performance-oriented culture that aligns employees’ interests with those of its shareholders. The Committee
further believes that the compensation of the Company’s executives is reasonable, appropriate and responsive
to the goal of improving shareholder return.

Members of the Compensation Committee

David T. Kollat, Chair
Brenda J. Lauderback
Dennis B. Tishkoff

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Employment Agreements

The Company is a party to employment agreements with certain of its key executives, including the Named
Executive Officers. These employment agreements are referred to as the “Key Executive Agreements.”

The terms of the Key Executive Agreements are substantially similar and they are described collectively
herein except where their terms materially differ. The Key Executive Agreements are intended to assure the
Company that it will have the continued dedication, undivided loyalty, and objective advice and counsel from
these key executives in the event of a proposed transaction, or the threat of a transaction, which could result
in a change of control of the Company. Annually, the Compensation Committee reviews the performance of
each key executive to determine whether the key executive’s salary and bonus should be adjusted.

Under the terms of their Key Executive Agreements, Messrs. Fishman, Waite, Martin and Cooper and

Ms. Bachmann are each to receive a minimum base salary of $960,000, $405,000, $450,000, $350,000 and
$325,000, respectively, which amounts are not subject to an automatic increase. As discussed in the
Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation, the salaries of the Named Executive Officers
are determined annually by the Compensation Committee. At its annual review in February 2005, the
Compensation Committee established the fiscal 2005 base salaries for Messrs. Fishman, Waite, Martin and
Cooper and Ms. Bachmann at $960,000, $500,000, $465,000, $350,000 and $340,000, respectively. In
connection with her assuming responsibility for the Company’s information technology, Ms. Bachmann’s base
salary was subsequently increased to $375,000 in August 2005.

Under the terms of his Key Executive Agreement, Mr. Potter will continue to be employed by the Company
for two years following his resignation as CEO in July 2005. During this period, Mr. Potter will receive a
base salary of $382,500 and will be eligible to participate in the Company’s benefit plans and such other
programs as the Company provides for its employees. At the end of Mr. Potter’s employment, he will receive
a payment of $765,000 in exchange for two-year non-competition and non-solicitation covenants.

Bonuses are not payable under the Key Executive Agreements unless the Company achieves a minimum
threshold of its performance criteria. For fiscal 2005, Mr. Fishman’s bonus was subject to a maximum of
165.63% of his base salary. By amendment to his Key Executive Agreement, this maximum amount was
increased to 170% of his base salary beginning in fiscal 2006. Also for fiscal 2005, Messrs. Waite’s, Martin’s,
and Cooper’s and Ms. Bachmann’s bonuses established by the Compensation Committee were subject to a
maximum of 150%, 120%, 100% and 100% of their respective base salaries. Mr. Potter was eligible for a
bonus only through the period in which he served as CEO.

The Key Executive Agreements require that the key executive devote his or her full business time to the
affairs of the Company and prohibit the key executive from competing with the Company during employment
and for a one-year period thereafter, in the case of Messrs. Fishman, Waite, Martin, and Cooper and

Ms. Bachmann, and during employment and for a two-year period thereafter, in the case of Mr. Potter. The
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period is reduced to six months for all key executives in the event of termination of employment following a
“Change of Control,” as such term is defined in the Key Executive Agreements.

Under the Key Executive Agreements, each of the key executives’ employment may be terminated by the
Company for cause, as defined therein. If a key executive is terminated for cause, the Company has no further
obligation to pay any compensation or to provide benefits to the key executive. If Mr. Fishman is terminated
without cause, he will be entitled to receive continued salary payments and benefits for two years and will be
eligible to receive a pro-rata bonus for the fiscal year in which the termination occurs. Should Messrs. Waite,
Martin or Cooper or Ms. Bachmann be terminated without cause, the affected key executive will be entitled to
receive continued salary payments and benefits for one year and will be eligible to receive a pro-rata bonus
for the fiscal year in which the termination occurs. If Mr. Potter is terminated without cause, he will be
entitled to receive benefits for two years following his resignation as CEO and the payment for non-
competition described above.

Messrs. Fishman’s, Waite’s, Martin’s and Cooper’s and Ms. Bachmann’s Key Executive Agreements provide
that in the event the key executive is terminated within 24 months of a Change of Control, the affected key
executive will receive a lump sum payment (net of any applicable withholding taxes) in an amount equal to
two years of the key executive’s then-current salary and two years of the key executive’s then-current annual
stretch bonus, and will be entitled to receive continued benefits for two years, in the case of Mr. Fishman, and
one year, in the case of Messrs. Waite, Martin and Cooper and Ms. Bachmann. Mr. Potter’s Key Executive
Agreement provides that his employment shall automatically terminate in the event that a Change of Control
occurs during the first 12 months after he ceases to serve as CEO, and he will then receive a lump sum
payment (net of any applicable withholding taxes) in an amount equal to $4,590,000 and will be entitled to
receive continued benefits for two years.

A Change of Control of the Company would also cause each of the key executives to receive a payment (the
“Tax Gross-Up Amount”) in the amount necessary to hold them harmless from the effects of Sections 280G
and 4999 of the Code, which Code sections could subject the payments due under these Key Executive
Agreements to excise tax liability (see the “Executive Change In Control Severance Agreements” section for
more information). The compensation payable on account of a Change of Control may be subject to the
deductibility limitations of Sections 162(m) and 280G of the Code.

Executive Change in Control Severance Agreements

Since April 18, 1989, the Company has maintained Executive Severance Agreements with many of its key
officers and employees (currently approximately 70 persons). The agreements expire on the anniversary of
their execution and are automatically extended on an annual basis unless the Company provides at least

90 days notice that any particular agreement will not be extended. The agreements provide for severance
benefits if, within 24 months after a Change in Control (as defined in the agreements and below), the key
officer or employee’s employment is terminated by the Company (other than for Cause, as defined in the
agreements) or the key officer or employee resigns because of a material change in the circumstances of his
or her employment. For purposes of the agreements, “Change in Control” means any one or more of the
following: (i) any person or group (as defined for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act) becomes
the beneficial owner of, or has the right to acquire (by contract, stock option, warrant, conversion of
convertible securities or otherwise), 20% or more of the outstanding equity securities of the Company entitled
to vote for the election of directors; (ii) a majority of the Board is replaced within any period of two years or
less by directors not nominated and approved by a majority of the directors in office at the beginning of such
period (or their successors so nominated and approved), or a majority of the Board at any date consists of
persons not so nominated and approved; or (iii) the shareholders of the Company approve an agreement to
merge or consolidate with another corporation or an agreement to sell or otherwise dispose of all or
substantially all of the Company’s assets (including without limitation, a plan of liquidation). Notwithstanding
these provisions, the agreements provide that a Change in Control shall not result from a transaction in which
the Company exchanges less than 50% of its then outstanding equity securities for 51% or more of the
outstanding equity securities of another corporation. The agreements provide for the following severance
benefits: (i) for certain key officers having a position of vice president (or above) of the Company (or its
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affiliates), a lump-sum payment equal to 200% of the key officer’s then-current annual salary and stretch
bonus; or (ii) for other employees having a position of departmental director of the Company (or its affiliates),
a lump-sum payment equal to 100% of the employee’s then-current annual salary and stretch bonus. Messrs.
Fishman, Waite, Martin, Cooper and Potter and Ms. Bachmann are not a party to such an agreement, but each
has substantially similar provisions contained in his or her respective Key Executive Agreement. The key
officer or employee will also become entitled to reimbursement of legal fees and expenses incurred by the key
officer or employee in seeking to enforce his or her rights under his or her agreement. Additionally, to the
extent that payments to the key officer or employee pursuant to his or her agreement (together with any other
amounts received by the key officer or employee in connection with a Change in Control) would result in
triggering the provisions of Sections 280G and 4999 of the Code, each agreement provides for the payment of
a Tax Gross-Up Amount such that the key officer or employee receives, net of excise taxes, the amount he or
she would have been entitled to receive in the absence of the excise tax provided in Section 4999 of the
Code. The compensation payable on account of a Change in Control may be subject to the deductibility
limitations of Sections 162(m) and/or 280G of the Code. In addition, the 1996 Incentive Plan provides for
immediate vesting of all outstanding stock options and restricted common shares in the event of such a
Change in Control (see the “Fiscal Year End Option Values” table).

Summary Compensation Table

The following Summary Compensation Table sets forth the individual compensation earned by or paid to the
Named Executive Officers (Mr. Fishman, the Company’s CEO; each of the four other most highly
compensated executive officers of the Company in fiscal 2005; and Mr. Potter who served as the Company’s
CEO until July 11, 2005) for services rendered to the Company during each of the past three fiscal years.

Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation
Awards
Other Restricted Securities
Annual Stock Underlying All Other
Fiscal Salary Bonus Compensation Awards Options Compensation

Name and Position Year ® ®@ $)(b) ®)©) #)(d) [E)IOI)
Steven S. Fishman (g) 2005 535,385 750,000 134,315 1,125,000 500,000 0
Chairman, Chief Executive 2004 — — — — — —
Officer and President 2003 — — — — — —
Brad A. Waite 2005 500,040 375,000 7,131 0 0 21,066
Executive Vice President, 2004 408,193 0 57,397 542,500 75,000 19,795
Human Resources, Loss Prevention, 2003 387,757 128,700 3,478 0 75,000 16,621
Real Estate and Risk Management

John C. Martin (h) 2005 462,692 279,000 5,311 0 0 8,400
Executive Vice President, 2004 450,000 0 51,933 325,500 0 8,200
Merchandising 2003 77,885 0 82,001 0 150,000 0
Lisa M. Bachmann 2005 352,510 187,500 6,766 0 0 8,400
Senior Vice President, 2004 322,702 0 2,236 173,600 50,000 8,200
Information Technology/ 2003 308,462 85,250 5,528 0 30,000 8,000
Merchandise Planning and Allocation

Joe R. Cooper 2005 350,027 175,000 4,587 0 0 8,400
Senior Vice President and 2004 302,923 0 5,050 173,600 100,000 8,209
Chief Financial Officer 2003 198,543 33,000 2,895 0 10,000 7,896
Michael J. Potter (i) 2005 551,716 0 2,206 0 0 16,385
Former Chairman, Chief 2004 762,692 0 5,177 0 350,000 15,362
Executive Officer and President 2003 742,346 412,500 6,838 0 350,000 13,053

(a) Mr. Fishman’s fiscal 2005 bonus was a one-time sign-on bonus paid in connection with the commencement
of his employment with the Company. The other Named Executive Officers, excluding Mr. Potter, each
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(b)

()

(d)
(e)

®

(€9)
(h)
()

received bonuses in fiscal 2005 in connection with the retention packages awarded in January 2005. No
bonuses were paid for fiscal 2005 under the 2001 Bonus Plan.

Except for Mr. Fishman in fiscal 2005, Mr. Waite in fiscal 2004 and Mr. Martin in fiscal 2004 and fiscal
2003, perquisites and other personal benefits for fiscal years 2003, 2004 and 2005 did not exceed the
lesser of $50,000 or 10% of each Named Executive Officer’s salary and bonus, and these amounts were
omitted pursuant to SEC rules. The amounts presented in this column, other than for Mr. Fishman in
fiscal 2005, Mr. Waite in fiscal 2004 and Mr. Martin in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, represent the
reimbursement for the payment of taxes. Of the amounts presented in this column for Mr. Fishman in
fiscal 2005, Mr. Waite in fiscal 2004 and Mr. Martin in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, $38,561, $14,089,
$10,836 and $29,979, respectively, represent the reimbursement for the payment of taxes. In fiscal 2005,
Mr. Fishman received benefits in the amount of $123,878 in connection with his relocation to near the
Company’s headquarters. In fiscal 2004, Mr. Waite received benefits in the amount of $39,788 under the
Executive Benefit Plan. In connection with his relocation near the Company’s headquarters, Mr. Martin
received benefits in the amount of $30,021 in fiscal 2004 and $79,312 in fiscal 2003.

Restricted stock awards made pursuant to the 1996 Incentive Plan. The restricted stock awarded to

Mr. Fishman in fiscal 2005 was in connection with the commencement of his employment with the
Company. Mr. Fishman'’s restricted stock is scheduled to vest in one-third increments upon the earlier of
the attainment of common share price targets or fully after five years of service to the Company. The
restricted stock awarded to Messrs. Waite, Martin and Cooper and Ms. Bachmann in fiscal 2004 is
scheduled to vest equally over the first three anniversaries of the grant date and will fully vest if the
grantee is terminated by the Company for any reason other than cause before the lapse of such three year
period. Dividends payable prior to the vesting of the restricted stock are deferred until vesting occurs.
The dividends will be forfeited if the restricted stock does not vest. Values shown in the above table are
based on the closing market price for the Company’s common shares on the date of each grant —
$11.25 on July 11, 2005 for Mr. Fishman and $10.85 on January 6, 2005 for Messrs. Waite, Martin and
Cooper and Ms. Bachmann. At the end of fiscal 2005, the remaining unvested restricted stock had a
value, based on the closing market price of $13.74 for the Company’s common shares on January 28,
2006, of $1,374,000 for Mr. Fishman’s 100,000 shares, $458,009 for Mr. Waite’s 33,334 shares,
$274,800 for Mr. Martin’s 20,000 shares, $146,565 for Ms. Bachmann’s 10,667 shares, and $146,565

for Mr. Cooper’s 10,667 shares. Mr. Potter does not hold any restricted stock.

Non-qualified stock options granted pursuant to the 1996 Incentive Plan.

Company matching contribution pursuant to the Big Lots Savings Plan and the Big Lots, Inc.
Supplemental Savings Plan. The matching contribution for each of the Named Executive Officers other
than Mr. Fishman was $8,400 in fiscal 2005. The matching contribution for each of the Named Executive
Officers other than Messrs. Fishman and Cooper was $8,200 in fiscal 2004. The matching contribution
for Mr. Cooper in fiscal 2004 was $8,209. In fiscal 2003, Messrs. Waite, Cooper and Potter and

Ms. Bachmann received matching contributions of $8,000, $7,896, $8,000 and $8,000, respectively.

Mr. Fishman is not yet eligible to receive matching contributions pursuant to the Big Lots Savings Plan
and the Big Lots, Inc. Supplemental Savings Plan.

Accruals pursuant to the Big Lots, Inc. Supplemental Pension Plan for Mr. Waite were $12,666, $11,595
and $8,621 for fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively. Accruals for Mr. Potter were $7,985,
$7,162 and $5,053 for fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively. Messrs. Fishman, Martin and
Cooper and Ms. Bachmann are not participants in the Big Lots, Inc. Supplemental Pension Plan.

Mr. Fishman’s employment with the Company commenced on July 11, 2005.

Mr. Martin’s employment with the Company commenced on December 1, 2003.

Mr. Potter resigned his position as Chairman, CEO and President on July 11, 2005.
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Option Grants During Fiscal 2005

The following table reflects the number and value of stock options granted to the Named Executive Officers in
fiscal 2005.

Individual Grants

Potential Realizable Value at
Assumed Annual Rates of
Stock Price Appreciation for

Pct. of Total Option Term (c)

Securities Options Granted

Underlying to Employees Exercise
Options in Fiscal Price Per  Expiration
Name Granted(#)(a) Year(%)(b) Share ($) Date 5% ($) 10% ($)
Steven S. Fishman .......... 500,000 25.0 11.19  07/11/2012 3,518,665 8,916,989
Brad A. Waite ............... 0 0.0 — — — —
John C. Martin .............. 0 0.0 — — — —
Lisa M. Bachmann .......... 0 0.0 — — — —
Joe R. Cooper .............. 0 0.0 — — — —
Michael J. Potter ............ 0 0.0 — — — —

(a) Stock options granted pursuant to the 1996 Incentive Plan. Mr. Fishman’s option vests equally over four
years without regard to the attainment of any performance goals. Stock options were granted at the fair
market value of the Company’s common shares on the grant date.

(b) Based on 1,999,800 non-qualified stock options granted to all associates in fiscal 2005.

(c) Assumes a respective 5% or 10% annualized appreciation in the underlying common share price from the
date of grant to the expiration date less the aggregate exercise price. The ultimate amount realized will
depend on the market value of the common shares at a future date.

Option Exercises During Fiscal 2005 and Fiscal Year End Option Values

The following table reflects the aggregate stock option exercises by the Named Executive Officers during
fiscal 2005 and the number and value of exercisable and unexercisable stock options held by the Named
Executive Officers at January 28, 2006.

Number of Common Value of Unexercised
Shares Underlying In-the-Money
Shares Unexercised Options Options at Fiscal
Acquired on Value at Fiscal Year-End (#) Year-End (b)($)
Name Exercise (#) Realized (a)($) Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable
Steven S. Fishman .......... 0 0 0 500,000 0 1,275,000
Brad A. Waite ............... 65,625 32,014 562,500 0 707,125 0
John C. Martin .............. 0 0 150,000 0 0 0
Lisa M. Bachmann .......... 0 0 130,000 0 86,700 0
Joe R. Cooper .............. 0 0 160,000 0 102,813 0
Michael J. Potter ............ 80,312 40,299 1,157,500 680,000 1,612,300 955,700

(a) Difference between the fair market value of the common shares on the dates of exercise and the
applicable stock option exercise prices.

(b) The value of in-the-money unexercised stock options is based on the fair market value of the Company’s
common shares ($13.74) at January 28, 2006, minus the aggregate stock option exercise prices.
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Comparison of Five Year Total Shareholder Return

The following graph illustrates a five year comparison of cumulative total return for the Company, the
Standard & Poor’s 500 Index, and the Standard & Poor’s Retail Stores Composite Index.

Comparison of Cumulative Five Year Total Return
$200
$150
$100 7
$50
$0 1) L) L) L) 1
Jan01 Jan02 Jan03 Jan04 Jan05 Jan06
—>=—BIG LOTS INC —0—S&P 500 INDEX —A— S&P 500 RETAILING
Jan. 2001 (a) Jan. 2002 Jan. 2003 Jan. 2004 Jan. 2005 Jan. 2006
Big Lots, Inc. ......... $100.00 $ 89.30 $102.98 $116.41 $ 91.94 $113.19
S&P 500 Retailing .. .. $100.00 $108.45 $ 77.79 $116.28 $133.46 $142.98
S&P 500 Index ....... $100.00 $ 84.29 $ 65.35 $ 87.94 $ 92.64 $102.54

(a) Assumes $100 invested on January 28, 2001, in the Company’s common shares compared to the
same amount invested in the other funds shown at the same time. Dividends, if any, are assumed to
be reinvested.

Retirement Plans

Pension Plan

The Company maintains a funded noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the “Pension Plan”) for
certain employees whose hire date preceded April 1, 1994. Consequently, Messrs. Fishman, Martin and
Cooper and Ms. Bachmann may not participate in the Pension Plan. The Pension Plan is intended to qualify
under the Code and comply with the Employee Retirement Security Income Act of 1974, as amended. The
amount of the Company’s annual contribution to the Pension Plan is actuarially determined to accumulate
sufficient funds to maintain projected benefits. Effective January 1, 1993, the computation of annual retirement
benefits payable upon retirement under the Pension Plan is 1% of average annual compensation during the
participant’s highest five consecutive year period multiplied by the years of service up to a maximum of 25.
This benefit is payable when a participant reaches the normal retirement age of 65. However, the Pension Plan
does provide an early retirement option, and employment beyond the normal retirement age is permitted by
agreement with the Company. For purposes of calculating benefits under the Pension Plan, compensation is
defined to include a two month equivalent of the total cash remuneration (including overtime) paid for
services rendered during a plan year prior to salary reductions pursuant to Sections 401(k) or 125 of the Code,
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including bonuses, incentive compensation, severance pay, disability payments and other forms of irregular
payments. Effective January 1, 1996, the benefits accrued for certain highly compensated individuals,
including all executive officers, were frozen at the then current levels.

The table below illustrates the amount of annual benefits payable at age 65 to a person in the specified
average compensation and years of service classifications under the Pension Plan combined with the
Supplemental Pension Plan (as defined below).

Final Years of Service
Average
Compensation 10 15 20 25
$100,000 $10,000 $15,000 $20,000 $25,000
$125,000 $12,500 $18,750 $25,000 $31,250
$150,000 $15,000 $22,500 $30,000 $37,500
$175,000 $17,500 $26,250 $35,000 $43,750
$200,000 and above $19,700 $29,550 $39,400 $49,250

The maximum annual benefit payable under the Pension Plan is restricted by the Code ($170,000 for calendar
year 2005). At December 31, 2005, the maximum five year average compensation taken into account for
benefit calculation purposes was $197,000. The compensation taken into account for benefit calculation
purposes is limited by law ($210,000 for calendar year 2005), and is subject to statutory increases and cost-of-
living adjustments in future years. At December 31, 2005, Messrs. Waite and Potter had 17 and 14 years of
credited service, respectively. Income recognized as a result of the exercise of stock options is disregarded in
computing benefits under the Pension Plan. A participant may elect whether the benefits are paid in the form
of a single life annuity, a joint and survivor annuity or as a lump sum upon reaching the normal retirement
age of 65.

Supplemental Pension Plan

The Company maintains a non-qualified supplemental employee retirement plan (“Supplemental Pension
Plan”) for those executives whose benefits were frozen under the Pension Plan on January 1, 1996. The
Supplemental Pension Plan constitutes a contract to pay benefits upon retirement as therein defined. The
Supplemental Pension Plan is designed to pay the same benefits in the same amount as if the participants
continued to accrue benefits under the Pension Plan. The Company has no obligation to fund the
Supplemental Pension Plan, and all assets and amounts payable under the Supplemental Pension Plan are
subject to the claims of general creditors of the Company. The table above illustrates the amount of annual
benefit payable at age 65 to a person in the specified average compensation and years of service classification
under the Pension Plan combined with the Supplemental Pension Plan.

Savings Plan

All of the Named Executive Officers, as well as substantially all other full-time employees of the Company
and its subsidiaries, are eligible to participate in the Big Lots Savings Plan (the “Savings Plan”), a qualified
deferred compensation plan. In order to participate in the Savings Plan, an eligible employee must satisfy
applicable age and service requirements and must make contributions to the Savings Plan (“Participant
Elective Contributions”).

Participant Elective Contributions are made through authorized payroll deductions to one or more of the
several investment funds established under the Savings Plan. One of the funds is a stock fund that is invested
solely in common shares of the Company. All Participant Elective Contributions are matched by the Company
(“Employer Matching Contributions”) at a rate of 100% for the first 2% of salary contributed, and 50% for
the next 4% of salary contributed; however, only Participant Elective Contributions of up to 6% of the
employee’s compensation will be matched.

Each participant has a nonforfeitable right to all accrued benefits pertaining to Participant Elective
Contributions. Each participant also has a nonforfeitable right to all accrued benefits pertaining to Employer
Matching Contributions in the event of retirement or other termination of employment (a) on or after the
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participant’s 65th birthday, (b) on account of disability, or (c) by reason of death. A participant whose
employment terminates under other circumstances will have a nonforfeitable right to a portion of accrued
benefits pertaining to Employer Matching Contributions determined under a schedule based on years of
service. All other unvested accrued benefits pertaining to Employer Matching Contributions will be forfeited.

Supplemental Savings Plan

The Company maintains the Big Lots Supplemental Savings Plan (the “Supplemental Savings Plan”), a non-
qualified deferred compensation plan for those executives participating in the Savings Plan who desire to
contribute more than the amount allowable under the Savings Plan. The Supplemental Savings Plan constitutes
a contract to pay deferred salary, and limits deferrals in accordance with prevailing tax law. The Supplemental
Savings Plan is designed to pay the deferred compensation in the same amount as if the contributions had
been made to the Savings Plan. The Company has no obligation to fund the Supplemental Savings Plan, and
all assets and amounts payable under the Supplemental Savings Plan are subject to the claims of general
creditors of the Company and its affiliates.

Employee Equity Compensation

At the 2005 Annual Meeting, shareholders approved the 2005 Incentive Plan. The 2005 Incentive Plan
replaced the 1996 Incentive Plan, which expired on December 31, 2005. Beginning January 1, 2006, equity
awards will be issued under the 2005 Incentive Plan.

The 1996 Incentive Plan and the 2005 Incentive Plan are each administered by the Compensation Committee.
Both plans authorize the grant of incentive and nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights (“SARs”),
restricted stock and performance unit awards (collectively referred to herein as “Awards”), any of which may
be granted on a stand alone, combination or tandem basis. The Compensation Committee determines the
individuals to whom Awards are to be made; the number of common shares underlying each Award; the term
of the Award; its vesting, exercise period or settlement; the type of consideration, if any, to be paid to the
Company upon exercise of an Award; and all other terms and conditions of the Awards. The purpose of the
plans is to provide a flexible, long-term vehicle to attract, retain and motivate officers and employees.

As a result of its expiration, no additional Awards may be made under the 1996 Incentive Plan. The number
of common shares available for issuance under the 2005 Incentive Plan consists of: (i) an initial allocation of
1,250,000 common shares; (ii) 2,001,142 common shares, the number of common shares that were available
under the 1996 Incentive Plan upon its expiration; and (iii) an annual increase equal to 0.75% of the total
number of issued common shares (including treasury shares) as of the start of each of the Company’s fiscal
years during which the 2005 Incentive Plan is in effect. Of this number, no more than 335 percent of all
common shares issued during the term of the 2005 Incentive Plan may be issued in the form of restricted
stock, restricted stock units and performance units and no more than 5,000,000 common shares may be issued
pursuant to grants of incentive stock options during the term of the 2005 Incentive Plan. A participant may
receive multiple Awards under the 2005 Incentive Plan. Awards intended to qualify as “qualified performance-
based compensation” under Section 162(m) of the Code (“Section 162(m)”) are limited to: (i) 2,000,000
restricted common shares per participant annually; (ii) 3,000,000 common shares underlying stock options and
SARSs per participant during any three consecutive calendar years; and (iii) $6,000,000 cash through
performance units per participant during any three consecutive calendar years. Also, the 2005 Incentive Plan
provides that the total number of common shares underlying outstanding Awards made under the 2005
Incentive Plan, the 1996 Incentive Plan, the Big Lots, Inc. Executive Stock Option and Stock Appreciation
Rights Plan, and the Director Stock Option Plan may not exceed 15% of the Company’s issued and
outstanding common shares (including treasury shares) as of any date.

Awards under the 2005 Incentive Plan may be made to any salaried employee, consultant or advisor of the
Company or its affiliates, as designated by the Compensation Committee. Historically, stock options have been
granted to approximately 2,300 employees in any given year; however, the Compensation Committee
anticipates that this number will be reduced to approximately 425 employees for fiscal 2006. From time to
time, the Compensation Committee will determine who will be granted Awards, the number of shares subject
to such Awards, and all other terms of Awards.
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The 2005 Incentive Plan provides for the Awards of stock options which may be either incentive stock options
or non-qualified stock options. For both incentive and non-qualified stock options, the exercise price may be
not less than 100% of the fair market value of a common share of the Company at the time the stock option
is granted. Any stock option intended to qualify as an incentive stock option must meet all requirements of
Section 422 of the Code.

The Compensation Committee may award SARs, shares of restricted stock, restricted stock units and
performance units, subject to such conditions and restrictions as the 2005 Incentive Plan specifies and
otherwise as the Compensation Committee may determine. These awards may be made alone or in tandem
with other Awards. SARs, restricted stock units and performance units may be payable upon vesting in cash
or may be convertible into common shares as determined by the Compensation Committee. Upon a Change
in Control, as defined in the applicable plan, all Awards outstanding under the 1996 Incentive Plan and the
2005 Incentive Plan automatically become vested.

No Award under the 2005 Incentive Plan may be assigned or transferred by the grantee other than by will or
the laws of descent and distribution or as may otherwise be permitted by the Compensation Committee. In the
absence of these exceptions, all rights may be exercised during the grantee’s lifetime only by the grantee.

The Board may from time to time, at its discretion, amend or terminate the 2005 Incentive Plan, except that
no such amendment or termination may impair any rights under any Award made prior to the amendment’s
effective date without the consent of the grantee. The 2005 Incentive Plan expires on May 16, 2012.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes information, as of January 28, 2006, relating to equity compensation plans of
the Company pursuant to which the Company’s common shares may be issued.

Number of common shares
remaining available for

Number of common shares to Weighted-average future issuance under
be issued upon exercise exercise price of equity compensation plans
of outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities

Plan Category warrants and rights (a) warrants and rights (b) reflected in column (a)) (c)

Equity compensation plans

approved by shareholders ...... 10,690,745 $14.52 3,395,312
Equity compensation plans not

approved by shareholders ...... — — —
Total ... 10,690,745 $14.52 3,395,312

(1) Includes stock options granted under the Director Stock Option Plan, the 1996 Incentive Plan, and the
2005 Incentive Plan.

(2) The common shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options granted under each shareholder-
approved plan are as follows:

Director Stock Option Plan ........ ... 383,439
1996 Incentive Plan ...........oiiiiii i 10,297,306
2005 Incentive Plan ... i 10,000
(3) The common shares available for issuance under each shareholder-approved plan are as follows:
Director Stock Option Plan .......... ... 154,170
1996 Incentive Plan .........o. o —
2005 Incentive Plan ...... ... 3,241,142

The 1996 Incentive Plan expired on December 31, 2005. The number of common shares available for issuance
under the 2005 Incentive Plan is adjusted annually by adding 0.75% of the total number of issued common
shares (including treasury shares) as of the start of each of the Company’s fiscal years that the 2005 Incentive
Plan is in effect.
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Executive Benefit Plan

Most of the Company’s executive officers, including each of the Named Executive Officers, are eligible to
participate in the Executive Benefit Plan. The Executive Benefit Plan is a supplemental health benefit plan
which reimburses participants for medical costs incurred but not covered by the Benefit Plan, up to an annual
maximum reimbursement of $40,000 per participant. Amounts received exceeding the applicable threshold by
the Named Executive Officers are included in the amounts reflected in the values of personal benefits received
by such individuals. Amounts received by participants in the Executive Benefit Plan are treated as taxable
income. The Company reimburses each executive officer receiving taxable benefits under the Executive
Benefit Plan the approximate amount of the executive officer’s income and payroll tax liability relating to the
benefits received.

PROPOSAL TWO: APPROVAL OF THE BIG LOTS 2006 BONUS PLAN

Introduction

The Board adopted the 2006 Bonus Plan on April 3, 2006. The 2006 Bonus Plan is being submitted to the
shareholders for approval at the Annual Meeting in an effort to ensure that the compensation payable under
the 2006 Bonus Plan will be deductible as performance-based compensation. Section 162(m) governs the
corporate tax deductibility of annual compensation exceeding $1,000,000 paid to the CEO and the four other
most highly compensated executive officers. Corporate tax deductions for certain types of compensation,
including performance-based compensation, are generally allowed. To qualify under Section 162(m), the
Company must obtain shareholder approval of the 2006 Bonus Plan. By approving the 2006 Bonus Plan, the
shareholders will also be approving, among other things, the material terms of the performance criteria (as
defined below) used to determine whether bonus awards are earned, the plan’s eligibility requirements, and the
limits on the awards that may be made pursuant to the plan.

The 2006 Bonus Plan supersedes and replaces the 2001 Bonus Plan, the Company’s existing performance-based
compensation plan, which was initially approved by the Company’s shareholders at the 1998 Annual Meeting
and re-approved at the 2001 Annual Meeting. In the event that shareholder approval of the 2006 Bonus Plan

is not received, some or all of the compensation earned under the 2006 Bonus Plan may not be deductible by
the Company. Although the Company strives to preserve the deductibility of payments, to maintain flexibility
in compensating executive officers in a manner consistent with the Company’s compensation philosophy,

the Compensation Committee has not adopted a policy that all compensation must be deductible under

Section 162(m). Set forth below is a summary of the 2006 Bonus Plan, which summary is qualified in its
entirety by reference to the 2006 Bonus Plan, a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix I.

Purpose

The purpose of the 2006 Bonus Plan is to advance the interests of the Company by attracting, retaining and
motivating employees; aligning participants’ interests with those of the Company’s shareholders; and
qualifying compensation paid to the Company’s executive officers as “performance-based compensation”
within the meaning of Section 162(m).

Administration and Description of Bonus Awards

The 2006 Bonus Plan will be administered by the Compensation Committee. Each Compensation Committee
member will be an “outside director” within the meaning of Section 162(m). As plan administrator, the
Compensation Committee is charged with the responsibility for designating eligible participants and selecting
the applicable performance criteria and performance goals used to calculate the bonus award, if any.

The target and stretch performance goals for the Named Executive Officers have been established in their
respective employment agreements, and the floor performance goal will be set annually by the Compensation
Committee. For the other participants, the performance goals are set by position. Subject to the executives’
employment agreements, the Compensation Committee has the authority to modify the performance goals for
all participants.
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The performance criteria may be based on one or more financial measures calculated in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, as the same appear in the
Company’s periodic filings with the SEC and/or the Company’s annual report to shareholders, and as may be
adjusted in recognition of unusual or non-recurring events, transactions and accruals. Annually, the
Compensation Committee, in its sole discretion, will select the performance criteria and equitable adjustments
applicable to the performance period, which is generally a full fiscal year. The performance criteria include,
without limitation, net income, income from continuing operations, and income from continuing operations
before extraordinary items and/or the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles. The performance
criteria and equitable adjustments are described in their entirety on Appendix A to the 2006 Bonus Plan.

The 2006 Bonus Plan provides for cash compensation to be paid annually when the performance criteria are
achieved. No right to a minimum bonus exists under the 2006 Bonus Plan. For each performance period, the
Compensation Committee will establish an objective compensation payout formula for each participant based
on the achievement of performance criteria, the outcomes of which are substantially uncertain at the time so
established, and the determination of performance goals. The Compensation Committee derives its
performance criteria from the Company’s planned earnings for the fiscal year, as approved by the Board at the
start of the fiscal year.

The Compensation Committee also defines the performance goals at the time that the performance criteria are
established. The target and stretch performance goals for each of the Named Executive Officers have been
established in their respective employment agreements, while the floor is set annually by the Committee. For
executives other than the Named Executive Officers, the performance goals approved by the Committee are
set by position level. Subject to the terms of the employment agreements, the Committee retains the right to
adjust the performance goals.

The 2006 Bonus Plan provides that bonus awards in any fiscal year may not exceed the maximum bonus
amount that is established annually for each participant pursuant to a predetermined objective formula, subject
to a maximum annual limit of $3,000,000. Under this payout formula, the maximum bonus payment for any
performance period is the product of (i) the participant’s stretch performance goal for the performance period,
and (ii) the performance criteria for the performance period multiplied by a pre-established factor set by the
Compensation Committee.

The level of achievement of the performance criteria at the end of the performance period will be used to
determine the amount of each participant’s bonus award, if any. After the end of the performance period, the
Compensation Committee will determine the amount of the bonus award earned by each participant under the
payout formula. Payment of the bonus award to the participant will be made, subject to the participant’s right
to defer the same, upon certification by the Compensation Committee, in writing, that the threshold
performance criteria have been satisfied and the bonus award has been calculated in accordance with the
payout formula.

In the event a participant voluntarily terminates employment with the Company prior to the day on which
payments of bonus awards are made under the 2006 Bonus Plan for a performance period, the participant
forfeits all rights to receive a bonus award. At the discretion of the Compensation Committee, pro-rated bonus
awards may be made to participants whose employment terminates by reason of retirement, disability or death
during a performance period.

Eligibility
Any employee of the Company and its affiliates determined by the Compensation Committee to be
eligible under the 2006 Bonus Plan, which determination shall be in the Compensation Committee’s

sole discretion, may participate in the 2006 Bonus Plan. For fiscal 2006, the Company anticipates that
approximately 400 associates will participate in the 2006 Bonus Plan.

Amendment, Suspension or Termination

The Compensation Committee may amend, in whole or in part, any or all of the provisions of the 2006 Bonus
Plan, except as to those terms or provisions that are required by Section 162(m) to be approved by the
shareholders, or suspend or terminate the 2006 Bonus Plan entirely; provided, however, that no such
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amendment, suspension or termination may, without the consent of the affected participants, reduce the right
of participants to any payment due under the 2006 Bonus Plan.

Plan Benefits

The exact amount of the awards under the 2006 Bonus Plan, if any, that will be allocated to or received by
the participants is at the discretion of the Compensation Committee and dependent upon the future
performance of the Company, and therefore cannot be determined at this time. The annual bonuses paid under
the 2001 Bonus Plan to the Named Executive Officers of the Company for fiscal years 2003, 2004 and 2005
are set forth in the bonus column of the Summary Compensation Table.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR THE PROPOSAL TO
APPROVE THE 2006 BONUS PLAN.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Audit Company engaged Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Company’s independent public accountants to
audit its consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2005. Deloitte & Touche LLP has served as the
Company’s independent auditors since October 1989. The Audit Committee annually selects the Company’s
independent auditors. The Audit Committee has not selected its independent auditors for fiscal 2006. The
Audit Committee, in selecting its independent auditors for fiscal 2006, intends to adhere to the laws,
regulations and rules concerning auditor independence required by the SEC and the NYSE. Services provided
by and fees paid to Deloitte & Touche LLP in fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 are described in the Audit
Committee Report.

A representative of Deloitte & Touche LLP will be present at the Annual Meeting to respond to appropriate
questions and to make a statement if so desired.

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS

Any proposals of shareholders which are intended to be presented at the Company’s 2007 Annual Meeting
must be received by the Company at its principal executive offices by December 20, 2006, to be eligible for
inclusion in next year’s Proxy Statement. Such proposals must be submitted in accordance with Rule 14a-8 of
the Exchange Act. If a shareholder intends to present a proposal at the 2007 Annual Meeting, but has not
sought the inclusion of such a proposal in the Company’s 2007 Proxy Statement, such proposal must be
received by the Company at its principal executive offices by March 5, 2007, or the Company’s management
proxies will be entitled to use their discretionary voting authority should such proposal then be raised, without
any discussion of the matter in the Company’s 2007 Proxy Statement.

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

The Company’s fiscal 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K is included with this Proxy Statement in the
Company’s 2005 Annual Report to Shareholders. Shareholders may also receive a copy of the Company’s
fiscal 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K without charge by writing to: Investor Relations Department, Big
Lots, Inc., 300 Phillipi Road, Columbus, Ohio 43228-5311. The Form 10-K may also be accessed on the
Company’s website at www.biglots.com under the “Investor Relations — Financial Information — SEC
Filings” caption.

PROXY SOLICITATION COSTS

This solicitation of proxies is made by and on behalf of the Board. In addition to mailing copies of this Proxy
Statement, the accompanying Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and proxy card to all shareholders of
record on the record date, the Company will request brokers and other nominees to forward copies of this
material to persons for whom they hold common shares of the Company in order that such common shares
may be voted. Solicitation may also be made by the Company’s officers and regular employees personally or
by telephone, mail or electronic mail. Officers and employees who assist with solicitation will not receive any
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additional compensation. The cost of the solicitation will be borne by the Company. The Company has also
retained Georgeson & Company Inc. to aid in the solicitation of proxies for a fee estimated to be $8,000, plus
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses.

OTHER MATTERS

As of the date of this Proxy Statement, the Company knows of no business that will be presented for
consideration at the Annual Meeting other than referred to in Proposal One and Proposal Two. If any other
matter is properly brought before the Annual Meeting for action by shareholders, proxies in the enclosed form
returned to the Company will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of the Board.

By order of the Board of Directors,

CHARLES W. HAUBIEL II
Senior Vice President, General Counsel
and Corporate Secretary

April 19, 2006
Columbus, Ohio
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APPENDIX I

BIG LOTS 2006 BONUS PLAN

NAME

1.01.

The Big Lots 2006 Bonus Plan (the “Plan”) is hereby established by Big Lots, Inc., to be
effective as of January 29, 2006 (the “Effective Date”), subject to approval by the Company’s
shareholders no later than June 1, 2006.

PURPOSE

2.01.

The Plan is designed to: (a) assist the Company and its Affiliates in attracting, retaining

and motivating employees; (b) align Participants’ interests with those of the Company’s
shareholders; and (c) qualify compensation paid to Participants who are “Covered Associates”
as “other performance-based compensation” within the meaning of section 162(m) of the IRC
Or a Successor provision.

DEFINITIONS

3.01.
3.02.

3.03.

3.04.

3.05.
3.06.
3.07.

3.08.

“Acquired Corporation” has the meaning ascribed in Section 3.07.

“Affiliate” means: (a) a “parent” or a “subsidiary” of the Company, as those terms are defined in
Code sections 424(e) and (f), respectively; and (b) any other entity (other than the Company)
regardless of its form that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by or is under common
control with, the Company within the meaning of Code section 414(b) but substituting

“50 percent” for “80 percent” when determining controlling interest under Code section 414(b).

“Base Salary” means as to a Performance Period, a Participant’s actual gross salary rate in effect
on the Determination Date. Such salary shall be before: (a) deductions for taxes and benefits; and
(b) deferrals of salary pursuant to Company-sponsored plans.

“Beneficiary” means the person or persons entitled to receive the interest of a Participant in the
event of the Participant’s death.

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.
“Bonus” means a payment subject to the provisions of this Plan.

“Change of Control” means any one or more of the following events: (a) any person or group

[as defined for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act] acquires 35 percent or more of the
outstanding equity securities of the Company entitled to vote for the election of directors; (b) a
majority of the Board of Directors of the Company then in office is replaced within any period of
twelve months or less by directors not nominated and approved by a majority of the directors in
office at the beginning of such period (or their successors so nominated and approved); or (c) any
person or group [as defined for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act] acquires assets of
the Company having a gross fair market value equal to or more than 40 percent of the gross fair
market value of the Company. Provided, however, the other provisions of this Section 3.07
notwithstanding, the term “Change of Control” shall not mean any merger, consolidation,
reorganization, or other transaction in which the Company exchanges or offers to exchange newly-
issued or treasury Common Shares representing 20 percent or more, but less than 50 percent, of
the outstanding equity securities of the Company entitled to vote for the election of directors, for
51 percent or more of the outstanding equity securities entitled to vote for the election of at least
the majority of the directors of a corporation other than the Company or an Affiliate (the
“Acquired Corporation”), or for all or substantially all of the assets of the Acquired Corporation.

“Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board, which shall consist of not less
than three (3) members of the Board each of whom is a “non-employee director” as defined in



3.09.
3.10.

3.11.

3.12.

3.13.
3.14.

3.15.

3.16.

3.17.

3.18.

3.19.

3.20.

3.21.

Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 16b-3(b)(3)(i), or as such term may be defined in any
successor regulation under Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. In
addition, each member of the Committee shall be an outside director within the meaning of IRC
section 162(m).

“Common Shares” means the common shares of the Company, its successors and assigns.

“Company” means Big Lots Inc., an Ohio Corporation, its successors and assigns and any
corporation which shall acquire substantially all its assets.

“Conditional Payment” means prepaying a Bonus before the date of current payment in
Section 6.02 and subjects the prepayment (or a portion thereof) to possible return to the Company.

“Covered Associate” means any Participant who is expected to be a “covered employee” (in the
Fiscal Year the Bonus is expected to be payable) as defined in IRC section 162(m) and the
regulations thereunder.

“Deferred Bonus Account” means the bookkeeping account established under Section 6.04.

“Determination Date” means as to a Performance Period: (a) the first day of the Performance
Period; or (b) such other date set by the Committee provided such date will not jeopardize the
Plan’s Bonus as performance-based compensation under IRC section 162(m).

“Eligible Position” means an employment position with the Company or an Affiliate which
provides the employee in the position the opportunity to participate in the Plan. The Committee
(or its designee) determines Eligible Positions.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Company (currently comprised of a 52/53 week fiscal
year which ends on the Saturday nearest to January 31).

“IRC” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, and any
successor along with relevant rules, regulations, and authoritative interpretations the Internal
Revenue Service issues.

“Participant” means a key employee of the Company or an Affiliate who has been approved for
participation in the Plan by the Committee (or its designee).

“Performance Period” means the period (which, with respect to a Covered Associate, may be no
shorter than a fiscal quarter of the Company) established by the Committee over which the
Committee measures whether or not Bonuses have been earned. In most cases, the Performance
Period will be a Fiscal Year. In the case of an inaugural Performance Period or a promotion, the
Performance Period may be less than a Fiscal Year.

“Tax” means any net income, alternative or add-on minimum tax, gross income, gross receipts,
commercial activity, sales, use, consumer, transfer, documentary, registration, ad valorem, value
added, franchise, profits, license, withholding, payroll, employment, unemployment insurance
contribution, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, property, environmental or windfall
profit tax, custom, duty, unclaimed fund/abandoned property, or other tax, governmental fee or
other like assessment or charge of any kind whatsoever, together with any interest or any penalty,
addition to tax or additional amount imposed by any governmental authority responsible for the
imposition of any such tax.

4. ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION

4.01.

Approval. Each key employee of the Company or an Affiliate who is approved for participation in
the Plan by the Committee (or under the authority conveyed by the Committee) shall be a
Participant as of the date designated.



4.02. Termination of Approval. The Committee may withdraw its approval for participation for a
Participant at any time. In the event of such withdrawal, the key employee concerned shall cease
to be an active Participant as of the date selected by the Committee. Nothing in this Section 4.02
shall permit distribution of amounts credited to a Participant’s Deferred Bonus Account before the
time specified in Section 6.04.

4.03. Transfers In, Out of and Between Eligible Positions.

(a) A key employee may be approved for participation during a portion of a Fiscal Year.

(i) With respect to employees who are not Covered Associates, an employee newly hired or
transferred into an Eligible Position shall have his/her participation prorated during the
first Fiscal Year provided employment or transfer occurs at least two months prior to the
end of the Fiscal Year.

(i) An employee (other than a Covered Associate) transferred out of an Eligible Position
may receive a prorated Bonus at the discretion of the Committee provided he/she served
in the Eligible Position for at least two full months during the Fiscal Year.

(iii) With respect to Covered Associates approved for participation during a portion of a
Fiscal Year, see Section 5.03 as it would relate to Performance Periods that are not
equivalent to a Fiscal Year.

(b) Participants (who are not Covered Associates) transferring between Eligible Positions having
different Bonus formulas will receive Bonuses prorated to months served in each Eligible
Position. Generally, for Covered Associates transferring between Eligible Positions, Section 5.03
shall apply to each respective Performance Period applicable to the particular position unless an
employment agreement provides otherwise.

4.04. Termination of Employment.

(a) The Participant shall forfeit all rights to a bonus unless the Participant is employed by the
Company or an Affiliate on the day on which payments determined under Section 6.02 are in
fact made (or would have been made if a deferred payment election under Section 6.04 had
not been executed). However, a Participant shall not forfeit a bonus for a performance period
if the Participant is employed by the Company or an Affiliate at the end of the Performance
Period and is involuntarily terminated by the Company or an Affiliate without cause or
terminates by reason of retirement, disability, or death, after the end of the performance
period, but before the bonus payment date.

(b) The Company shall have discretion to provide a pro-rated Bonus to a Participant whose
employment with the Company or an Affiliate terminated by reason of retirement, disability,
or death during a Performance Period.

DETERMINATION OF BONUSES

5.01. In addition to the vesting requirements of Section 4.04, Bonuses will vest solely on account of:
(1) the attainment of one or more pre-established performance objectives and (2) in the case of
Covered Associates, the certification described in Section 5.07.

5.02. With respect to Bonuses for Covered Associates, the material terms of the performance measure(s)
must be disclosed to, and subsequently approved by, the shareholders before the Bonus payout is
executed, unless the performance measures conform individually, alternatively or in any
combination of the performance criteria and the application thereof in Appendix A.

5.03. Prior to the completion of 25% of any Performance Period (which, by example, may be a full
Fiscal Year or some potion thereof) or such earlier date as required under IRC section 162(m), the
Committee shall in its sole discretion, for each such Performance Period determine and establish in
writing a performance measure or performance measures (in accordance with Section 5.02) applicable
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5.04.

5.05.

5.06.

5.07.

to the Performance Period to any Covered Associate. Within the same period of time, the Committee
(or its designee) for each such Performance Period shall determine and establish in writing the
performance measures applicable to the Performance Period for Participants who are not Covered
Associates. Such pre-established performance measures must state, in terms of an objective formula
or standard, the method for computing the amount of the Bonus payable to the Participant if the
objective(s) is (are) obtained. A formula or standard is objective if a third party having knowledge
of the relevant performance results could calculate the amount to be paid to the Participant. The
Committee may establish any number of Performance Periods, objectives and Bonuses for any
associate running concurrently, in whole or in part, provided, that in so doing the Committee does
not jeopardize the Company’s deduction for such Bonuses under IRC section 162(m).

On or prior to the date specified in Section 5.03, the Committee, in its sole discretion, shall
either; (a) assign each Participant a target Bonus opportunity level expressed as a percentage of
Base Salary or a whole dollar amount (for Covered Associates, Base Salary must be fixed prior
to the establishment of performance objectives applicable to a particular Performance Period); or
(b) establish a payout table or formula for purposes of determining the Bonus (if any) payable to
each Participant. The Committee may authorize a designee to establish a payout table or formula
for those Participants who are not Covered Associates.

Each payout table or formula:
(a) shall be in writing;
(b) shall be based on a comparison of actual performance to the performance objectives;

(c) may include a “floor” which is the level of achievement of the performance objective in
which payout begins;

(d) shall include a ceiling (a/k/a “stretch”) which is the level of achievement for the maximum
Bonus payout percentage (subject to Section 5.09); and

(e) shall provide for a formula for the actual Bonus attainment in relation to the Participant’s
target Bonus, depending on the extent to which actual performance approached, reached or
exceeded the performance criteria goal subject to Section 5.09.

In lieu of Bonuses based on a percentage of Base Salary (Section 5.04), Bonuses may be based on
a percentage or share of a Bonus pool. The Committee (or its designee) shall determine (by the
date specified in Section 5.03) the total dollar amount available for Bonuses (or a formula to
calculate the total dollar amount available) known as a Bonus pool. The Committee, in its sole
discretion, may establish two or more separate Bonus pools and assign the Participants to a
particular Bonus pool. The Committee (or its designee in the case of Participants who are not
Covered Associates) shall establish in writing a performance payout table or formula detailing the
Bonus pool and the payout (or payout formula) based upon the relative level of attainment of
performance goals. Each payout table or formula shall (a) be based on a comparison of actual
performance to the performance goals, (b) provide the amount of a Participant’s Bonus or total
pool dollars available (or a formula to calculate pool dollars available), if the performance

goals for the Performance Period are achieved, and (c) provide for an actual Bonus (which may
be based on a formula to calculate the percentage of the pool to be bonused to a particular
Participant) based on the extent to which the performance goals were achieved. The payout table
or formula may include a “floor” which is the level of achievement of the performance goals in
which payout begins. In the case of Bonuses which are stated in terms of a percentage of a Bonus
pool, the sum of the individual percentages for all Participants in the pool cannot exceed 100
percent. In no case shall a reduction in a Bonus of one Participant result in an increase in another
Participant’s Bonus.

After the end of each Performance Period or such earlier date if the performance objective(s) are
achieved, the Committee shall certify in writing, prior to the unconditional payment of any Bonus,
which performance objective(s) for the Performance Period were satisfied and to what extent they



5.08.

5.09.

were satisfied. The Committee (or its designee) shall determine the actual Bonus for each Participant
based on the payout table/formula established in Section 5.05 or 5.06, as the case may be.

The Committee, in its discretion, may cancel or decrease a Bonus calculated under this Plan, but
with respect to Covered Associates, may not under any circumstances increase such Bonus calculated
under this Plan.

Any other provision of the Plan notwithstanding, the maximum aggregate Bonus payable to a
Participant for a particular Fiscal Year may not exceed $3,000,000.

PAYMENT OF INCENTIVE BONUSES

6.01.

6.02.

6.03.

6.04.

In General

(a) Once a Bonus has vested and the amount thereof is determined, payment of the Bonus (or
the portion thereof not deferred under Section 6.04) shall be made pursuant to Section 6.02
or, if properly and timely elected and permitted by IRC section 409A (i.e. intended to avoid
earlier income inclusion, interest and additional taxes of IRC section 409A), shall be deferred
in accordance with Section 6.04.

(b) To the extent that any Bonus under the Plan is subject to IRC section 409A (or its
successor), the terms and administration of such Bonus shall comply with the provisions of
IRC section 409A (or its successor) and good faith reasonable interpretations thereof, and to
the extent necessary to achieve compliance, shall be modified, replaced, or terminated at the
discretion of the Committee.

Current Payment. A Participant’s Bonus for a Performance Period, which is not deferred in
accordance with the provisions of Section 6.04 hereof, and a Participant’s Bonus, whether or
not he/she elected deferred-payment thereof, for the Fiscal Year in which his/her employment
terminates, shall be paid in immediately available funds to the Participant, or his/her Beneficiary
in the event of his/her death, on or before the fifteenth day of the third month following the end
of the Performance Period.

Conditional Payment. The Committee may authorize a Conditional Payment of a Participant’s
Bonus based upon the Committee’s good faith determination. The Conditional Payment, at the
discretion of the Committee (or, except for Covered Associates, under authority granted to its
designee) may be discounted to reasonably reflect the time value of money for the prepayment.
Conditional Payments to Covered Associates shall only be made in circumstances where the
Covered Associate’s compensation deduction will not be jeopardized under IRC section 162(m).
The amount of the Conditional Payment that will be returned to the Company is equal to the
Conditional Payment less the Bonus payment that has vested, if any. For example, if the floor (see
Section 5.05) was not attained for the performance goal or target for the Performance Period, all
of the Conditional Payment made for that Performance Period to the Participant must be returned
to the Company. Return of all or a portion of the Conditional Payment shall be made reasonably
soon after it is determined the extent to which the performance goal or target was not achieved.
Conditional payments shall not be made in connection with bonuses that otherwise would be
subject to IRC section 409A if paid in the ordinary course.

Deferred Payment. Only Participants who are employed by the Company or an affiliate of the
Company that is related to the Company through an 80 percent chain of ownership are permitted
to defer a Bonus under this Section 6.04.

(a) Highly Compensated Employees. If a Participant in this Plan is a highly compensated
employee who participates in the Big Lots, Inc. Supplemental Savings Plan (the “Top Hat
Plan”), elections to defer Bonus, elections as to the form of distribution of the deferred
amount, establishment of a deferred account, distributions from the deferred accounts, and all
other terms governing the deferred payment of a Bonus shall be governed by the terms of the
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(b)

Top Hat Plan. Any election to defer the Bonus of a Participant who participates in the Top
Hat Plan will result in an account administered under the Top Hat Plan.

Other Employees. The terms governing the deferral of a Bonus for Participants who do not
participate in the Top Hat Plan are set forth below.

®

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

Election. Before the first day of each Performance Period (or such other date as

is permissible to properly defer the Bonus for income tax purposes), a Participant may
irrevocably elect in writing to have a part or (if permissible under IRC section 409A)
all of a Bonus for the year under the Plan (but not less than $5,000) deferred. At the
same time, the Participant also shall elect the form of distribution from the Deferred
Bonus Account, from the choices set forth in Section 6.04(b)(v). Such deferred
payment shall be credited to a bookkeeping reserve account which shall be established
for the Participant and set up on the books of the Company or an Affiliate and known
as his/her “Deferred Bonus Account”.

Credits to Deferred Bonus Account. When a Participant has elected to have a part

or all of his/her Bonus credited to a Deferred Bonus Account, the unpaid balance in
such account shall be credited with a simple annual interest equivalent, as follows: As
of the May 1 next following the Fiscal Year for which the deferred Bonus was paid,
such Bonus shall become part of the unpaid balance of such Deferred Bonus Account.
Such Deferred Bonus Account shall be credited on April 30 of each year with an
amount equal to interest on the unpaid balance of such account from time to time
outstanding during the year ending on such April 30 at the rate determined by adding
together the Three-month Treasury Bill rate on the last banking day prior to the
beginning of such year and the Three-month Treasury Bill rate in effect on the last
banking days of each of the calendar months of April through March of such year and
dividing such total by 12. In the event that the Deferred Bonus Account shall be
terminated for any reason prior to April 30 of any year, such account shall upon such
termination date be credited with an amount equal to interest at the average Three-
month Treasury Bill rate determined as aforesaid on the unpaid balance from time to
time outstanding during that portion of such year prior to the date of termination.

Alternate Deferral Plans. The Committee, at its discretion, may provide alternate
deferral arrangements of which Bonuses under this Plan may be included provided
that such deferral arrangements conform with IRC section 409A (i.e. intended to avoid
earlier income inclusion, interest and additional taxes of IRC section 409A).

Trust Deposits. The Committee, at its discretion, may establish an irrevocable trust in
which the assets of the trust are subject to the general creditors of the Company and/or
the Affiliate as the case may be. Such trust may upon the occurrence of certain events,
as determined by the Committee, receive assets equal to the value of all Participants’
Deferred Bonus Accounts on the date of the event.

Distribution upon Termination of Employment. Upon termination of a Participant’s
employment for any reason with the Company or an affiliate that is related to the
Company through an 80 percent chain of ownership, the Participant, or his/her
Beneficiary in the event of his/her death, shall be entitled to payment of the entire
Deferred Bonus Account in one lump-sum payment payable on the date of the first
regular payroll after the thirtieth day following the date of termination of employment,
or in ten annual installment payments payable as set forth below, as elected by the
Participant at the time the Participant elects to defer all or part of his or her Bonus.
The amount accumulated in such Participant’s Deferred Bonus Account shall be paid
in immediately available funds. Distribution of installments over ten years shall be
made as follows:

(1) The first annual payment shall be made on the date of the first regular payroll
after the thirtieth day following the date of termination of employment, and shall
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(vi)

(vii)

be in an amount equal to the value of ioth of the total amount credited to the
Participant’s Deferred Bonus Account as of the end of the month immediately
preceding the date of termination.

(2) A second annual payment shall be made on the date of the first regular payroll
after the start of the Fiscal Year following the year during which the first
anniversary of the date of termination of employment occurs, and shall be in an
amount equal to the value of Yth of the amount credited (which includes
accumulated interest) to the Participant’s Deferred Bonus Account as of January 1
next following the first anniversary of the termination of employment.

(3) Each succeeding installment payment shall be made on the date of the first regular
payroll of the succeeding Fiscal Year and shall be determined in a similar manner,
i.e., the fraction of Participant’s Deferred Bonus Account balance to be paid out shall
increase each year to Ysth, '4th, etc., until the tenth installment which shall equal the
then remaining balance of the Deferred Bonus Account.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, in the case of a Participant who is
determined to be a specified employee for purposes of Code section 409A (a)(2)(B),
no payment required to be made under this Plan as a result of termination of
employment other than by death or Disability, shall be made earlier than the date that
is six months after termination. Instead, payments in such a case shall be made or
commence to be made on the first day of the first month that commences following
the end of the six-month period following such termination of service. Specified
employees for purposes of this Section 6.04(b)(v) will be identified annually as of a
date specified in writing by the Committee. If no date is specified, the identification
date is deemed to be December 31.

Distribution in Event of Financial Emergency. If requested by a Participant while

in the employ of the Company or an Affiliate and if the Committee (or in the case of
Participants who are not Covered Associates, its designee) determines that an
unforeseeable financial emergency has occurred in the financial affairs of the
Participant, all or a portion of the Deferred Bonus Account of the Participant on the
date the Participant makes the request may be paid out at the sole discretion of the
Committee (or its designee) in an amount no greater than the amount reasonably
necessary to satisfy the emergency need (including amounts necessary to pay any
Federal, state or local income taxes reasonably anticipated to result from such
distribution). In order to qualify under this Section, the financial hardship must be the
result of an unforeseeable financial emergency. For this purpose, an “unforeseeable
financial emergency* is an extraordinary and unanticipated emergency that is caused
by an event beyond the control of the Participant (such as an illness, accident

or casualty) and that would result in severe financial hardship to the Participant if the
early distribution were not permitted. The Participant must supply written evidence of
the financial hardship and must declare, under penalty of perjury, that the Participant
has no other resources available to meet the emergency, including the resources of the
Participant’s spouse and minor children that are reasonably available to the Participant.
The Participant must also declare that the need cannot be met by reimbursement

or compensation by insurance or otherwise, or by reasonable liquidation of the
Participant’s assets (or the assets of the spouse or minor children of the Participant)
to the extent such liquidation will not itself cause severe financial hardship. Any such
distribution shall be paid within 7 days of the determination by the Committee that
such a financial emergency exists.

Acceleration of Payment. Notwithstanding the provisions in Sections 6.04(b)(v) and
(vi), once distributions of the Deferred Bonus Account begin, if the amount remaining
in a Participant’s Deferred Bonus Account at any time is less than $5,000, the
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Committee shall pay the balance in the Participant’s Deferred Bonus Account in a
lump sum.

(viii) Beneficiary Designation.

(1) A Participant may designate a Beneficiary who is to receive, upon his/her death
or disability, the distributions that otherwise would have been paid to him/her. All
designations shall be in writing and shall be effective only if and when delivered to
the Secretary of the Company during the lifetime of the Participant. If a Participant
designates a Beneficiary without providing in the designation that the Beneficiary
must be living at the time of each distribution, the designation shall vest in the
Beneficiary all of the distribution whether payable before or after the Beneficiary’s
death, and any distributions remaining upon the Beneficiary’s death shall be made to
the Beneficiary’s estate.

(2) A Participant may from time to time during his lifetime change his Beneficiary
by a written instrument delivered to the Secretary of the Company. In the event a
Participant shall not designate a Beneficiary as aforesaid, or if for any reasons
such designation shall be ineffective, in whole or in part, the distribution that
otherwise would have been paid to such Participant shall be paid to his estate and
in such event the term “Beneficiary” shall include his estate.

(ix)  Corporate Changes.

(1) Dissolution or Liquidation of Company. The Company shall cause the dollar
balance of a Deferred Bonus Account (adjusted to the end of the month
immediately preceding the date of dissolution or liquidation) to be paid out in
cash in a lump sum to the Participants, or their Beneficiaries as the case may be,
60 days following the date of a corporate dissolution of the Company taxed under
IRC section 331.

(2) Change of Control of Company. In the event of a Change of Control of the
Company, the Company may, within thirty days preceding or twelve months
following the Change of Control event, elect to terminate the Plan and to
distribute all Deferred Bonus Accounts under the Plan or take any other actions
that the Committee deems advisable in order to protect the interests of the
Participants (and Beneficiaries). In the event of a termination of the Plan on
Change of Control, all Deferred Bonus Accounts under the Plan, and all accounts
under any substantially similar arrangements, shall be paid within twelve months
of termination of the Plan.

RIGHTS OF PARTICIPANTS

7.01.

7.02.

No Participant or Beneficiary shall have any interest in any fund or in any specific asset or assets
of the Company or an Affiliate by reason of any account under the Plan. It is intended that the
Company has merely a contractual obligation to make payments when due hereunder and it is not
intended that the Company hold any funds in reserve or trust to secure payments hereunder. No
Participant may assign, pledge, or encumber his/her interest under the Plan, or any part thereof,
except that a Participant may designate a Beneficiary as provided herein.

Nothing contained in this Plan shall be construed to give any associate or Participant any right to

receive any Bonus other than in the sole discretion of the Committee or any rights whatsoever
with respect to the Common Shares of the Company.

NO EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

8.01.

Nothing in the Plan or participation in the Plan shall confer upon any Participant the right to be
employed by the Company or an Affiliate or to continue in the employ of the Company or an
Affiliate, nor shall anything in the Plan, or participation in the Plan amend, alter or otherwise
affect any rights or terms of employment or other benefits arising from that employment.
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10.

ADMINISTRATION

9.01.

9.02.

9.03.

9.04.

Administration. The Committee shall have complete authority to administer the Plan, interpret the
terms of the Plan, determine eligibility of associates to participate in the Plan, and make all other
determinations and take all other actions in accordance with the terms of the Plan and any trust
agreement established under Section 6.04(b)(iv). Any determination or decision by the Committee
shall be conclusive and binding on all persons who at any time have or claim to have any interest
whatever under this Plan.

Liability of Committee, Indemnification. To the extent permitted by law, the Committee shall not
be liable to any person for any action taken or omitted in connection with the interpretation and
administration of this Plan unless attributable to his or her own bad faith or willful misconduct.

Expenses. The costs of the establishment, the adoption, and the administration of the Plan,
including but not limited to legal and accounting fees, shall be borne by the Company. The
expenses of establishing and administering any trust under Section 6.04(b)(iv) shall be borne by
the trust; provided, however, that the Company shall bear, and shall not be reimbursed by, the
trust for any tax liability of the Company associated with the investment of assets by the trust.

Choice of Law. The validity and effect of this Plan and the rights and obligations of all persons
affected hereby shall be construed and determined in accordance with the laws of the State of
Ohio, unless superseded by federal law, which shall govern correspondingly.

AMENDMENT OR TERMINATION

10.01. The Committee may modify or amend, in whole or in part, any or all of the provisions of the

Plan, except as to those terms or provisions that are required by IRC section 162(m) to be
approved by the shareholders, or suspend or terminate the Plan entirely; provided, however, that
no such modifications, amendment, suspension or termination may, without the consent of the
Participant, or his Beneficiary in the case of his/her death, reduce the right of a Participant, or
his/her Beneficiary, as the case may be, to any Payment due under the Plan. For the avoidance of
doubt, the Committee may amend the Plan as necessary to conform the Plan to the requirements
of IRC section 409A. Distributions of Deferred Bonus Accounts on termination of the Plan shall
occur only under the circumstances specified in Section 6.04(b)(ix) above.

11. TAX WITHHOLDING

11.01. The Company or the employing Affiliate shall have the right to deduct from all cash payments any

federal, state, or local taxes or other withholding amounts required by law or valid court order to
be withheld with respect to such cash payments. Amounts deferred will be taken into account for
purposes of any tax or withholding obligation under the Federal Insurance Contribution Act and
Federal Unemployment Tax Act, not in the year distributed, but at the later of the year the services
are performed or the year in which the rights to the amounts are no longer subject to a substantial
risk of forfeiture, as required by IRC sections 3121(v) and 3306(r) and the regulations thereunder.
Amounts required to be withheld pursuant to IRC sections 3121(v) and 3306(r) shall be withheld
out of other current wages paid to the Participant by the Company or the employing Affiliate, or,
if such current wages are insufficient, out of the amount of Bonus elected to be deferred. The
determination of the Company or the employing Affiliate regarding applicable income and
employment tax withholding requirements shall be final and binding on the Participant.

12. SECTION 409A

12.01. It is intended that the Plan comply with IRC section 409A and the Plan shall be construed,

where possible, to comply with section 409A. Neither the Company, the employing Affiliate, nor
the Committee shall be obligated to perform any obligation hereunder in any case where, in the
opinion of the Company’s Counsel, such performance would result in the violation of IRC section
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409A. Should it be determined that any provision or feature of the Plan is not in compliance with
IRC section 409A, that provision or feature shall be null and void to the extent required to avoid
the noncompliance with IRC section 409A. To the extent taxation of a Participant is required
under IRC section 409A, the Participant’s Deferred Bonus Account shall be distributed to the

Participant (or Beneficiary) in an amount equal to the amount required to be included in income
under section 409A.

I-10



APPENDIX A
PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

Performance criteria imposed on Bonus opportunities will be derived using the accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America and will be reported or appear in the Company’s periodic filings
with the Securities Exchange Commission (including Forms 10-Q and 10-K) or the Company’s annual report
to shareholders and will be derived from one or more (or any combination of one or more) of the following:

(a)
(b)
()
(d)
(e)
(®
(8

(h)

®
@
9]
O]
(m)

()

(0)
(P

@
(r)

(s)
®
(w)
(v)

Income (loss) per common share from continuing operations;

Income (loss) per common share;

Operating profit (loss), operating income (loss), or income (loss) from operations (as the case may be);
Income (loss) from continuing operations before unusual or infrequent items;

Income (loss) from continuing operations;

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes;

Income (loss) from continuing operations before extraordinary item and/or cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle (as the case may be);

Income (loss) before extraordinary item and/or cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle
(as the case may be);

Net income (loss);

Income (loss) before other comprehensive income (loss);

Comprehensive income (loss);

Income (loss) before interest and income taxes (sometimes referred to as “EBIT”);

Income (loss) before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization (sometimes referred to as
“EBITDA”);

Any other objective and specific income (loss) category or non-GAAP financial measure that appears
as a line item in the Company’s periodic filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission
or the annual report to shareholders;

Any of items (c) through (n) on a weighted average common shares outstanding basis;

Any of items (a) through (n) on a diluted basis as defined in the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 128 including
authoritative interpretations or amendments thereof which may be issued from time to time as long
as such interpretations or amendments are utilized on the consolidated statements of operations or
statement of operations, as applicable, or in the notes to the consolidated financial statements;

Common share price;

Total shareholder return expressed on a dollar or percentage basis as is customarily disclosed in the
proxy statement accompanying the notice of annual meetings of shareholders;

Percentage increase in comparable store sales;
Gross profit (loss) or gross margin (loss) (as the case may be);
Economic value added;

Any of items (a) through (u) with respect to any subsidiary, Affiliate, business unit, business group,
business venture or legal entity, including any combination thereof, or controlled directly or
indirectly by the Company whether or not such information is included in the Company’s annual
report to shareholders, proxy statement or notice of annual meeting of shareholders;



(w) Any of items (a) through (u) above may be determined before or after a minority interest’s share as
designated by the Committee;

(x) Any of items (a) through (u) above with respect to the period of service to which the performance
goal relates whether or not such information is included in the Company’s periodic filings, annual
report to shareholders, proxy statement or notice of annual meetings of shareholders;

(y) Total shareholder return ranking position meaning the relative placement of the Company’s total
shareholder return [as determined in (r) above] compared to those publicly held companies in the
Company’s peer group as established by the Committee prior to the beginning of a vesting period
or such later date as permitted under the Code. The peer group shall be comprised of not less than
eight and not more than sixteen companies, including the Company; or

(z) With respect to items (a), (b), (0) and (p) above, other terminology may be used for “income (loss)
per common share” (such as “Basic EPS,” “earnings per common share,” “diluted EPS,” or “‘earnings
per common share-assuming dilution”) as contemplated by SFAS No. 128, as amended, revised
or superseded.

The Committee in its sole discretion, in setting the performance objectives in the time prescribed in Section 5,
may provide for the making of equitable adjustments (including the income tax effects attributable thereto),
singularly or in combination, to the performance criteria in A above of this Appendix in recognition of
unusual or non-recurring events, transactions and accruals for the effect of the following qualifying

objective items:

(aa)  Asset impairments as described in SFAS No. 144, as amended, revised or superseded,;

(bb)  Costs associated with exit or disposal activities as described by SFAS No. 146, as amended,
revised or superseded;

(cc)  Amortization costs associated with the acquisition of goodwill or other intangible assets, as
described by SFAS No. 142, as amended, revised or superseded;

(dd) Merger integration costs;
(ee)  Merger transaction costs;

(ff)  Any profit or loss attributable to the business operations of a reportable segment as described by
SFAS No. 131 as amended, revised or superseded;

(gg) Any profit or loss attributable to a reportable segment as described by SFAS No. 131, as amended,
revised or superseded or an entity or entities acquired during the period of service to which the
performance goal relates;

(hh)  Any specified Tax settlement(s) (or combination thereof) with a Tax authority;

(i1) The relevant Tax effect of new Tax legislation enacted after the beginning of the Performance
Period or other changes in Tax law;

€)) Any extraordinary item, event or transaction as described in Accounting Principles Board Opinion
(“APB”) No. 30, as amended, revised or superseded;

(kk)  Any unusual in nature, or infrequent in occurrence items, events or transactions (that are not
“extraordinary” items) as described in APB No. 30, as amended, revised or superseded;

an Any other non-recurring items or other non-GAAP financial measures (not otherwise listed);
(mm) Any change in accounting as described in APB No. 20, as amended, revised or superseded;

(nn)  Unrealized gains or losses on investments in debt and equity securities as described in SFAS No.
115, as amended, revised or superseded;
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(00)

(pp)
(qq)

(rr)

(ss)

(tv

(uu)

Any gain or loss recognized as a result of derivative instrument transactions or other hedging
activities as described in SFAS No. 133, as amended, revised or superseded;

Shares-based compensation charges as described in SFAS No. 123, as amended, revised or superseded;

Any gain or loss as reported as a component of other comprehensive income as described in
SFAS No. 130, as amended, revised or superseded;

Any gain or loss as a result of a direct or indirect guarantee, as described in FASB Interpretations
(“FIN”) No. 45, as amended, revised or superseded;

Any gain or loss as the result of the consolidation of a variable interest entity as described in FIN
No. 46, as amended, revised or superseded;

Any gain or loss as a result of litigation, judgments or lawsuit settlement (including class action
lawsuits); or

Any charges associated with the early retirement of debt obligations.
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APPENDIX II

BIG LOTS, INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

The Audit Committee (the "Committee®) is appointed by the Board of Directors (the "Board®) of Big

Lots, Inc. (the "Company*) to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibility relating to (1) the
integrity of the Company’s financial statements and financial reporting process and the Company’s systems

of internal accounting and financial controls, (2) the compliance by the Company with legal and regulatory
requirements, including the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, (3) the annual independent audit
of the Company’s financial statements, the engagement of the independent auditor and the evaluation of the
independent auditor’s qualifications, independence and performance, (4) the performance of the Company’s
internal audit services function, (5) the evaluation of enterprise risk issues, and (6) the fulfillment of the other
responsibilities set out herein.

Composition

The Committee shall be comprised of three members and shall meet the independence and experience
requirements of the New York Stock Exchange and the Securities Exchange Commission, as such
requirements are interpreted by the Board in its business judgment. The members of the Committee shall

be appointed annually by the Board on the recommendation of the Nominating/Corporate Governance
Committee. The Board shall designate one member of the Committee as its chairperson. Committee members
may be replaced by the Board. Each member will be “financially literate” (or will become so within a
reasonable time after his or her appointment to the Committee), and the chairperson of the Committee shall
have accounting or related financial management expertise,” as such qualifications are interpreted by the
Board in its business judgment.

No director may serve as a member of the Committee if such director serves on the audit committees of more
than two other public companies unless the Board determines that such simultaneous service would not impair
the ability of such director to effectively serve on the Committee. No member of the Committee may receive
any compensation from the Company other than directors’ fees.

Authority

The Committee shall have the sole authority to appoint or replace the Company’s independent auditor (subject,
if applicable, to shareholder ratification), and shall approve all audit engagement fees (and other fees paid in
connection with any non-audit services) and terms of all significant non-audit engagements with the Company’s
independent auditor. The Committee shall consult with management but shall not delegate these responsibilities.

The Committee shall approve guidelines for the retention of the Company’s independent auditor for any
non-audit service and the fee for such service and shall determine procedures for the approval of audit and
non-audit services in advance. The Committee shall, in accordance with such procedures, approve in advance
any audit or non-audit service provided to the Company by the Company’s independent auditor, all as required
by applicable law or listing standards.

The Committee may request any officer or employee of the Company, the Company’s outside counsel,
independent auditor, or internal auditor (or internal audit service provider) to attend a meeting of the Committee
or to meet with any members of, or consultants to, the Committee. The Committee shall meet with management,
the independent auditor and the internal audit service provider in separate executive sessions at least quarterly.

The Company shall provide for appropriate funding, as determined by the Committee, for payment of
compensation to the independent auditor for the purpose of rendering or issuing audit reports or performing
other audit, review or attest services for the Company and to any advisors employed by the Committee, as
well as funding for the payment of ordinary administrative expenses of the Committee that are necessary or
appropriate in carrying out its duties.

The Committee is empowered to retain persons having special competence (including special legal counsel,
accounting or other consultants) as necessary to assist the Committee in fulfilling its responsibility, and may
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meet with the Company’s investment bankers or financial analysts who follow the Company. The Committee
shall have full authority to investigate any matter brought to its attention with full access to all books, records,
facilities and personnel of the Company.

The Committee shall instruct the Company’s independent auditor that the independent auditor is ultimately
accountable to the Board and the Committee, as representatives of the Company’s shareholders.

Meetings/Attendance

The Committee is to meet at least quarterly, and as many times as the Committee deems necessary. Meetings
may be by telephone. Members of the Committee are to participate in all meetings. An agenda, together with
materials relating to the subject matter of each meeting, shall be sent to members of the Committee prior to
each meeting.

Communication/Reporting

The Committee members are expected to maintain free and open communication with the Company’s
independent auditor, members of management and the internal audit service provider. This communication
shall include private sessions with each of these parties. Furthermore, the Committee shall provide sufficient
opportunity for the Company’s independent auditor to meet with others in the Company as appropriate without
members of management present.

Minutes of each meeting are to be prepared and sent to Committee members and the Company’s Directors
who are not members of the Committee. Copies are to be provided to the Company’s independent auditor as
well as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer.

The Committee shall make regular reports to the Board. The Committee shall review with the full Board any
issues that arise with respect to the quality or integrity of the Company’s financial statements, the Company’s
compliance with legal or regulatory requirements, the performance and independence of the Company’s
independent auditors, or the performance of the internal audit function.

Responsibilities

The Committee is to serve as a focal point for communication between the Company’s Directors who are not
members of the Committee, the Company’s independent auditor, and members of management, as their duties
relate to financial accounting, reporting and controls. The Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its
fiduciary responsibilities as to accounting policies and reporting practices of the Company, its subsidiaries and
affiliates, and the sufficiency of auditing relative thereto. It is to be the Board’s principal agent in ensuring the
independence of the Company’s independent auditor, the integrity of management and the adequacy of
disclosures to shareholders. The opportunity for the independent auditor to meet with the entire Board as
needed is not to be restricted, however.

The Committee shall rely on the expertise and knowledge of the Company’s members of management and the
Company’s independent auditor in carrying out its oversight responsibilities. Management of the Company is
responsible for determining the Company’s financial statements are complete, accurate, and in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP*). The Company’s independent auditor is responsible for
auditing the Company’s financial statements. It is not the duty of the Committee to plan or conduct audits, to
determine that the Company’s financial statements and disclosures are complete and accurate and are in
accordance with GAAP or to assure compliance with applicable rules and regulations.

The Committee shall establish procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by
the Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters and the confidential,
anonymous submission by employees of the Company of concerns regarding questionable accounting or
auditing matters.

II-2



Specific Duties

At least quarterly, the Committee is to:

(1) Meet to review and discuss with members of management and the Company’s independent auditor
the Company’s quarterly financial statements prior to the filing of its Form 10-Q, including the results of the
Company’s independent auditor’s review of the quarterly financial statements and the disclosures under
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

(2) Discuss with members of management and the Company’s independent auditor significant financial
reporting issues and judgments made in connection with the preparation of the Company’s quarterly financial
statements, including any significant changes in the Company’s selection or application of accounting
principles, any major issues as to the adequacy of the Company’s internal controls (including any special audit
steps adopted in light of material control deficiencies), the development, selection and disclosure of critical
accounting estimates, and analysis of the affect of alternative assumptions, estimates or GAAP methods on the
Company’s financial statements.

(3) Discuss with members of management the Company’s earnings press releases, including the use of
“proforma” or “adjusted” non-GAAP information, as well as financial information and earnings guidance
provided to analysts and rating agencies.

(4) Receive periodic reports from the Company’s independent auditor regarding their independence,
discuss such reports with them, consider whether the provision of non-audit services is compatible with
maintaining the independent auditor’s independence and, if so determined by the Committee, recommend that
the Board take appropriate action to satisfy itself of the independence of the Company’s independent auditor.

(5) Review with members of management and the Company’s independent auditor any correspondence
with regulators or governmental agencies and any employee complaints or published reports which raise
material issues regarding the Company’s financial statements or accounting policies.

(6) Meet with the Chief Financial Officer, the Company’s independent auditor and the Company’s
internal auditor (or internal audit service provider) in separate sessions, without management present.

(7) Review with the Company’s General Counsel legal or other matters that may have a material impact
on the financial statements, the Company’s compliance policies (including compliance with the Company’s
Code of Business Conduct & Ethics) and any material reports or inquiries received from regulators or
governmental agencies.

(8) Discuss with members of management all certifications required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

(9) Review with the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the General Counsel the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and review management’s conclusions about the effectiveness
of such disclosure controls and procedures, including any significant deficiencies in, or material non-
compliance with, such controls and procedures.

(10) Review with members of management and the Company’s independent auditor the effect of new or
proposed regulatory and accounting initiatives, as well as off-balance sheet structures, on the Company’s
financial statements and other public disclosures.

At least annually, the Committee is to:

(1) Meet with the Company’s independent auditor and internal auditor (or internal audit service provider)
prior to their respective audits to review the overall scope and plans for the respective audits, the adequacy of
staffing (including experience and qualifications of senior members) and other factors that may affect the
effectiveness and timeliness of such audits. The Committee shall discuss with members of management, the
internal auditor (or internal audit service provider) and the Company’s independent auditor the Company’s
major risk exposures (whether financial, operating or otherwise), including the steps management has taken to
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monitor and control such exposures, management of the Company’s legal compliance programs and other
considerations that may be relevant to their respective audits. The Committee shall review with members of
management and the Company’s independent auditor management’s annual internal control report, including
any attestation of the same by the Company’s independent auditor and the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s accounting and financial controls. Members of management and the internal auditor (or internal
audit service provider) shall report periodically to the Committee regarding any significant deficiencies in the
design or operation of the Company’s internal controls, material weaknesses in internal controls and any fraud
(regardless of materiality) involving persons having a significant role in the internals controls, as well as any
significant changes in internal controls implemented by management during the most recent reporting period
of the Company.

(2) Discuss with the Company’s independent auditor and members of management the internal audit
responsibilities, budget and staffing (whether internal or outsourced) and any recommended changes in the
planned scope of the internal audit. If the internal audit services are outsourced, the Committee shall be
responsible for the engagement, evaluation and termination of the internal audit service provider and shall
approve fees paid to the internal audit service provider. As part of its responsibility to evaluate any internal
audit service provider, the Committee shall review the quality control procedures applicable to the service
provider. The Committee shall also obtain a report of the service provider addressing such service provider’s
internal control procedures, issues raised by their most recent internal quality control review or by any inquiry
or investigation by governmental or professional authorities for the preceding five years and the response of
such service provider.

(3) Meet to review and discuss the annual audited financial statements, with members of management
and the Company’s independent auditor, including disclosures made under "Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and recommend to the Board whether the audited
financial statements should be included in the Company’s Form 10-K. When conducting its review, the
Committee shall discuss with members of management and the Company’s independent auditor their
judgments about the quality, not just acceptability, of accounting principles, the reasonableness of significant
judgments, the clarity of the disclosures in the financial statements and the adequacy of internal controls.

(4) Discuss with members of management and the Company’s independent auditor significant financial
reporting issues and judgments made in connection with the preparation of the Company’s annual financial
statements, including any significant changes in the Company’s selection or application of accounting
principles, any major issues as to the adequacy of the Company’s internal controls, the development, selection
and disclosure of critical accounting estimates, analysis of the affect of alternative assumptions, estimates or
GAAP methods on the Company’s financial statements, and a description of any transactions as to which
management obtained Statement on Auditing Standards No. 50 (Reports on the Application of Accounting
Principles) letters.

(5) Discuss with the Company’s independent auditor and internal audit service provider, if any, any
consultations they held with their respective national offices regarding accounting or auditing issues.

(6) Obtain from the Company’s independent auditor assurance that Section 10A of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, regarding illegal acts, has not been implicated.

(7) Discuss with the Company’s independent auditor the matters required to be discussed by Statement
on Auditing Standards No. 61 (Communication with Audit Committees) relating to the conduct of the audit. In
particular, and without limitation, discuss:

(a) The adoption of, or changes to, the Company’s significant auditing and accounting principles and
practices as suggested by the Company’s independent auditor for management.

(b) The management letter provided by the Company’s independent auditor and the Company’s
response to that letter.

(c) Any difficulties encountered in the course of the audit work and management’s response,
including any restrictions on the scope of activities or access to requested information, and any
significant disagreements with management.
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(8) Obtain and review a report from the Company’s independent auditor regarding (a) the auditor’s
internal quality-control procedures, (b) any material issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control
review, or peer review, of the firm, or any inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional authorities,
within the preceding five years, respecting one or more independent audits carried out by the firm, (c) any
steps taken to deal with any such issues, and (d) all relationships between he Company’s independent auditor
and the Company. Evaluate the qualifications, performance and independence of the Company’s independent
auditor, including whether the Company’s independent auditor’s internal quality-controls are adequate and its
provision of non-audit services is compatible with maintaining the auditor’s independence, taking into account
the opinions of management and the Company’s internal auditor (or internal audit service provider). Review
and evaluate the performance of the lead partner of the Company’s independent auditor assigned to the
Company. The Committee shall present its conclusions to the Board and, if so determined by the Committee,
recommend that the Board take additional action to satisfy itself of the qualifications, performance and
independence of the auditor.

(9) Obtain and review any other material written communications (or summaries thereof) between the
Company’s independent auditor and management and all relevant reports (or summaries thereof) rendered by
the Company’s independent auditor.

(10) Consider whether, in order to assure continuing auditor independence, it is appropriate to adopt
a policy of rotating the lead audit partner or even the Company’s independent auditing firm itself on a
regular basis.

(11) Obtain and review a summary of the Company’s transactions with Directors and officers of the
Company and with firms that employ Directors, as well as any other material related party transactions.

(12) Prepare the report required by the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission to be included
in the Company’s annual proxy statement.

(13) Review the Company’s independent auditor’s attestation and report on management’s internal control
report required under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

As required, the Committee is to:

(1) Review with members of management and the Company’s independent auditor the effect of
regulatory and accounting initiatives as well as off-balance sheet structures, if any, on the Company’s
financial statements.

(2) Meet periodically with members of management to review major financial risk exposures of the
Company identified by management, if any, and the steps management has taken to monitor and control such
exposures, including the Company’s risk assessment and risk management policies.

(3) Set policies and guidelines for the Company’s hiring of employees or former employees of the
Company’s independent auditor who were engaged on the Company’s account.

(4) The Committee shall also carry out such other duties that may be delegated to it by the Board from
time to time.

Performance Evaluation

The Committee shall produce and provide to the Board an annual performance self evaluation of the
Committee, which evaluation shall compare the performance of the Committee with the requirements of this
charter and set forth the goals and objectives of the Committee for the upcoming year. The performance
evaluation shall also recommend to the Board, for its approval, any improvements to the Committee’s charter
deemed necessary or desirable by the Committee. The performance evaluation by the Committee shall be
conducted in such manner as the Committee deems appropriate. The report to the Board may take the form of
an oral report by the chairperson of the Committee or any other member of the Committee designated by the
Committee to make this report.
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PART 1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

The Company

Big Lots, Inc., an Ohio corporation, by and through its wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Company”), is the nation’s largest broadline closeout retailer. In addition to closeout merchandise, the
Company stocks products that its customers would expect to be able to obtain on a consistent basis at its
stores. These products may not always be the same brand or may be off-brand because the Company attempts
to provide its customers with the best value available. At January 28, 2006, the Company operated a total of
1,401 stores in 47 states. The Company’s goal is to build upon its leadership position in broadline closeout
retailing by providing its customers with great savings on brand-name closeouts and other value-priced
merchandise. The Company’s web site is located at www.biglots.com. The contents of the Company’s web
site are not part of this report.

The Company manages its business on the basis of one segment: broadline closeout retailing. Please refer to
the consolidated financial statements and related notes in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for financial
information regarding the Company. The Company internally evaluates and externally communicates overall
sales and merchandise performance based on the following key merchandising categories: Consumables,
Home, Seasonal and toys, and Other. The Consumables category includes food, health and beauty, plastics,
paper, and pet departments. The Home category includes furniture, domestics, and home décor departments.
Seasonal and toys includes toys, lawn & garden, trim-a-tree, and various holiday-oriented departments. The
Other category primarily includes electronics, apparel, home maintenance, small appliances, and tools. See
Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the net sales results
of these categories for fiscal years 2005, 2004, and 2003.

In May 2001, Big Lots, Inc. was incorporated in Ohio and was the surviving entity in a merger with
Consolidated Stores Corporation, a Delaware corporation. By virtue of the merger, Big Lots, Inc. succeeded
to all the business, properties, assets, and liabilities of Consolidated Stores Corporation.

The Company’s principal executive offices are located at 300 Phillipi Road, Columbus, Ohio 43228, and its
telephone number is (614) 278-6800. All of the Company’s operations were located within the United States
of America at January 28, 2006, and January 29, 2005.

Associates

At January 28, 2006, the Company had 43,985 active associates comprised of 17,124 full-time and 26,861
part-time associates. Temporary associates hired during the fall and winter holiday selling season increased the
number of associates to a peak of 52,105 in fiscal year 2005. Approximately 60% of the associates employed
throughout the year are employed on a part-time basis. The relationship with the associates is considered to
be good and the Company is not a party to any labor agreements.

Closeout Retailing

The Company attempts to maximize the amount of closeout merchandise available in its stores to offer
the largest value to its customers. In addition, the Company works closely with its suppliers to provide
merchandise, preferably a top brand that is easily recognizable by its customer base. Closeout retailers
purchase merchandise that generally results from production overruns, packaging changes, discontinued
products, or returns. As a result, closeout retailers can generally purchase most merchandise at a lower
cost and offer most merchandise at lower prices than those offered by traditional discount retailers.



Retail Operations

The following table compares the number of stores in operation at the beginning and end of each of the prior

five fiscal years:
Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Stores open at the beginning of the fiscal year ... 1,502 1,430 1,380 1,335 1,290
Stores opened during the fiscal year ............. 73 103 86 87 78
Stores closed during the fiscal year .............. (174) 31) (36) 42) (33)
Stores open at the end of the fiscal year ....... 1,401 1,502 1,430 1,380 1,335

The following table details the store locations by state at January 28, 2006:

Alabama .............. 29 Maine ................. 3 Ohio ........c.ocoiiint. 109
Arizona ............... 34 Maryland ............. 12 Oklahoma ............. 19
Arkansas .............. 10 Massachusetts ......... 15 Oregon ................ 13
California ............. 193 Michigan ............. 43 Pennsylvania .......... 60
Colorado .............. 21 Minnesota ............ 7 Rhode Island .......... 1
Connecticut ........... 7 Mississippi «o..oevnenne 15 South Carolina ........ 29
Delaware ............. 2 Missouri .............. 26 Tennessee ............. 43
Florida ................ 104 Montana .............. 2 Texas ......coocovenne. 116
Georgia ............... 57 Nebraska .............. 3 Utah .................. 10
Idaho ................. 5 Nevada ............... 13 Vermont .............. 4
Mlinois ................ 37 New Hampshire ....... 7 Virginia ............... 36
Indiana ................ 47 New Jersey ........... 12 Washington ........... 19
Towa ...l 4 New Mexico .......... 13 West Virginia ......... 19
Kansas ................ 10 New York ............. 45 Wisconsin ............. 16
Kentucky ............. 40 North Carolina ........ 62 Wyoming ............. 2
Louisiana ............. 25 North Dakota ......... 2 Total stores ........... 1,401

Number of states .... 47

Of the Company’s 1,401 stores, 522 stores operate in four states: California, Ohio, Texas, and Florida.

Competition

The Company operates in the highly competitive retail industry and faces strong sales competition from other
general merchandise, discount, food, arts and crafts, and dollar store retailers. Additionally, the Company
competes with a number of companies for retail site locations, attracting and retaining quality employees, and
acquiring its broad assortment of closeout merchandise from suppliers.

Purchasing

An integral part of the Company’s business is the sourcing and purchasing of quality brand-name merchandise
directly from manufacturers and other vendors typically at prices substantially below those paid by traditional
retailers. The Company believes that it has built strong relationships with many brand-name manufacturers and
has capitalized on its purchasing power in the closeout marketplace to source merchandise that provides
exceptional value to its customers. The Company has the ability to source and purchase significant quantities of
a manufacturer’s closeout merchandise in specific product categories and to control distribution in accordance
with vendor instructions, thus providing a high level of service and convenience to these manufacturers. The
Company’s sourcing channels also include bankruptcies, liquidations, and insurance claims. The Company
supplements its traditional brand-name closeout purchases with various direct import and domestically-sourced
merchandise items in departments such as furniture, home décor, and seasonal. The Company expects that the
unpredictability of the retail and manufacturing environments coupled with its dominant purchasing power
position will continue to enhance its ability to source quality closeout merchandise at competitive prices.

The Company has a buying team with extensive closeout purchasing experience, which the Company believes
has enabled it to develop successful long-term relationships with many of the largest and most recognized



manufacturers in the United States. The Company believes that, as a result of these relationships and its
experience and reputation in the closeout industry, many manufacturers offer inventory opportunities to the
Company prior to attempting to dispose of their merchandise through other channels.

The Company’s merchandise is purchased from domestic and foreign suppliers that provide the Company with
multiple sources for each product category. In fiscal year 2005, the Company’s top ten vendors accounted for
12.7% of total purchases (at cost) with no single vendor accounting for more than 2.0% of the aggregate.

During fiscal year 2005, the Company purchased approximately 30.6% of its products directly from overseas
suppliers, including 23.0% from manufacturers located in China. Additionally, a significant amount of its
domestically-purchased merchandise is manufactured abroad. As a result, a significant portion of the
Company’s merchandise supply is subject to certain risks as described further in Item 1A in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Warehouse and Distribution

The majority of the merchandise sold by the Company is received and processed for retail sale, as necessary,
and distributed to the retail locations from Company-operated warehouse and distribution facilities. The
Company carries a substantial amount of merchandise inventory in its distribution centers so that it can
distribute merchandise quickly and efficiently to its stores in order to maximize sales. The Company has
located and manages its distribution facilities to enable quick turn of time-sensitive product while attempting
to minimize transportation costs and the distance from distribution facilities to its stores. The Company
monitors inventory levels and takes markdowns on aged or slow moving items in order to improve

the inventory turnover rate.

The re-engineering of the Company’s Columbus, Ohio closeout distribution center (the “Columbus DC”) was
completed in fiscal year 2005.

For a further discussion of the warehouse and distribution facilities, refer to the Warehouse and Distribution
section under Item 2 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Adyvertising and Promotion

The Company’s advertising and promotion program in fiscal year 2005 was designed to continue to build
awareness of the Big Lots® brand and to drive customer traffic by featuring the broad range of quality,
brand-name merchandise available at closeout prices, which the Company believes provides customers a
unique shopping experience, as well as value. The Company uses a variety of marketing approaches through
television and print to promote its stores to the public. These approaches may vary by market and by season.

In the interest of expanding its customer base and increasing the Company’s overall level of top-of-mind
brand awareness, the Company began national television advertising in March 2003, featuring 25 weeks
of coverage, with all stores in all markets benefiting from television advertising for the first time in the
Company’s history. Prior to fiscal year 2003, the Company focused on local or spot television advertising
that reached approximately two-thirds of the total store base. In fiscal years 2004 and 2005, the Company
continued national television advertising commercials covering all stores in all markets.

The marketing program also utilizes printed advertising circulars in all markets. In fiscal year 2005, the
Company distributed approximately 40 million multi-page circulars per week covering 25 weeks. The method
of distribution included a combination of newspaper insertions and mailings. These circulars were designed
by the Company and were distributed regionally to take advantage of market differences caused by product
availability, climate, and customer preferences. Each circular generally featured 35 to 50 products. In fiscal
year 2006, the Company expects to distribute circulars covering 26 weeks. In addition, store promotions,
including window signs, pre-recorded periodic loudspeaker announcements, and in-store signage emphasize
special bargains and significant values offered to customers.

Over the past five fiscal years, total advertising expense as a percentage of total net sales has ranged from
2.3% to 2.6%. In fiscal year 2005, including costs related to national television advertising, advertising
expense as a percentage of total net sales was 2.3%.



The Company utilizes trademarks, service marks, and other intangible assets in its retail operations. The
Company considers its intellectual property to be valuable and where applicable, has registered or has
applications pending to register its trademarks and service marks with the United States Patent and Trademark
Office. The Company believes that having distinctive intellectual property is an important factor in identifying
the Company and distinguishing it from others.

Seasonality

The Company has historically experienced, and expects to continue to experience, seasonal fluctuations,
with a larger percentage of its net sales and operating profit realized in the fourth fiscal quarter. In addition,
the Company’s quarterly results can be affected by the timing of new store openings and store closings, the
amount of sales contributed by new and existing stores, the timing of television and circular advertising, and
the timing of certain holidays. The Company historically purchases a higher proportion of merchandise, and
thus carries higher inventory levels, and incurs higher outbound shipping and payroll expenses in the third
fiscal quarter in anticipation of the increased sales activity during the fourth fiscal quarter.

The seasonality of the Company’s business influences the Company’s demand for seasonal borrowings. The
Company historically has drawn upon its credit facilities to fund seasonal working capital needs and has
substantially repaid these borrowings during the fourth fiscal quarter. The Company expects that it will have
borrowings at various times throughout fiscal year 2006 under its $500.0 million unsecured credit facility
entered into in fiscal year 2004 (the “2004 Credit Agreement”). Given the seasonality of the Company’s
business, the amount of borrowings under the 2004 Credit Agreement may fluctuate materially depending on
various factors, including the time of the year, the Company’s need to acquire merchandise inventory, and the
timing of the execution of the $150.0 million share repurchase program authorized by the Board of Directors
in February 2006.

Available Information

The Company makes available, free of charge, through its web site (www.biglots.com) under the “Investor
Relations — Financial Information — SEC Filings” caption, its Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after the Company
files such material with, or furnishes it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company incorporates by reference certain information from
parts of its Proxy Statement for its 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the “2006 Proxy Statement”).
On or about April 25, 2006, the 2006 Proxy Statement will be set forth on the Company’s web site
(www.biglots.com) under the “Investor Relations — Financial Information — SEC Filings” caption.

Information relating to corporate governance of the Company, including: Corporate Governance Standards;
charters of the Board’s Audit, Compensation, and Nominating/Corporate Governance Committees; the
Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics; the Company’s Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals;
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer certifications related to the Company’s SEC filings;
the means by which shareholders may communicate with the Company’s Board; and transactions in the
Company’s securities by its directors and executive officers may be found on the Company’s web site
(www.biglots.com) under the “Investor Relations — Governance” caption. The Company’s Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics is applicable to all of the Company’s associates, including the directors, the principal
executive officer, the principal financial officer, and the principal accounting officer. The Company’s Code of
Ethics for Financial Professionals for its Chief Executive Officer and all other Senior Financial Officers (as
that term is defined therein), contains provisions specifically applicable to the individuals serving in those
positions. The Company intends to post amendments to and waivers, if any, from its Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics (to the extent applicable to the Company’s directors and executive officers) and its Code
of Ethics for Financial Professionals at this location on its web site. The Company will provide any of the
foregoing information without charge upon written request to the Company’s Corporate Secretary. The
contents of the Company’s web site are not part of this report.



ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The statements in this section describe the major risks to our business and should be considered carefully. In
addition, these statements constitute our cautionary statements under the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995.

Our disclosure and analysis in this 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our 2005 Annual Report to
Shareholders contain some forward-looking statements that set forth anticipated results based on
management’s plans and assumptions. From time to time, we also provide forward-looking statements in other
materials we release to the public as well as oral forward-looking statements. Such statements give our current
expectations or forecasts of future events; they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. We have
tried, wherever possible, to identify such statements by using words such as “anticipate,” “‘estimate,” “expect,”
“objective,” “goal,” “project,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “will,” “target,” “forecast,” and similar expressions
in connection with any discussion of future operating or financial performance. In particular, these include
statements relating to future actions, future performance, or results of current and anticipated products, sales
efforts, expenses, interest rates, the outcome of contingencies, such as legal proceedings, and financial results.

ELINT3

We cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will be realized, although we believe we have been
prudent in our plans and assumptions. Achievement of future results is subject to risks, uncertainties, and
potentially inaccurate assumptions. Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties materialize, or should
underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results could differ materially from past results and those
anticipated, estimated, or projected. You should bear this in mind as you consider forward-looking statements.

You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date
thereof. We undertake no obligation to publicly update forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise. You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures we make
on related subjects in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K to the SEC.

Also note that we provide the following cautionary discussion of risks, uncertainties, and possibly inaccurate
assumptions relevant to our businesses. There can be no assurances that we have correctly and completely
identified, assessed, and accounted for all factors that do or may affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations, and liquidity. These are factors that, individually or in the aggregate, we think could
cause our actual results to differ materially from expected and historical results. Additional risks not presently
known to us or that we believe to be immaterial also may adversely impact us. Should any risks or
uncertainties develop into actual events, these developments could have material adverse effects on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity. Consequently, all of the forward-looking
statements are qualified by these cautionary statements, and there can be no assurance that the results or
developments anticipated by us will be realized or that they will have the expected effects on our business or
operations. We note these factors for investors as permitted by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. You should understand that it is not possible to predict or identify all such factors. Consequently, you
should not consider the following to be a complete discussion of all potential risks or uncertainties.

Our ability to achieve the results contemplated by forward-looking statements is subject to a number of
factors, any one, or a combination, of which could materially affect our business, financial condition, results
of operations, or liquidity. These factors may include, but are not limited to:

If the Company is unable to successfully execute planned strategic initiatives, its recent trend of declining
operating performance may continue.

While the Company’s net sales continue to grow, comparable stores sales growth was 1.8% and 0.0% in
fiscal years 2005 and 2004, respectively. Operating profit has declined each of the past two years. The decline
in operating profit is due to lower gross margin percentages, higher selling and administrative expense

and higher depreciation expense. The Company is attempting to improve operating results through the
implementation of a number of initiatives in its real estate and merchandising areas while cutting selling

and administrative costs. If these initiatives are not successful, the two year trend of declining operating
profit may continue.



If the Company is unable to compete effectively in the highly competitive discount retail industry, its business
and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.

The market for discount retailers is highly competitive. As stated in Item 1, the Company competes for
customers, employees, products, and other aspects of our business with a number of other companies. Certain
of the Company’s competitors have greater financial, distribution, marketing, and other resources that may be
devoted to sourcing, promoting, and selling their merchandise. It is possible that increased competition or
improved performance by our competitors may reduce our market share, gross margin, and projected operating
results, and may materially adversely affect our business and results of operations in other ways.

A decline in general economic condition, consumer spending levels, and other conditions could lead to
reduced consumer demand for the Company’s merchandise thereby materially adversely affecting its revenues
and gross margin.

The Company’s operating results can be directly impacted by the health of the United States” economy. The
Company’s business and financial performance may be adversely impacted by current and future economic
conditions, including consumer debt levels, disposable income levels, unemployment levels, energy costs,
interest rates, recession, inflation, the impact of natural disasters and terrorist activities, and other matters
that influence consumer spending. The economies of four states (Ohio, Texas, California, and Florida) are
particularly important as 37% of the Company’s stores operate in these states and 39.5% of the Company’s
net sales occur in these states.

Changes by vendors related to the management of their inventories may reduce the quantity and quality of brand
name closeout merchandise available to the Company or increase the Company’s cost to acquire brand name
closeout merchandise, either of which may materially adversely affect the Company’s revenues and gross margin.

The products sold by the Company are sourced from a variety of vendors. The Company cannot control the
supply, design, function, or cost of many of the products that it offers for sale. The Company is dependent upon
the availability and pricing of closeout merchandise. To the extent that its vendors are better able to manage
their inventory levels and reduce the amount of their excess inventory, the amount of closeout merchandise
available for sale to the Company could be reduced. If disruptions occur in the availability of closeout
merchandise, it is likely to have a material adverse effect on our sales and result in customer dissatisfaction.

The Company relies on foreign sources for significant amounts of merchandise; therefore, the Company’s
business may be materially adversely affected by risks associated with international trade.

Global sourcing of many of the products we sell is an important factor in driving higher profit margins.
During fiscal year 2005, the Company purchased 30.6% of its products directly from overseas suppliers.

Our ability to find qualified vendors and to access products in a timely and efficient manner is a significant
challenge, especially with respect to goods sourced outside of the U.S. Increased import duties, increased
shipping costs, more restrictive quotas, loss of “most favored nation” trading status, currency fluctuations,
work stoppages, transportation delays, economic uncertainties including inflation, foreign government
regulations, political unrest, natural disasters, war, terrorism, and trade restrictions, including retaliation by the
United States against foreign practices, political instability, the financial stability of suppliers, merchandise
quality issues, tariffs, and other factors relating to foreign trade are beyond the Company’s control. These and
other issues affecting our vendors could adversely affect the Company’s business and financial performance.

The Company’s inability to properly manage its inventory levels and offer merchandise that its customers want
may materially adversely impact the Company’s business and financial performance.

The Company must maintain sufficient inventory levels to operate its business successfully. However, the
Company must also guard against accumulating excess inventory as it seeks to minimize out-of-stock levels
across all product categories and to maintain appropriate in-stock levels. The Company obtains a significant
portion of its inventory from vendors outside of the United States. These vendors often require lengthy
advance notice of our requirements in order to be able to supply products in the quantities that we request.
This usually requires the Company to order merchandise, and enter into purchase order contracts for the



purchase and manufacture of such merchandise, well in advance of the time these products will be offered
for sale. As a result, the Company may experience difficulty in responding to a changing retail environment,
which makes it vulnerable to changes in price and changes in consumer preferences. If the Company does
not accurately anticipate future demand for a particular product or the time it will take to obtain new
inventory, the Company’s inventory levels will not be appropriate and its results of operations may be
negatively impacted.

The Company may be subject to periodic litigation and regulatory proceedings, including Fair Labor Standards
Act and state wage and hour class action lawsuits, and risks associated with changes in laws, regulations and
accounting standards that may adversely affect the Company’s business and financial performance.

From time to time, the Company may be involved in lawsuits and regulatory actions, including various class
action lawsuits that have been brought against the Company for alleged violations of the Fair Labor Standards
Act (the “FLSA”) and state wage and hour laws. Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, the Company
cannot accurately predict the ultimate outcome of any such proceedings. The ultimate resolution of these
matters could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations,

and liquidity. In addition, regardless of the outcome, these proceedings could result in substantial cost and
may require us to devote substantial resources to defend the Company. For a description of current legal
proceedings, see Note 2 and Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report on

Form 10-K.

Additionally, changes in governmental regulations and accounting standards, including new interpretations and
applications of accounting standards, may have adverse effects on the Company’s financial condition, results
of operations, and liquidity.

The creditworthiness of the Company’s former KB Toys business may adversely affect the Company’s business
and financial performance.

In December 2000, the Company sold the KB Toys business to KB Acquisition Corporation. On January 14,
2004, KB Acquisition Corporation and certain affiliated entities (collectively, “KB Toys”) filed for bankruptcy
protection pursuant to Chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code. At the time of the bankruptcy filing,
the Company had indemnification and guarantee obligations (“KB Lease Obligations”) with respect to
approximately 390 KB Toys store leases and other real property leases. The typical KB Lease Obligation
provides that the terms of the underlying lease may be extended, amended, or modified without the consent
of the guarantor. KB Toys emerged from bankruptcy during fiscal year 2005. At the date of its emergence,
the Company had KB Lease Obligations with respect to approximately 167 remaining KB Toys store leases
and KB Toys’ main office building. If KB Toys fails to perform on the remaining store leases guaranteed

or indemnified by the Company, it could result in a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial
condition, results of operations, and liquidity. For additional information regarding the KB Toys bankruptcy,
see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Company’s inability to comply with the terms of the 2004 Credit Agreement may have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s capital resources, financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity.

The Company plans to borrow funds under the 2004 Credit Agreement at various times during fiscal year
2006 depending on operating cash flow requirements and the timing of the execution of the $150.0 million
share repurchase authorized by the Board of Directors in February 2006. The 2004 Credit Agreement contains
financial and other covenants, including, but not limited to, limitations on indebtedness, liens, and investments,
as well as the maintenance of two financial ratios — a leverage ratio and a fixed charge coverage ratio.

A violation of these covenants may permit the lenders to restrict the Company’s ability to further access

loans and letters of credit and require the immediate repayment of any outstanding loans. If the Company’s
financial performance is not in compliance with these covenants, it may have a material adverse effect on

the Company’s capital resources, financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity.



If the Company is unable to maintain or upgrade its information systems and software programs or if the
Company is unable to convert to alternate systems in an efficient and timely manner, the Company’s operations
may be disrupted or become less efficient.

The Company depends on a variety of information systems for the efficient functioning of its business.

The Company relies on certain software vendors to maintain and periodically upgrade many of these systems
so that they can continue to support the Company’s business. The software programs supporting many

of the Company’s systems were licensed to the Company by independent software developers. Costs and
potential interruptions associated with the implementation of new or upgraded systems and technology or
with maintenance or adequate support of existing systems could disrupt or reduce the efficiency of the
Company’s business.

If the Company is unable to retain suitable store locations under favorable lease terms, the Company'’s financial
performance may be negatively affected.

The Company leases almost all of its stores, and a significant number of these leases expire each fiscal year.
The Company’s financial performance is dependent on consistently growing sales in each market. If the
Company is not able to negotiate favorable lease renewals, including the proper determination of which leases
to renew, the Company’s results of operations, financial position, and cash flows may be negatively affected.

The Company may also be subject to a number of other factors which may individually or in the aggregate,
materially affect the Company’s business. These factors include, but are not limited to:
e The effect of fuel price fluctuations on the Company’s transportation costs and customer purchases;

e  Events or circumstances could occur which could create bad publicity for the Company which may
negatively impact various business results including sales;

e Infringement of the Company’s intellectual property, including the Big Lots trademark, could dilute
value from the Company;

e The Company’s ability to attract and retain suitable employees;
e The Company’s ability to establish effective advertising, marketing, and promotional programs; and

e Other risks described from time to time in the Company’s filings with the SEC.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Retail Operations

The Company’s stores are located in the United States, predominantly in strip shopping centers, and have an
average store size of approximately 29,600 gross square feet, of which an average of 21,300 square feet is
selling square feet. The average cost to open a new store in a leased facility during fiscal year 2005 was
approximately $1.0 million, including cost of inventory.

With the exception of 53 owned store sites, all stores are leased. Store leases generally provide for fixed
monthly rental payments plus the payment, in most cases, of real estate taxes, common area maintenance
(“CAM”), and property insurance. In some locations, the leases provide formulas requiring the payment of
a percentage of sales as additional rent. Such payments are generally only required when sales exceed a
specified level. The typical lease is for an initial term of five to ten years with multiple five-year renewal
options. Approximately 70 store leases have sales termination clauses which can result in the Company
exiting a location at its option if certain sales volume results are not achieved as indicated in the agreed
upon lease conditions.
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Excluding closed stores, eight month-to-month leases, and owned locations, store lease expirations were as
follows at January 28, 2006:

Fiscal Year:

2000 ... 189
2007 204
2008 .. 233
2000 .. 241
2010 202
Thereafter ...........oo i 291

Total ... 1,360

Warehouse and Distribution

At January 28, 2006, the Company operated warehouse and distribution facilities strategically placed across
the United States totaling 10,183,300 square feet. The Company’s primary warehouse and distribution facilities
are owned and located in Ohio, California, Alabama, Oklahoma, and Pennsylvania. The facilities utilize
advanced warehouse management technology, which enables high accuracy and efficient product processing
from vendors to the retail stores. The combined output of the Company’s facilities is approximately 2.7
million cartons per week.

The number of owned and leased warehouse and distribution facilities and the corresponding square footage
of the facilities by state at January 28, 2006, were as follows:

Square Footage

State Owned Leased Total Owned Leased Total
(Square footage in thousands)
ORIO o 2 2 4 3,559 731 4,290
California ........ccooviiiiiiiiii i 1 1 2 1,423 467 1,890
Alabama ....... ... . 1 — 1 1,411 — 1,411
OKklahoma ........ccoiiiiii i 1 — 1 1,297 — 1,297
Pennsylvania ... 1 — 1 1,295 — 1,295
TOML - 6 3 9 8985  L198 10,183

The Durant, Oklahoma distribution center (the “Durant DC”) began receiving merchandise in January 2004
and began shipping merchandise in April 2004. In an effort to further expand its sales in the furniture
category nationally, the Company entered into a lease for the Redlands, California distribution center (the
“Redlands DC”) in April 2004 in order to support the Company’s growth of furniture sales in the western
regions of the country. In fiscal year 2005, the Company exited the frozen food business and no longer stores
perishable merchandise in third party warehouses.

Other Properties

The Company owns the office facility in Columbus, Ohio that serves as its general office for corporate
employees.

As a result of funding a mortgage guarantee obligation associated with the KB Toys bankruptcy, the Company
obtained title to a distribution center in Pittsfield, Massachusetts (the “Pittsfield DC”). The Company has no
intention of using this property in its current operations, and it is available for immediate sale in its present
condition. For additional information regarding the Pittsfield DC, see Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

No response is required under Item 103 of Regulation S-K. For a discussion of certain litigated matters, please
refer to Note 2 and Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The Company’s executive officers at January 28, 2006, were as follows:

Name Age Current Office Executive Since
Steven S. Fishman ............ 54  Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President 2005
John C. Martin ............... 55 Executive Vice President, Merchandising 2003
Donald A. Mierzwa ........... 55 Executive Vice President, Store Operations 1998
Brad A. Waite ................ 48  Executive Vice President, Human Resources, Loss Prevention,

Real Estate and Risk Management 1998
Lisa M. Bachmann ............ 44 Senior Vice President, Information Technology/Merchandise

Planning and Allocation 2002
Joe R. Cooper ................ 48  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 2000
Charles W. Haubiel IT ......... 40  Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary 1999
Kent A. Larsson .............. 61  Senior Vice President, Special Projects 1998
Timothy A. Johnson ........... 38  Vice President, Strategic Planning and Investor Relations 2004
Paul A. Schroeder ............. 40  Vice President, Controller 2005

Steven S. Fishman became Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President in July 2005. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Fishman was the President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Restructuring Officer of Rhodes,
Inc., a furniture retailer. Rhodes, Inc. filed for bankruptcy on November 4, 2004. Mr. Fishman was also
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Frank’s Nursery & Crafts, Inc., a lawn and garden specialty retailer,
which filed for bankruptcy on September 8, 2004, and President and Founder of SSF Resources, Inc., an
investment and consulting firm.

John C. Martin is responsible for the Company’s merchandising. Prior to joining the Company in 2003,

Mr. Martin was the President of Garden Ridge Corporation, an arts and crafts retailer. Garden Ridge
Corporation filed for bankruptcy on February 2, 2004. Mr. Martin also served as President and Chief
Operating Officer of Michaels Stores, Inc., an arts and crafts retailer, and President, Retail Stores Division of
OfficeMax Incorporated, an office supply retailer.

Donald A. Mierzwa is responsible for the Company’s store operations, including store standards, customer
service, personnel development, program implementation, and execution. Mr. Mierzwa has been with the
Company since 1989 and has served as Executive Vice President of Store Operations since 1999.

Brad A. Waite is responsible for human resources, loss prevention, real estate, risk management, and
administrative services. Mr. Waite joined the Company in 1988 as Director of Employee Relations and held
various Human Resources management and senior management positions prior to his promotion to Executive
Vice President in July 2000.

Lisa M. Bachmann is responsible for the Company’s information technology, merchandise planning and
merchandise allocation functions. Ms. Bachmann joined the Company as Senior Vice President of
Merchandise Planning, Allocation and Presentation in March 2002, and was promoted to her current role
in August 2005. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Bachmann was Senior Vice President of Planning and
Allocation at Ames Department Stores, Inc., a discount retailer. Ames Department Stores, Inc. filed for
bankruptcy on August 20, 2001.

Joe R. Cooper was promoted to Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in February 2004, and

is responsible for the Company’s finance functions. He oversees treasury, tax and investor relations, as well
as the reporting, planning and control functions of the business. Mr. Cooper joined the Company as Vice
President of Strategic Planning and Investor Relations in May 2000. In July 2000, he assumed responsibility
for the treasury department and was appointed Vice President, Treasurer.

Charles W. Haubiel I is responsible for the Company’s legal affairs. He was promoted to Senior Vice
President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary in November 2004. Mr. Haubiel joined the Company in
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1997 as Senior Staff Counsel and was promoted to Director, Corporate Counsel and Assistant Secretary in
1999 and to Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary in 2000.

Kent A. Larsson is responsible for the oversight of various special projects at the request of the Company’s
CEO. Previously, Mr. Larsson was Senior Vice President, Marketing and was responsible for marketing,
merchandise presentation, sales promotion, and public relations. Mr. Larsson joined the Company in 1988
as Vice President, Sales Promotion and held various senior management positions in merchandising and
marketing prior to his current position.

Timothy A. Johnson is responsible for the Company’s strategic planning and investor relations functions. He
was promoted to Vice President, Strategic Planning and Investor Relations in February 2004. He joined the
company in 2000 as Director of Strategic Planning.

Paul A. Schroeder is responsible for internal and external financial reporting and accounting operations
including payroll, accounts payable and inventory control. Mr. Schroeder joined the Company as Director,
Accounting Operations in April 2005, and was promoted to Vice President, Controller in September 2005.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Schroeder was Director of Finance at American Signature, Inc., a
furniture retailer, and held various finance positions at Limited Brands, Inc., a clothing and fashion retailer.
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PART 1I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER
MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The Company’s common shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) under the symbol
“BLIL.” The following table reflects the high and low sales prices per common share as reported on the NYSE
composite tape for the fiscal periods indicated:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004
High Low High Low
First Quarter ...................... $13.38  $10.06  $15.61  $13.42
Second Quarter .................... 14.29 10.13 15.62 12.22
Third Quarter ...................... 13.19 10.38 13.27 11.05
Fourth Quarter .................... 13.88 11.16 13.26 10.62

The Company has followed a policy of reinvesting available cash in the business or executing share
repurchase programs when authorized by the Board of Directors. The Company historically has not paid
dividends. Currently, no change in this policy is under consideration by the Board of Directors. The payment
of cash dividends in the future will be determined by the Board of Directors taking into account business
conditions then existing, including the Company’s earnings, financial requirements and condition, opportunities
for reinvesting cash, and other factors.

On February 22, 2006, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to
$150.0 million of the Company’s common shares. The Company expects the purchases to be made from time
to time in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions with such purchases to be completed within
one year of the announcement. Common shares acquired through the repurchase program will be available for
general corporate purposes.

In May 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $75.0 million of the
Company’s common shares. Pursuant to this authorization, the Company purchased 5.4 million common
shares having an aggregate cost of $75.0 million with an average price paid per share of $13.82. All such
repurchases were made by the Company prior to the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004. The repurchased
common shares were placed into treasury to be used for general corporate purposes including the issuance
of shares for employee benefits, the exercise of stock options, and the issuance of restricted shares.

As of March 27, 2006, there were approximately 1,322 registered holders of record of the Company’s
common shares.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following statements of operations and balance sheet data have been derived from the Company’s
consolidated financial statements and should be read in conjunction with Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the consolidated financial statements and related Notes.
Prior period amounts applicable to the statements of operations have been adjusted to recognize the results of the
130 stores reported in discontinued operations as a result of store closings in fiscal year 2005.

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

(In thousands, except per share amounts and store counts)
Netsales ... $4,429,905  $4,149,252  $3,942,653  $3,647,771 $3,248,622
Costofsales ..........cvviiiiniiiiinnnn. 2,698,239 2,462,114 2,292,123 2,109,601 1,983,959
Gross Margin . ..........eevueenueenneenneanns 1,731,666 1,687,138 1,650,530 1,538,170 1,264,663
Selling and administrative expenses ........... 1,596,136 1,518,589 1,439,444 1,323,543 1,229,085
Depreciation eXpense .............c.oueeuueannn 108,657 99,362 88,960 81,552 68,683
Operating profit (10SS) ............cooeiuin.n. 26,873 69,187 122,126 133,075 (33,105)
Interest eXpense ............ceiiiiiiiiiiian 6,272 24,845 16,443 20,954 20,489
Interest income .............................. (313) (618) (1,061) (843) (287)
Income (loss) from continuing operations

before income taxes ....................... 20,914 44,960 106,744 112,964 (53,307)
Income tax expense (benefit) .................. 5,189 13,528 20,833 44,683 (21,038)
Income (loss) from continuing operations ...... 15,725 31,432 85,911 68,281 (32,269)
(Loss) income from discontinued operations,

netof tax ............ i (25,813) (7,669) (5,691) 7,452 11,287
Net income (10SS) ....cvviiiiieiiieen, $ (10,088) $ 23,763 $ 80,220 $ 75,733 $ (20,982)
Income (loss) per common share — basic:

Continuing operations ...................... $ 014 % 028 $ 074 % 059 $ (0.28)

Discontinued operations .................... (0.23) (0.07) (0.05) 0.06 0.10

$ 0.09) $ 021 § 069 § 065 § (0.18)

Income (loss) per common share — diluted:
Continuing operations ...................... $ 014 % 027 $ 073 % 059 $ (0.28)
Discontinued operations .................... (0.23) (0.06) (0.05) 0.06 0.10

$ 0.09) $ 021 § 068 § 065 § (0.18)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:

Basic ... 113,240 114,281 116,757 115,865 113,660
Diluted .......... ... 113,677 114,801 117,253 116,707 113,660
Balance sheet data:
Total assets .........c.oviiiiiiaia... $1,625,497  $1,733,584  $1,800,543 $1,655,571 $1,470,281
Working capital ............. ... . ..o 557,231 622,269 718,620 654,626 555,719
Long-term obligations ...................... 5,500 159,200 204,000 204,000 204,000
Shareholders’ equity ....................... $1,078,724  $1,075,490  $1,108,779  $1,020,088 $ 922,533
Store data:
Total gross square footage .................. 41,413 42975 40,040 37,882 35,528
Total selling square footage ................ 29,856 30,943 29,019 27,593 26,020
Stores opened during the fiscal year ......... 73 103 86 87 78
Stores closed during the fiscal year .......... (174) 31 (36) 42) (33)
Stores open at end of the fiscal year ......... 1,401 1,502 1,430 1,380 1,335

(a) References throughout this document to fiscal years 2005, 2004, 2003, 2002, and 2001 refer to the fiscal
years ended January 28, 2006; January 29, 2005; January 31, 2004; February 1, 2003; and February 2,
2002, respectively.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

The discussion and analysis presented below should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and related Notes. Please refer to Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion
of forward-looking statements and certain risk factors that may have a material effect on the Company’s
business, financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

What’s Important Now (WIN) Strategy

In 2005, the Company initiated a strategic assessment of its operations. Specifically, the Company is focusing
on opportunities for improved financial performance as a result of a continuing detailed analysis of real estate,
operating expenses, and merchandising. This strategic assessment is resulting in specific initiatives collectively
referred to by the Company as its “WIN Strategy.” We believe that the tactical plans for 2006 have been set.
Fiscal year 2006 will also be a year of significant testing activity to help develop a long term strategic
direction for the Company. The following is a discussion of these specific initiatives.

Real Estate

As part of the real estate analysis, on October 6, 2005, the Company announced its decision to close
approximately 126 underperforming stores in addition to the 40 stores previously planned for closure in fiscal
year 2005. The Company completed its evaluation of underperforming stores in the fourth quarter and, as a
result, 174 stores were closed during fiscal year 2005. The Company does not have any significant continuing
involvement in the operations of each store after closure. To determine if cash flows of each closed store

met the Statement of Financial Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144 criteria for reporting each store in discontinued
operations, resulting in their elimination from ongoing operations, the Company evaluated a number of
qualitative and quantitative factors, including: proximity to remaining open stores, physical location within

a metropolitan or non-metropolitan area, and expected transferability of sales between open and closed
stores. Based on these criteria, the Company determined that the results of 130 stores should be reported as
discontinued operations for all periods presented. The Company has included in discontinued operations the
net sales and associated costs which were directly related to and specifically identifiable in relation to these
130 stores. Certain costs such as general office, field operations, national advertising, fixed distribution costs,
and interest expense were not allocated to discontinued operations because these costs were not specifically
identifiable at the store level. The table below identifies the significant components of income (loss) from
discontinued operations related to these closed stores for fiscal years 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
NEE SALES . v ettt e e e e e e e $215,154  $225,820  $231,730
GIrOSS MATZIN ottt ettt e e ettt et 74,109 90,299 95,829
Operating income (I0SS) . ...vuinin it (41,130) (1,662) 6,617
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax ............... $(25381) $ (1,021) $ 4,029
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The Company’s results of discontinued operations in fiscal year 2005 include pretax losses in the amount of
$41.1 million as the result of the 130 stores reported in discontinued operations in fiscal year 2005, including
$43.6 million of exit-related pretax costs incurred primarily in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, the
reversal of pretax charges of $0.4 million associated with the KB Toys business and a pretax non-cash
impairment charge of $0.7 million and other related charges of $0.3 million associated with the reclassification
of the Pittsfield DC as held-for-sale and the related write-down of its carrying value to fair value less selling
cost. The table below summarizes the type and amount of charges recorded as a result of the store closures
and identifies remaining obligations as of January 28, 2006:

Write-down
of Property,
Inventory, Severance Lease
and Deferred and Termination
Rent Benefits Costs Total
(In thousands)
Charges .......coveniiiiiii $ 19,600 $ 3,300 $20,700 $ 43,600
PAYIMENS ..o — (1,539) (2,499) (4,038)
Non-cash reductions ................cocviiininan.n.. (19,600) — — (19,600)
Remaining Obligations at January 28, 2006 ............ $ — $ 1,761 $18,201 $ 19,962

Asset write-downs include assets used in normal operations of retail stores and remaining unrecoverable net
book values of fixtures, equipment, and signs. The inventory write-downs above are specific to the markdowns
associated with liquidation sales conducted at the closed stores, which qualified for discontinued operations
accounting treatment. The Company records markdowns throughout the year in the normal course of business.
The markdowns associated with the liquidation sales are the only markdowns included in the table above.

Future cash outlays related to store closure obligations are anticipated to be $10.3 million in fiscal year 2006,
$5.2 million in fiscal year 2007, $3.1 million in fiscal year 2008, and $1.4 million thereafter.

Operating Expenses

The Company’s review of its operating expenses resulted in personnel reductions in the general office, field
operations, and distribution centers. Realignments of resources were made based on the store closings and
lower expected store growth in the near term. Additionally, some redundancies between the closeout store
operations and the furniture store operations were eliminated.

Merchandising

As part of a review of its merchandising strategy, the Company in fiscal year 2005: 1) closed its stand-alone
furniture stores; 2) executed a series of markdowns lowering in-store inventory levels in certain categories and
improving inventory turnover; and 3) exited the frozen food business. The Company is continuing to develop
its merchandise strategy with the goals of growing sales per square foot and increasing gross margin dollars.
The Company has performed customer research and found that brand names, treasure hunt, price, value and
savings are most important to its customers. The Company has taken this research and is working with its
existing vendors and developing relationships with new vendors to produce a merchandising plan for each
category. Certain elements of these plans will be tested and executed in fiscal year 2006. The Company will
monitor the results of these tests to modify future merchandising plans as necessary to achieve its goals.

KB Toys and Pittsfield Distribution Center Update

Although the KB Toys business emerged from bankruptcy in fiscal year 2005, the claims process associated
with the bankruptcy remains open. As a result of uncertainties associated with the continuance of the
bankruptcy claims process, the Company believes it is possible that it will continue to receive in fiscal year
2006 demands from landlords for guarantees related to the KB Lease Obligations. The Company is an
unsecured creditor of the bankruptcy trust with respect to losses it has incurred in connection with KB Lease
Obligations and is unable to estimate the timing or amount of any recovery it can expect to receive upon
resolution of these claims. Accordingly, no recoveries related to the KB Toys bankruptcy have been recorded
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by the Company. In addition, the typical KB Lease Obligation provides that the terms of the underlying lease
may be extended, amended or modified without the consent of the guarantor. The Company has concluded
that its reserve for the KB Lease Obligations is adequate at January 28, 2006. Based on the uncertainties
related to the KB Lease Obligations, the Company will continue to evaluate the adequacy of these reserves as
dictated by the facts and circumstances available to the Company at each future reporting period. In the event
additional liability arises from future defaults on the KB Lease Obligations, any related charge would be to
discontinued operations.

In fiscal year 2005, the Company initiated plans to dispose of the Pittsfield DC, which was acquired by the
Company as a result of an indemnification of a mortgage guarantee satisfied by the Company in fiscal year
2004. The property is available for immediate sale in its present condition and is actively being marketed by
a reputable broker. The Company has no intention of using this property in its current operations. As a result,
at January 28, 2006, the Pittsfield DC has been classified as held-for-sale, as defined by SFAS No. 144, and
accordingly, its carrying value at January 28, 2006 has been adjusted to its estimated fair value less applicable
selling costs, resulting in a pretax non-cash impairment charge of $0.7 million and other related charges of
$0.3 million included in loss from discontinued operations in fiscal year 2005.

As partial consideration for the sale of the KB Toys business, the Company received a 10-year note from
Havens Corners Corporation (“HCC”), a subsidiary of KB Acquisition Corporation and a party to the
bankruptcy proceedings, in the aggregate principal amount of $45.0 million (principal and interest together
known as the “HCC Note”). Upon receipt of the HCC Note in fiscal year 2000, the Company evaluated its
fair value and recorded it at an estimated fair value of $13.2 million. The note bears interest, on an in-kind
basis, at the rate of 8.0% per annum; however, the Company discontinued the accrual of interest on the

HCC Note in fiscal year 2003 as a result of the KB Toys bankruptcy. Under the KB Toys bankruptcy plan,
the Company expects to receive $0.9 million as satisfaction of the HCC Note. In fiscal year 2005, the
Company partially charged off the HCC Note in the amount of $6.4 million in order to reflect a remaining
balance receivable of $0.9 million. This partial charge off was reported in selling and administrative expenses.

For a discussion of these matters and other matters related to the KB Toys business, see Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Amendment to the 2004 Credit Agreement

On October 25, 2005, the Company and its lenders entered into an amendment to the 2004 Credit Agreement
in order to eliminate the impact on the covenant calculations of the charges related to the store closing plan
discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share Repurchase Program

On February 22, 2006, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to
$150.0 million of the Company’s common shares. The Company expects the purchases to be made from time
to time in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions with such purchases to be completed within
one year of the announcement. Common shares acquired through the repurchase program will be available for
general corporate purposes.
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Results of Operations

The following table compares components of the consolidated statements of operations of the Company as a

percentage of net sales:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003
NeEt SaleS ..ottt 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of sales ..ot _60.9 59.3 58.1
GroSS MATZIN .ottt ettt et e e e e 39.1 40.7 41.9
Selling and administrative eXpenses .. ..........eueereeeeeneeneeneenn.. 36.0 36.6 36.5
Depreciation eXPense ..............oeuuiiiniiiniiiiiiiiiiiiiiaaa 25 24 2.3
Operating Profit . .......inin it e 0.6 1.7 3.1
INEEIESt EXPENSE . . ..o ene ettt ettt 0.1 0.6 0.4
Interest INCOME ... ..ttt e e e ~(0.0) (0.0) (0.0)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes .............. 0.5 1.1 2.7
Income tax eXpense ............ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiii 01 0.3 0.5
Income from continuing operations ..................c.ooeeeeeinaen.... 0.4 0.8 2.2
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax ........................ _(0.6) (0.2) (0.2)
Net income (10SS) . ovirir i e _(0.2)% 0.6% 2.0%

The Company has historically experienced, and expects to continue to experience, seasonal fluctuations, with
a larger percentage of its net sales and operating profit being realized in the fourth fiscal quarter. In addition,
the Company’s quarterly results can be affected by the timing of new store openings and store closings, the
amount of sales contributed by new and existing stores, the timing of television and circular advertising, and
the timing of certain holidays. The Company purchases substantial amounts of inventory and incurs higher
shipping costs and higher payroll costs in the third fiscal quarter in anticipation of the increased sales activity

during the fourth fiscal quarter.

The following table sets forth the seasonality of net sales and operating profit by fiscal quarter:

First Second Third Fourth
Fiscal Year 2005
Net sales percentage of full year ................... ..., 23.5% 22.6% 22.4% 31.5%
Operating profit (loss) as a percentage of full year ................. 46.6 (66.5) (113.7) 233.6
Fiscal Year 2004
Net sales percentage of full year ..ot 23.3% 22.7% 22.4% 31.6%
Operating profit (loss) as a percentage of full year ................. 18.3 (10.3) (35.8) 127.8

Furniture Growth

During fiscal year 2005, the Company continued to add furniture departments ranging in size from 2,000 to
5,000 square feet to its closeout stores. The furniture department net sales have grown over the last ten years
to a level representing 13.5% of the Company’s net sales in fiscal year 2005 compared to 11.7% in fiscal year
2004 and 11.1% in fiscal year 2003. The Company offered a furniture assortment within 1,320 of its 1,401
existing closeout stores at the end of fiscal year 2005.

Fiscal Year 2005 Compared To Fiscal Year 2004

Net Sales

Net sales increased 6.8% to $4,429.9 million in fiscal year 2005 compared to $4,149.3 million in fiscal year
2004. This increase is due to new stores opened in fiscal years 2004 and 2005 and the comparable store sales
increase of 1.8% for fiscal year 2005. Comparable store sales are calculated by the Company using all stores
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that were open for at least two fiscal years as of the beginning of fiscal year 2005. This calculation may

not be comparable to other retailers who calculate comparable stores sales based on other methods. Fiscal
year 2005 comparable store sales were driven by a 4.6% increase in the value of the average basket partially
offset by a 2.8% decline in customer transactions. Customer transactions, which declined 2.8%, continue to
be challenging across the discount sector. From a merchandise perspective, Home, which includes furniture,
was the best performing category. As part of the Company’s merchandising initiatives, clearance markdowns,
primarily in the fourth quarter, benefited net sales and comparable store sales and were initiated to reduce
inventory levels on slower moving items or classifications.

The following table summarizes comparable store sales, customer transactions, and the value of the average
basket for fiscal year 2005 compared to fiscal year 2004:

Fiscal Year
2005 2004

Comparable store sales ...........ccooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiin.., 1.8% 0.0%
Customer tranSaCtioNS .. .........ueeurerterearenreneeneanenn.s 2.8)% (2.0)%
Value of the average basket .................c..ooiiiiL. 4.6% 2.0%

The Company internally evaluates and externally communicates overall sales and merchandise performance
based on the following key merchandising categories and believes these categories facilitate analysis of

the Company’s financial performance. Net sales by product category, net sales by product category as a
percentage of total net sales, and net sales change in dollars and percentage in fiscal year 2005 compared
to fiscal year 2004 were as follows:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 Change
($ in thousands)
Consumables ................... $1,275,851 28.8%  $1,247,207 30.1%  $ 28,644 2.3%
Home .......................... 1,333,602 30.1 1,153,297 27.8 180,305 15.6
Seasonal and toys .............. 830,526 18.7 814,661 19.6 15,865 1.9
Other ........................ 989,926 22.4 934,087 22.5 55,839 6.0
Netsales .................... $4.,429,905 100.0%  $4,149,252 100.0%  $280,653 _6.8%

The Consumables category includes sales increases in plastics, paper, and food, partially offset by a decrease
in health and beauty. The Home category includes strong performance in furniture and home decor. Seasonal
and toys includes sales increases for lawn & garden and toys, partially offset by decreases in trim-a-tree and
harvest. The Other category includes strong performances in electronics, home appliances, and tools.

Gross Margin

Gross margin dollars increased 2.6% to $1,731.7 million in fiscal year 2005 compared to $1,687.1 million in
fiscal year 2004. Gross margin as a percentage of net sales was 39.1% in fiscal year 2005 compared to 40.7%
in fiscal year 2004. This gross margin rate decline of 160 basis points was primarily due to clearance-related
markdowns, higher inbound freight costs, and certain initial markup-related cost pressures such as higher
resin-based material costs. Inbound freight costs are higher as a result of higher fuel costs and transportation
capacity constraints. The Company continues to develop its merchandising strategy focused on increasing
gross margin dollars through improved buying decisions, better pricing strategies, and a focus on improving
inventory turnover.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses increased 5.1% to $1,596.1 million in fiscal year 2005 compared to
$1,518.6 million in fiscal year 2004. Selling and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales were
36.0% in fiscal year 2005 compared to 36.6% in fiscal year 2004.

Selling and administrative expenses increased over fiscal year 2004 primarily due to costs associated with
higher levels of sales and increased carton volume. The $77.5 million increase was primarily attributable to
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increased store payroll costs of $20.9 million, increased store occupancy-related costs, including rent and
utilities, of $23.0 million, increased general office costs of $11.7 million, the partial charge-off of the HCC
Note of $6.4 million, increased advertising costs of $6.0 million, and increased distribution and transportation
costs of $5.1 million. The increase in general office is primarily resulting from an increase in wage and
benefit-related costs.

Outbound distribution and transportation costs, which were included in selling and administrative expenses
(see Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements) increased 2.3% to $223.8 million in fiscal year 2005
compared to $218.7 million in fiscal year 2004. Outbound distribution and transportation expenses as a
percentage of net sales were 5.1% in fiscal year 2005 compared to 5.3% in fiscal year 2004. The 20 basis
point decrease was primarily due to improved efficiency at the distribution centers, particularly the Durant
DC. In addition, productivity has improved at the Columbus DC after two years of re-engineering efforts.
Partially offsetting these cost savings were higher diesel fuel costs incurred on outbound freight and higher
utility costs at the distribution centers.

Depreciation Expense

Depreciation expense for fiscal year 2005 was $108.7 million compared to $99.4 million for fiscal year 2004.
The $9.3 million increase was principally related to new store growth.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased 74.6% to $6.3 million in fiscal year 2005 compared to $24.8 million in fiscal year
2004. The $18.5 million decrease in interest expense was due to the $8.9 million debt prepayment charge
incurred in fiscal year 2004 in connection with the repayment of the $204.0 million in senior notes privately
placed in 2001 (the “Senior Notes”) and the retirement of the $300.0 million secured revolving credit
agreement entered into in 2001 (the “2001 Credit Agreement”), lower average borrowings in fiscal year 2005,
and a lower effective interest rate in fiscal year 2005. The prepayment charge was incurred in order to replace
the Senior Notes, which carried a weighted-average yield of 8.2%, and the 2001 Credit Agreement with the
variable rate 2004 Credit Agreement. The weighted-average interest rate of the outstanding loans under the
2004 Credit Agreement at January 28, 2006, was 5.1%.

Income Taxes

The effective income tax rate of the continuing operations of the Company was 24.8% for fiscal year 2005
compared to 30.1% for fiscal year 2004. The rate was lower in fiscal year 2005 because of 1) proportionately
larger jurisdictional losses in entities with higher marginal income tax rates; 2) the adjustment of loss
contingencies to recognize the expiration of the statute of limitations; offset by 3) the write-down of deferred
income tax assets as a result of state tax law changes (including Ohio tax reform enacted in the second quarter
of fiscal year 2005).

The Company anticipates the fiscal year 2006 effective income tax rate to fall within a range of 36.0%
to 40.0%.

Discontinued Operations

The Company recorded a pretax loss of $41.7 million from discontinued operations in fiscal year 2005
compared to a pretax loss of $13.0 million in fiscal year 2004. The Company’s results of discontinued
operations in fiscal year 2005 include pretax losses in the amount of $41.1 million as the result of 130 stores
reported in discontinued operations in fiscal year 2005 which include $43.6 million of exit-related pretax costs
incurred primarily in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, the reversal of pretax charges of $0.4 million
associated with the KB Toys business and pretax charges of $1.0 million associated with the reclassification
of the Pittsfield DC as held-for-sale and the related write-down of its carrying value to fair value less selling
cost. The Company’s discontinued operations in fiscal year 2004 relate to pretax losses in the amount of

$1.7 million as the result of the 130 stores reported in discontinued operations and pretax charges of

$11.3 million associated with the KB Toys business.
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Fiscal Year 2004 Compared To Fiscal Year 2003

Net Sales

Net sales increased 5.2% to $4,149.3 million in fiscal year 2004 compared to $3,942.7 million in fiscal year
2003. The Company attributes this increase principally to new store growth as comparable store sales were flat
for fiscal year 2004. Comparable store sales consisted of a 2.0% increase in the value of the average basket
driven by strong gains in hardlines and home décor departments, as well as the addition of 224 new furniture
departments. Average basket gains were offset by a 2.0% decrease in the number of customer transactions,
which the Company believes was principally the result of the impact that macro economic pressure of higher
prices for gas, home heating oil, and other commodities had on the Company’s core customer.

The following table summarizes comparable store sales, customer transactions, and the value of the average
basket for fiscal year 2004 compared to fiscal year 2003:

Fiscal Year
2004 2003

Comparable store sales ............c.ociiiiiiiiiiiiiiinin... 0.0% 3.4%
Customer tranSacCtions .. ..........oeeureneerearenneneeneanenn.n 2.0% 1.7%
Value of the average basket ........................o 2.0% 1.7%

Net sales by product category, net sales by product category as a percentage of total net sales, and the net
sales change in dollars and percentage in fiscal year 2004 compared to fiscal year 2003 were as follows:

Fiscal Year

2004 2003 Change
($ in thousands)
Consumables ................... $1,247,207 30.1%  $1,196,414 30.3% $ 50,793 4.2%
Home ............cocooiiiiint 1,153,297 27.8 1,046,617 26.6 106,680 10.2
Seasonal and toys .............. 814,661 19.6 819,004 20.8 (4,343) 0.5)
Other ..........covviviiiinn.. 934,087 22.5 880,618 22.3 53,469 6.1
Net Sales ..vvnereennnenn... $4,149252  100.0%  $3.942,653  100.0%  $206,599 5.2%

The Consumables category includes sales increases in food, health and beauty, paper, and pet. The Home
category includes strong performance in furniture, domestics, and stationery. Seasonal and toys includes sales
weakness in holiday-oriented departments partially offset by growth in toys and lawn & garden. The Other
category includes sales increases in electronics, home appliances, and jewelry partially offset by a decrease
in apparel.

Gross Margin

Gross margin dollars increased 2.2% to $1,687.1 million in fiscal year 2004 compared to $1,650.5 million
in fiscal year 2003. Gross margin as a percentage of net sales was 40.7% in fiscal year 2004 compared to
41.9% in fiscal year 2003. This gross margin rate decline of 120 basis points was primarily due to lower
sales in higher margin merchandise, such as holiday-oriented departments in Seasonal and toys, an increased
markdown rate due to a flat comparable store sales and the need for additional markdowns on seasonally-
sensitive categories, giftable items with low sell-through rates, and selected discontinued styles in furniture.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses increased 5.5% to $1,518.6 million in fiscal year 2004 compared to
$1,439.4 million in fiscal year 2003. Selling and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales were
36.6% in fiscal year 2004 compared to 36.5% in fiscal year 2003.

Selling and administrative expenses increased over fiscal year 2003 primarily due to an increase in the number
of stores, costs associated with higher levels of sales, and increased carton volume. The $79.2 million increase
was primarily attributable to increased store payroll costs of $23.5 million, increased distribution and
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transportation costs of $19.9 million, and increased store occupancy-related costs, including rent and utilities,
of $26.2 million.

Outbound distribution and transportation costs, which were included in selling and administrative expenses
increased 10.0% to $218.7 million in fiscal year 2004 compared to $198.8 million in fiscal year 2003.
Outbound distribution and transportation expenses as a percentage of net sales were 5.3% in fiscal year 2004
compared to 5.0% in fiscal year 2003. The 30 basis point increase was primarily due to the de-leveraging
impact of the Durant DC in its first year, rising fuel rates, and increased one-way carrier rates as a result of
the revised driver hours of service regulations.

Depreciation Expense

Depreciation expense for fiscal year 2004 was $99.4 million compared to $89.0 million for fiscal year 2003.
The $10.4 million increase was principally related to new store growth, store remodels, and the opening of the
Durant DC during the first quarter of 2004.

Interest Expense

Interest expense, including the amortization of obligation issuance costs, increased 51.2% to $24.8 million in
fiscal year 2004 compared to $16.4 million in fiscal year 2003. The $8.4 million increase in interest expense
was due to the $8.9 million debt prepayment charge incurred in connection with the early repayment of the
Senior Notes and the 2001 Credit Agreement. This prepayment charge was incurred in order to replace the
Senior Notes, which carried a weighted-average yield of 8.2%, and the 2001 Credit Agreement with the
variable rate 2004 Credit Agreement. The weighted-average interest rate on the outstanding loans under the
2004 Credit Agreement at January 29, 2005 was 3.2%.

Income Taxes

The effective income tax rate of the continuing operations of the Company was 30.1% for fiscal year 2004
compared to 19.5% for fiscal year 2003. The rate was substantially lower in fiscal year 2003 because of the
reversal in fiscal year 2003 of a $15.0 million deferred tax asset valuation allowance related to the partial
charge-off of the HCC Note.

In November 2003, the Internal Revenue Service issued Revenue Ruling 2003-112 which clarified the
definition of eligible employees for purposes of the Welfare to Work and Work Opportunity tax credits.

The Company has filed protective refund claims for its fiscal years 1994 through 2001 based on this ruling.
Claims for fiscal years 2002 and 2003 will be filed at a later date but prior to the expiration of the statute
of limitations. Because of the contingent nature of this claim, no tax benefit has been recorded for this item.

Discontinued Operations

Discontinued operations resulted in a pretax loss of $13.0 million in fiscal year 2004 compared to a pretax
loss of $17.8 million in fiscal year 2003. The Company’s discontinued operations in fiscal year 2004 include
pretax losses in the amount of $1.7 million for the results of 130 stores reported in discontinued operations
and pretax charges of $11.3 million associated with the KB Toys business. The Company’s discontinued
operations in fiscal year 2003 include pretax income in the amount of $6.6 million for the results of the

130 stores reported in discontinued operations and pretax charges of $24.4 million associated with the

KB Toys business.

Capital Resources and Liquidity

Capital Resources

On October 29, 2004, the Company entered into the 2004 Credit Agreement which is scheduled to mature on
October 28, 2009. The proceeds of the 2004 Credit Agreement are available for general corporate purposes,
working capital, and to repay certain indebtedness of the Company, including all amounts that were
outstanding under the 2001 Credit Agreement and the Senior Notes. The pricing and fees related to the
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2004 Credit Agreement fluctuate based on the Company’s debt rating. Loans made under the 2004 Credit
Agreement may be prepaid by the Company without penalty. The 2004 Credit Agreement contains financial
and other covenants, including, but not limited to, limitations on indebtedness, liens, and investments, as well
as the maintenance of two financial ratios — a leverage ratio and a fixed charge coverage ratio. A violation of
these covenants could result in a default under the 2004 Credit Agreement, which would permit the lenders to
restrict the Company’s ability to further access the 2004 Credit Agreement for loans and letters of credit, and
require the immediate repayment of any outstanding loans under the 2004 Credit Agreement. On October 25,
2005, the Company and the lenders entered into an amendment to the 2004 Credit Agreement in order to
eliminate the impact on the covenant calculations of the charges related to the store closings discussed in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. The Company was in compliance with its amended financial
covenants under the 2004 Credit Agreement at January 28, 2006.

The 2004 Credit Agreement permits, at the Company’s option, borrowings at various interest rate options based
on the prime rate or London InterBank Offering Rate plus applicable margin. The 2004 Credit Agreement also
permits, as applicable, borrowings at various interest rate options mutually agreed upon by the Company and
the lenders. The weighted average interest rate of the outstanding loans at January 28, 2006, was 5.1%. The
Company typically repays and/or borrows on a daily basis in accordance with the terms of the 2004 Credit
Agreement. The daily activity is a net result of the Company’s liquidity position, which is generally affected
by: 1) cash inflows such as store cash and other miscellaneous deposits; and 2) cash outflows such as check
clearings, wire and other electronic transactions, and other miscellaneous disbursements.

In addition to revolving credit loans, the 2004 Credit Agreement includes a $30.0 million swing loan sub-
limit, a $50.0 million bid loan sub-limit, and a $150.0 million letter of credit sub-limit. At January 28, 2006,
the total borrowings outstanding under the 2004 Credit Agreement were $5.5 million, all in swing loans. The
borrowings available under the 2004 Credit Agreement, after taking into account the reduction of availability
resulting from outstanding letters of credit totaling $65.0 million, were $429.5 million at January 28, 2006.

The Company utilizes its credit facility primarily to manage ongoing and seasonal working capital. Given
the seasonality of the Company’s business, the amount of borrowings under the 2004 Credit Agreement may
fluctuate materially depending on various factors, including the time of year and the Company’s need to
acquire merchandise inventory. The Company anticipates borrowings and letters of credit through the end
of May 2006 to range between $50.0 million and $75.0 million, excluding any impact resulting from the
execution of the $150.0 million share repurchase authorized by the Board of Directors in February 2006.

Liquidity

The primary source of liquidity for the Company is cash flows from operations and, as necessary, borrowings
under the 2004 Credit Agreement. At January 28, 2006, working capital was $557.2 million.

Cash provided by operating activities was $213.0 million during fiscal year 2005 and resulted primarily

from net loss of $(10.1) million, depreciation and amortization expense of $114.6 million and a decrease in
net assets of $102.1 million over fiscal year 2004. The $102.1 million decrease in net assets was primarily a
result of lower inventory of $58.9 million, higher accounts payable of $11.7 million, higher accrued operating
expenses of $22.0 million, and higher other liabilities of $25.0 million. The reduction in inventory is primarily
a result of fewer stores open at the end of fiscal year 2005 compared to prior year and the impact of the
markdown clearance sales. The higher accrued operating expenses are primarily due to the increased current
portion of lease obligation resulting from the closure of certain stores before their full lease term expired. The
increase in other liabilities is primarily due to the non-current portion of the lease obligation associated with
the closed stores and an increase in the non-current portion of insurance reserves for workers’ compensation
and general liability.

Cash provided by operating activities was $71.3 million during fiscal year 2004 and resulted primarily from
net income of $23.8 million and depreciation and amortization expense of $101.9 million partially offset by
an increase in net assets of $70.0 million. The impact of closing the underperforming stores and the series of
markdowns taken on slower moving inventory had the effect of significantly strengthening the Company’s
balance sheet in fiscal year 2005 compared to fiscal year 2004.

24



Cash used in investing activities of $66.7 million in fiscal year 2005 and $127.8 million in fiscal year 2004
was primarily related to capital expenditures of $68.5 million and $135.3 million in each of the respective
fiscal years. Capital expenditures in fiscal year 2005 were primarily due to opening 73 new stores. Capital
expenditures in fiscal year 2004 were primarily driven by the re-engineering of the Columbus DC, remodeling
66 existing stores, and opening 103 new stores. Capital expenditure requirements in fiscal year 2006 are
anticipated to range between $50 million and $55 million, focused on maintaining existing property and
equipment along with a limited number of new store openings and information technology enhancements.

Cash used in financing activities was $147.1 million in fiscal year 2005 and related primarily to the net
repayment of borrowings outstanding under the 2004 Credit Agreement. Cash used in financing activities
was $115.0 million in fiscal year 2004 including net repayments of debt of $44.8 million and acquisition of
treasury stock costing $75.0 million. The Company announced a share repurchase program of $150.0 million
on February 22, 2006, which it expects to complete within one year of the announcement. The amount of the
repurchase program was based in part on the level of cash provided by operations in fiscal year 2005.

The Company continues to believe that it has, or, if necessary, has the ability to obtain adequate resources to
fund ongoing operating requirements and future capital expenditures. Additionally, management is not aware
of any current trends, events, demands, commitments, or uncertainties which reasonably can be expected to
have a material impact on the Company’s capital resources or liquidity.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes payments due under the Company’s contractual obligations at January 28, 2006:

Payments Due by Period

Less than More than
1 year 1 to 3 years 3 to S years 5 years Total
(In thousands)
Long-term debt obligations ® .................... $ — — $ 5500 $ — $ 5,500
Operating lease obligations @ @ ... .. ... ... .. 265,320 430,184 255895 177,211 1,128,610
Purchase obligations @ .. .. ... 560,629 189,920 86,631 120,007 957,187
Total contractual obligations @ ................ $825,949  $620,104  $348,026  $297,218 $2,091,297

(1) The disclosure of contractual obligations in this table is based on assumptions and estimates that the
Company believes to be reasonable as of the date of this report. Those assumptions and estimates may
prove to be inaccurate; consequently, the amounts provided in the table may differ materially from those
amounts that the Company ultimately incurs. Variables that may cause the stated amounts to vary from
those actually incurred include, but are not limited to: the termination of a contractual obligation prior to
its stated or anticipated expiration; fees or damages incurred as a result of the premature termination or
breach of a contractual obligation; the acquisition of more or less services or goods under a contractual
obligation than are anticipated by the Company as of the date of this report; fluctuations in third party
fees, governmental charges or market rates that the Company is obligated to pay under contracts it has
with certain vendors; and the exercise of renewal options under or the automatic renewal of contracts that
provide for the same.

(2) Long-term debt obligations consist of the total borrowings outstanding under the 2004 Credit Agreement.
Borrowings under the 2004 Credit Agreement are permitted under various interest rate options based on
the prime rate or London InterBank Offering Rate plus applicable margin, as well as borrowings at
various interest rate options mutually agreed upon by the Company and the lenders. The Company also
had outstanding letters of credit totaling $65.0 million at January 28, 2006. Approximately $57.2 million
of the outstanding letters of credit represent stand-by letters of credit and the Company does not expect
to meet conditions requiring significant cash payments on these letters of credit; accordingly, they have
been excluded from the preceding table. The remaining outstanding letters of credit represent commercial
letters of credit whereby the related obligation is included in Purchase Obligations. The table assumes
that the 2004 Credit Agreement is paid at maturity. For a further discussion, see Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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(3) Operating lease obligations include, among other items, leases for the Company’s retail stores, warehouse
space, offices, and certain office equipment. The future minimum commitments for store, warechouse
space, and office operating leases are $824.3 million. For a discussion of leases, see Note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements. Many of the store lease obligations require the Company to pay for
CAM, real estate taxes, and property insurance. The Company estimates that future obligations for CAM,
real estate taxes, and property insurance are $280.6 million at January 28, 2006. The Company has made
certain assumptions and estimates in order to account for its contractual obligations relative to CAM,
real estate taxes, and property insurance. Those assumptions and estimates include, but are not limited
to: extrapolation of historical data to estimate the Company’s future obligations; calculation of the
Company’s obligations based on per square foot averages where no historical data is available for
a particular leasehold; and assumptions related to certain increases over historical data where the
Company’s obligation is a prorated share of all lessees’ obligations within a particular property. The
remaining $23.7 million relates primarily to the operating leases of certain office equipment with
remaining terms of less than one year or a month-to-month basis.

(4) For purposes of the operating lease and purchase obligation disclosures, the Company has assumed that it
will make all payments scheduled or reasonably estimated to be made under those obligations that have a
determinable expiration date, and the Company disregarded the possibility that such obligations may be
prematurely terminated or extended, whether automatically by the terms of the obligation or by agreement
of the Company and its vendor, due to the speculative nature of premature termination or extension. Where
an operating lease or purchase obligation is subject to a month-to-month term or another automatically
renewing term, the Company disclosed its minimum commitment under such obligation, such as one month
in the case of a month-to-month obligation and the then-current term in the case of another automatically
renewing term, due to the uncertainty of the length of the eventual term.

(5) Purchase obligations include outstanding purchase orders for retail merchandise issued in the ordinary
course of the Company’s business that are valued at $389.5 million, the entirety of which represents
obligations due within one year of January 28, 2006. Purchase obligations also include a commitment for
future inventory purchases totaling $263.3 million at January 28, 2006. While the Company is not required
to meet any periodic minimum purchase requirements under this commitment, for purposes of this tabular
disclosure, the Company has included the value of the purchases that it anticipates making during each
of the reported periods, as purchases will count toward its fulfillment of the aggregate obligation. The
remaining $304.4 million is primarily related to distribution and transportation commitments.

(6) The obligations disclosed in this table are exclusive of the contingent liabilities, guarantees, and indemnities
related to KB Toys. For further discussion, see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of January 28, 2006, the Company has approximately 167 KB Lease Obligations. The relevant guarantees
were issued prior to January 1, 2003, and are not subject to the fair value recognition provisions of Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 45. The typical KB Lease Obligation provides

that the terms of the underlying lease may be extended, amended, or modified without the consent of the
guarantor. As a result, the Company is unable to estimate any potential range of loss in the event of non-
performance or non-performance by KB Toys, as applicable. See Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion of KB Toys matters.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“GAAP”), requires management to make estimates, judgments, and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period, as well as the related disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. On an on-going basis, management evaluates its
estimates and judgments, including those related to inventories, long-lived assets, insurance reserves, income
taxes, contingencies, leases, and pension. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical
experience, current trends, and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the

26



circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Management has discussed the development and
selection of its critical accounting policies and estimates with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors
and believes the following assumptions and estimates are the most critical to reporting its results of operations
and financial position. See Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information about the
Company’s accounting policies.

Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market using the average cost retail inventory
method. Market is determined based on the estimated net realizable value, which generally is the merchandise
selling price. Under the average cost retail inventory method, inventory is segregated into departments of
merchandise having similar characteristics, at its current retail selling value. Inventory retail selling values

are converted to a cost basis by applying specific average cost factors for each merchandise department.

Cost factors represent the average cost-to-retail ratio for each merchandise department based on beginning
inventory and the fiscal year purchase activity. The average cost retail inventory method requires management
to make judgments and contains estimates, such as the amount and timing of markdowns to clear unproductive
or slow-moving inventory, which may impact the ending inventory valuation and gross margin. These
assumptions are based on historical experience and current information.

Permanent markdowns are recorded as a gross margin reduction in the period of management’s decision
to initiate price reductions with the intent not to return the price to regular retail. Promotional markdowns
are recorded as a gross margin reduction in the period the merchandise is sold. Factors considered in the
determination of markdowns include current and anticipated demand, customer preferences, age of the
merchandise, and seasonal trends.

Shrinkage is recorded as a reduction to inventories and gross margin and is estimated as a percentage of sales
for the period from the last physical inventory date to the end of the reporting period. Such estimates are
based on the Company’s actual experience and the Company’s most recent physical inventory results. While
it is not possible to quantify the impact from each cause of shrinkage, the Company has loss prevention
programs and policies that it believes minimize shrinkage.

Long-Lived Assets

Depreciation and amortization expense of property and equipment are recorded on a straight-line basis using
estimated service lives. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis using the shorter of
their estimated service lives or the lease term. When a decision has been made to dispose of property and
equipment prior to the end of the previously estimated service life, depreciation estimates are revised to reflect
the use of the asset over the shortened estimated service life. The cost of assets sold or retired and the related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts with any resulting gain or loss included in net
income. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Major repairs that extend service lives
are capitalized.

The estimated service lives by major asset category are as follows:

Land improvements .............ooiiiiiiniiiiiieiniianann.n. 15 years
Buildings and leasehold improvements ...................... 5-40 years
Fixtures and equipment ..............c.iiuiiiniiniininnenn.n. 5-15 years
Computer SOftware COStS .......ouvuviniereinniiennenanne. 5 years
Transportation equipment ...............c.oeeieineenennenn.n. 3-20 years

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. If the undiscounted future cash flows from the long-
lived asset are less than the carrying value, the Company recognizes a loss equal to the difference between the
carrying value and the fair value of the asset. The Company’s assumptions related to valuation of long-lived
assets include, but are not limited to, management’s plans for future operations, recent operating results, and
projected cash flows. The Company estimates the fair value of its long-lived assets using readily available
market information for similar assets.

27



When material, the Company classifies the results of operations of closed stores as discontinued operations
when the operations and cash flows of the stores have been (or will be) eliminated from ongoing operations
and the Company no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the operations associated with the
stores after closure. The Company generally meets the second criteria on all closed stores as, upon closure,
operations cease and the Company has no continuing involvement. To determine if cash flows have been (or
will be) eliminated from ongoing operations, the Company evaluates a number of qualitative and quantitative
factors, including, but not limited to, proximity to remaining open stores and estimates of sales migration
from the closed store to any stores remaining open. The estimated sales migration is based on the Company’s
historical estimates of sales migration upon opening a new store in a similar market. For purposes of
reporting the operations of stores meeting the criteria for discontinued operations, the Company reports

net sales, gross margin, and related operating costs that are directly related to and specifically identifiable
with respect to those stores’ operations as discontinued operations. Certain corporate-level charges, such as
general office cost, field operations, national advertising, fixed distribution costs, and interest cost, are not
allocated to discontinued operations because the Company believes that these costs are not specific to the
stores’ operations.

Insurance Reserves

The Company is self-insured for certain losses relating to property, general liability, workers’ compensation,
and employee medical and dental benefit claims, a portion of which is paid by employees. The Company has
purchased stop-loss coverage to limit significant exposure in these areas. Accrued insurance liabilities and
related expenses are based on actual claims filed and estimates of claims incurred but not reported. The
estimated accruals are determined by applying actuarially-based calculations taking into account known trends
and projections of future results. General liability and workers’ compensation liabilities are recorded at the
Company’s estimate of their net present value while other liabilities for insurance reserves are not discounted.
Actual future claims experience can impact these calculations and, to the extent that subsequent claim costs
vary from estimates, future earnings could be impacted materially.

Income Taxes

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes and related accruals and
deferred tax assets and liabilities. In the ordinary course of business, there are transactions and calculations
where the ultimate tax outcome is uncertain. Additionally, the Company’s tax returns are subject to audit by
various tax authorities. Although the Company believes that its estimates are reasonable, actual results could
differ from these estimates resulting in a final tax outcome that may be materially different from that which
is reflected in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Contingencies

The Company is subject to various claims and contingencies including legal actions, lease termination
obligations on closed stores, lease indemnification obligations on KB Toys stores, and other claims arising out
of the normal course of business. In connection with such claims and contingencies, the Company estimates
the likelihood and amounts of any potential obligation using management’s judgment. Management uses
subject matter experts including various internal and external experts to assist in the estimating process;
however, the ultimate outcome of the various claims and contingencies could be materially different from
management’s estimates, and adjustments to income could be required. With respect to the lease termination
obligations and lease indemnification obligations, the Company considers the remaining minimum lease
payments, estimated sublease rentals that could be reasonably obtained, and other potentially mitigating
factors. In addition, as market conditions or other factors change, the estimate of the obligations could be
materially different. The Company continually evaluates the adequacy of its recorded obligations for claims
and contingences based on current information, including settlement amounts of individual lease obligations
compared to recorded contractual obligations. The Company accrues a liability if the likelihood of an adverse
outcome is probable and the amount is estimable. If the likelihood of an adverse outcome is only reasonably
possible (as opposed to probable), or if it is probable but an estimate is not determinable, disclosure of a
material claim or contingency is made in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,

28



because it is not permissible to establish a litigation reserve until the loss is both probable and estimable, in
some cases there may be insufficient time to establish a reserve prior to the actual incurrence of the loss (upon
verdict and judgment at trial, for example, or in the case of a quickly negotiated settlement).

Lease Accounting

Rent expense is recognized over the term of the lease. The Company recognizes minimum rent starting when
possession of the property is taken from the landlord, which normally includes a construction period prior to
store opening. When a lease contains a predetermined fixed escalation of the minimum rent, the Company
recognizes the related rent expense on a straight-line basis and records the difference between the recognized
rental expense and the amounts payable under the lease as deferred incentive rent. The Company also receives
tenant allowances, which are recorded in deferred rent and are amortized as a reduction to rent expense over
the term of the lease.

Certain leases provide for contingent rents that are not measurable at inception. Contingent rent includes rent
based on a percentage of sales that are in excess of a predetermined level. Contingent rent is excluded from
minimum rent and is included in the determination of total rent expense when it is probable that the expense
has been incurred and the amount is reasonably estimable.

Pension

Pension assumptions are evaluated each year. Outside actuaries are used to provide assistance in calculating
the estimated obligations for pension. The Company reviews external data and historical trends to help
determine the discount rate and expected long-term rate of return. The Company’s objective in selecting a
discount rate is to identify the best estimate of the rate at which the benefit obligations would be settled on
the measurement date. In making this estimate, the Company reviews rates of return on high-quality, fixed-
income investments currently available and expected to be available during the period to maturity of the
benefits. This process includes a review of the bonds available on the measurement date with a quality rating
of Aa or better. To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets, the Company considered the
historical returns and the future expectations for returns for each asset class, as well as the current or
anticipated future allocation of the pension portfolio. The discount rate used to determine the net periodic
pension cost for fiscal year 2005 was 5.7%. A 0.5% decrease in the discount rate would increase net periodic
pension cost by $0.2 million. The long-term rate of return on assets used to determine net periodic pension
cost in fiscal year 2005 was 8.5%. A 1.0% decrease in the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
would increase the net periodic pension cost by $0.5 million.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, which requires an entity to
measure the cost of services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date
fair value of the award using an option-pricing model. The cost of the awards, including the related tax
effects, will be recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. This statement eliminates the
alternative to use the intrinsic value method for valuing share-based compensation, which typically resulted in
recognition of no compensation cost. On April 15, 2005, the SEC issued Release No. 33-8568, which
amended the effective date for SFAS No. 123(R), to the first interim or annual period of the first fiscal year
beginning after June 15, 2005, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R) as of
January 29, 2006, using the modified prospective method of adoption, in which compensation cost is
recognized for all awards granted subsequent to the date of adoption of this statement as well as for the
unvested portion of awards outstanding as of the effective date.

Because the Company previously accounted for options issued under the Company’s incentive plans under the
intrinsic value method permitted under Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees, the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) is expected to have a significant impact on the
Company’s results of operations, although it will have no impact on the Company’s overall financial position.
The impact of SFAS No. 123(R) cannot be accurately estimated at this time, as it will depend on the market
value and amount of share-based awards granted in future periods. However, had the Company adopted
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SFAS No. 123(R) in a prior period, the impact would approximate the impact of SFAS No. 123 as described
in the disclosure of pro forma net income and earnings per share. SFAS No. 123(R) also requires that tax
benefits received in excess of compensation cost be reclassified from cash provided by operating activities to
cash used in financing activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows. This change in classification
will reduce net operating cash flows and increase net financing cash flows in the periods after adoption for
any excess tax benefits realized. While the amount of this change cannot be estimated at this time, the amount
of operating cash flows recognized in prior periods for such excess tax deductions was not significant in fiscal
years 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

See Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the acceleration of vesting on certain
stock options in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005.

In March 2005, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 47 (“FIN 47”), Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations, which is effective no later than the end of fiscal years ending after December 15,
2005. FIN 47 clarifies that the term conditional asset retirement obligation as used in SFAS No. 143,
Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations, refers to a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement
activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a retirement activity is
unconditional even though uncertainty exists about the timing and/or method of settlement. Thus, the timing
and/or method of settlement may be conditional on a future event. Accordingly, an entity is required to
recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair value of the
liability can be reasonably estimated. The fair value of a liability for the conditional asset retirement
obligation should be recognized when incurred, generally upon acquisition, constructions, or development
and/or through the normal operation of the asset. Uncertainty about the timing and/or method of settlement
of a conditional asset retirement obligation should be factored into the measurement of the liability when
sufficient information exists. SFAS No. 143 acknowledges that in some cases, sufficient information may
not be available to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. FIN 47 also clarifies
when an entity would have sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement
obligation. The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 47 during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005,
and this adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Commitments

For a discussion of commitments, refer to Note 2, Note 4, Note 5, and Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company is subject to market risk from exposure to changes in interest rates associated with the 2004
Credit Agreement. The Company had no fixed rate long-term debt at January 28, 2006. The Company does
not expect changes in interest rates in fiscal year 2006 to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity; however, there can be no assurances that interest rates
will not materially change. The Company does not believe that a hypothetical adverse change of 10% in
interest rates would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations,
or liquidity.

The Company purchases approximately 30.6% of its product directly from overseas suppliers, all of which are
purchased in U.S. dollars.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Report Of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors of Big Lots, Inc.
Columbus, Ohio

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting included in Item 9A, that Big Lots, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company’)
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of January 28, 2006, based on criteria established
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and
effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion
or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented
or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over
financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of January 28, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of January 28, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year
ended January 28, 2006, of the Company and our report dated April 13, 2006, expressed an unqualified opinion
on those financial statements and financial statement schedule.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Dayton, Ohio
April 13, 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors of Big Lots, Inc.
Columbus, Ohio

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Big Lots, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 28,
2006. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)2. These
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Big Lots, Inc. and subsidiaries at January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 28, 2006, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our
opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of January 28,
2006, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated April 13, 2006, expressed an
unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Dayton, Ohio
April 13, 2006
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BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003

INEt SALES ..ottt e e e $4,429,905 $4,149,252 $3,942,653
Cost 0f SAleS ...t 2,698,239 2,462,114 2,292,123
Gross MATZIN . .o.vntet ettt et 1,731,666 1,687,138 1,650,530
Selling and administrative eXpenses .............c..c.eeueen... 1,596,136 1,518,589 1,439,444
Depreciation @XPense ............oeeeeeininineriinenenaiain.n. 108,657 99,362 88,960
Operating profit .........oieiii i 26,873 69,187 122,126
INEEIest EXPENSE ... vuettt ittt e 6,272 24,845 16,443
Interest iNCOME ..ottt e (313) (618) (1,061)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes ..... 20,914 44,960 106,744
Income tax eXpense ............ooeuiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 5,189 13,528 20,833
Income from continuing operations .......................... 15,725 31,432 85,911
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax benefit of

$15,886, $5,313, and $12,103 in fiscal years 2005, 2004,

and 2003, respectively ... (25,813) (7,669) (5,691)
Net income (10SS) . ..vvininieie e e e $ (10,088) $ 23,763 $ 80,220
Income (loss) per common share — basic:

Continuing OPerations ...............eeeeerneeeenneeeennn.. $ 0.14 $ 0.28 $ 0.74

Discontinued operations ...............coeieiiiiiiiniinin... (0.23) (0.07) (0.05)

$ (0.09) $ 0.21 $ 0.69

Income (loss) per common share — diluted:
Continuing OPErations ...........e..eeuueeuneerneeeneennnns $ 0.14 $ 0.27 $ 0.73
Discontinued operations .................coiiiiiiiiiii.... (0.23) (0.06) (0.05)

$ (009 $ 021 $ 068

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except par value)

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ............ .. .. .. . i,
INVENtOTICS ...t
Deferred iNCOME taAXES .. ..vuinentet et iia e eiaanns
Other CUITENE @SSELS ... ...ttt ettt e e et

Total CUITENt ASSELS .. .v vttt ettt e e e e

Property and equipment — NEt ...ttt
Deferred inCOME taXES . .....iiutiriit ittt et
ONET @SSELS . vttt ettt et e e e e e

TOtal ASSELS . vttt

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable ...
Property, payroll, and other taxes ................coiiiiiiiiiiiiiii.
Accrued Operating €XpenSeS ............eeueeneinernerneneaaae.
INSUranCe IESEIVES .........iuuiiint ittt
KB lease obligation ............cuvuiininiiiin i
Accrued salaries and Wages .............iiiiii i
Other current liabilities ...

Total current liabilities .............coiuiiriir it

Long-term Obliations .........euiuettinin ettt
Deferred rent . .......ooiii e
INSUTANCE TESEIVES ..ottt ettt ettt et e
Other Habilities ........oiui i e e e
Shareholders’ equity:

Preferred shares — authorized 2,000 shares; $0.01 par value;

0 T0) 4 T T3] 15T
Common shares — authorized 298,000 shares; $0.01 par value;

issued 117,495 shares; outstanding 113,932 shares and 112,780

shares, 1eSpectiVely .......oonininir
Treasury shares — 3,563 shares and 4,715 shares, respectively, at cost ..
Unearned COMPENSAION .. ..tntnettt ettt e e eeeeaeanns
Additional paid-in capital .......... ..o
Retained arnings ...........c.oeuiiniinii i

Total shareholders’ equity ...........c.ooeiiiiiiiiiininiinennennes
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity .............c.ocoviuiinien.e

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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January 28,

January 29,

2006 2005
$ 1,710 $ 2521
836,092 895,016
78,539 73,845
77,413 63,400
993,754 1,034,782
584,083 648,741
18,609 12,820
29,051 37,241
$1,625,497 $1,733,584
$ 161,470 $ 149,777
106,858 102,118
68,752 58,792
46,474 45,255
27,205 32,498
25,171 20,860
593 3,213
436,523 412,513
5,500 159,200
42,288 39,533
42,037 35,955
20,425 10,893
1,175 1,175
(48,294) (64,029)
2,114) (1,814)
470,677 472,790
657,280 667,368
1,078,724 1,075,490
$1,625,497 $1,733,584




BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Balance — February 1, 2003 ..........
Netincome ........................n
Exercise of stock options and related
tax effects .............. ... ...
Common shares used for matching
contributions to savings plan ........
Treasury shares acquired for deferred
compensation plan .................

Balance — January 31, 2004 ..........
Netincome .............ccooiuveennn.
Exercise of stock options and related

tax effects ............... ...
Common shares used for matching

contributions to savings plan ........
Treasury shares used for deferred

compensation plan .................
Purchases of common shares ...........
Treasury share issuances for

stock options . ........ ... ...
Restricted shares awarded .............
Stock-based employee

compensation expense ..............

Balance — January 29, 2005 ..........
Netloss ...t
Exercise of stock options and related

tax effects ......... ... L.
Treasury shares used for matching

contributions to savings plan ........
Treasury shares used for deferred

compensation plan .................
Restricted shares awarded, net

of forfeitures ......................
Stock-based employee

compensation expense ..............

Balance — January 28, 2006 ..........

(In thousands)

Additional
Common Treasury Unearned Paid-In  Retained
Shares Amount Shares Amount Compensation Capital Earnings Total
115,844 $1,162 321 $ (2,502) $ — $458,043 $563,385 $1,020,088
— — — — — — 80,220 80,220
327 3 — — — 4,136 — 4,139
435 4 — — — 4,561 — 4,565
(12) — 12 (233) — — — (233)
116,594 1,169 333 (2,735) — 466,740 643,605 1,108,779
— — — — — 23,763 23,763
252 3 — — 1,797 — 1,800
316 3 — — — 4,764 — 4,767
74 — (74) 216 — — — 216
(5,427) — 5,427 (75,000) — — — (75,000)
799 — (799 11,113 — — — 11,113
172 —  (172) 2,377 (1,866) (511) — —
— — — — 52 — — 52
112,780 1,175 4,715 (64,029) (1,814) 472,790 667,368 1,075,490
— — — — —_ —  (10,088) (10,088)
600 —  (600) 8,292 — (1,006) — 7,286
447 —  (447) 6,173 — (1,001) — 5,172
15 — (15) 26 — 41) — (15)
90 — (90) 1,244 (1,017) (227) — —
— — — — 717 162 — 879
113,932 $1,175 3,563 $(48,294)  $(2,114) $470,677 $657,280 $1,078,724

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

36

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003
Operating activities:
Net income (10SS) .« ..ottt e $ (10,088) $ 23,763 $ 80,220
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization eXpense ...................... 114,617 101,917 92,407
Deferred income taxes ............c..iiiiiiiiiiiiiiii (10,483) (826) 4,471)
Loss on disposition of equipment ....................... ... 1,414 4,063 2,471
Employee benefits paid with common shares ................ 5,172 4,767 4,565
Partial charge-off of HCC Note .................cooiiiiiinnn 6,389 — 9,598
KB Toys Matters . ........couueeuueiinienueinieeneennnenns — 6,648 9,720
Non-cash share-based compensation expense ................ 879 52 —
Non-cash impairment charges .....................ccoooin.. 2,674 — —
Other ... 269 908 435
Change in assets and liabilities:
INVENtOrIes ...ttt 58,924 (65,447) (53,359)
Other current assetS ...........oeeiiiieeeeeneeeeennnnnn.. (8,623) (5,948) (405)
Other @sSetS ...ttt e (4,242) (8,633) (3,338)
Accounts payable ......... 11,693 (12,107) 42,071
Other current liabilities ............ ... ... ..., (2,620) (7,259) (11,837)
Accrued operating €Xpenses .. ... .......eiieeiniiieeean. 21,985 9,548 (18,827)
Other liabilities ............ciiiiiiii i 25,005 19,815 39,569
Net cash provided by operating activities ............... 212,965 71,261 188,819
Investing activities:
Capital expenditures . ............oiueimniimiineenieennnennn (68,503) (135,291) (170,175)
Purchase of short-term investments ............................ — (115,125) (7,500)
Redemption of short-term investments ......................... — 122,625 —
Cash proceeds from sale of equipment ........................ 1,844 245 108
Other .. (43) (210) (324)
Net cash used in investing activities .................... (66,702) (127,756) (177,891)
Financing activities:
Proceeds from long-term obligations .......................... 2,325,300 1,448,200 305,000
Payment of long-term obligations .................. ... ... (2,479,000) (1,493,000) (305,000)
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options .................... 7,015 12,008 3,704
Payment for KB Toys subrogation receivable .................. — (6,100) —
Payment for treasury shares acquired .......................... — (75,000) —
Treasury shares used (acquired) for deferred compensation plan .. (15) 216 (233)
Deferred bank and bond fees paid .................. ... .. ... (374) (1,311) (460)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ....... (147,074) (114,987) 3,011
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .................. (811) (171,482) 13,939
Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of year .......... ... . i 2,521 174,003 160,064
Bnd Of year ......oouiniri e $ 1,710 $ 2,521 $ 174,003
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for iNterest ............euuueeieiie i eneann.. $ 6,065 $ 26,140 $ 17,383
Cash paid for income taxes (excluding impact of refunds) ......... $ 22227 $ 23314 $ 457213



BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

All references herein to the “Company” are to Big Lots, Inc. and its subsidiaries. The Company is the
nation’s largest broadline closeout retailer. At January 28, 2006, the Company operated a total of 1,401 stores
in 47 states. The Company’s goal is to build upon its leadership position in broadline closeout retailing by
providing its customers with great savings on brand name closeouts and other value-priced merchandise
through a unique shopping experience. The Company’s web site is located at www.biglots.com. The contents
of the Company’s web site are not part of this report.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, and include all the
accounts of the Company. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Fiscal Year

The Company follows the concept of a 52-53 week fiscal year, which ends on the Saturday nearest to
January 31. Fiscal years 2005, 2004, and 2003 were comprised of 52 weeks. Fiscal year 2006 will be
53 weeks.

Segment Reporting

The Company manages its business based on one segment, broadline closeout retailing. At January 28, 2006
and January 29, 2005, all of the Company’s operations were located within the United States of America.

Management Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates,
judgments and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of significant
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of amounts on deposit with financial institutions, outstanding
checks, credit and debit card receivables, and highly liquid investments which are unrestricted to withdrawal
or use and which have an original maturity of three months or less. Amounts due from banks for credit and
debit card transactions are typically settled in less than seven days. Amounts due from banks for these
transactions totaled $15.5 million and $12.6 million at January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005, respectively.
Cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market value.

Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market using the average cost retail inventory
method. Market is determined based on the estimated net realizable value, which generally is the merchandise
selling price. Under the average cost retail inventory method, inventory is segregated into departments of
merchandise having similar characteristics, and is stated at its current retail selling value. Inventory retail
values are converted to a cost basis by applying specific average cost factors for each merchandise
department. Cost factors represent the average cost-to-retail ratio for each merchandise department based

on beginning inventory and the fiscal year purchase activity.
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BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Payments Received from Vendors

Payments received from vendors relate primarily to rebates and reimbursement for markdowns and are
recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations as a reduction to cost of sales when the
related inventory is sold.

Store Supplies

When opening a new store, the initial shipment of supplies (including primarily signage, security-related
items, bags, and miscellaneous store supplies) is capitalized at the store opening date. Subsequent
replenishments of store supplies are expensed. Capitalized store supplies are adjusted as appropriate for
changes in estimated quantities or costs.

Intangible Assets

Trademarks, service marks, and other intangible assets are stated at cost and are amortized on a straight-line
basis over a period of 15 years. Where there is an indication of impairment, the Company evaluates the fair
value and future benefits of the related intangible asset and the anticipated undiscounted future net cash
flows from the related intangible asset is calculated and compared to the carrying value. The Company’s
assumptions related to estimates of future cash flows are based on historical results of cash flows adjusted
for management projections for future periods.

Property and Equipment — Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization expense are recorded using the
straight-line method over the estimated service lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated service lives or the lease term. The cost of assets sold
or retired and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts with any resulting gain
or loss included in net income. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Major renewals
that extend service lives are capitalized. The Company capitalizes certain computer software costs after the
application development stage has been established.

The estimated service lives by major asset category are as follows:

Land improvements ...............c.ieuiiunenneineinennennnn. 15 years
Buildings and leasehold improvements ...................... 5-40 years
Fixtures and equipment .................cooiiiiiiiiiiiiin.... 5-15 years
Computer SOftware COSS ........euveneiniiniiniinenenennen. 5 years
Transportation equipment ................c..ciiiiiiiiinenn... 3-20 years

Capitalized interest was an insignificant amount in fiscal year 2005, $0.6 million in fiscal year 2004, and
$3.7 million in fiscal year 2003.

Impairment

The Company has long-lived assets that consist primarily of property and equipment. The Company estimates
service lives on buildings and equipment using assumptions based on historical data and industry trends.
When a decision has been made to dispose of property and equipment prior to the end of the previously
estimated service life, depreciation estimates are revised to reflect the use of the asset over the shortened
estimated service life. The Company reviews historical operating results at the store level in order to
determine if impairment indicators are present. Impairment is recorded if impairment indicators are present
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BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

and if the carrying value of the long-lived asset exceeds its anticipated undiscounted future net cash flows.

The Company’s assumptions related to estimates of future cash flows are based on historical results of cash
flows adjusted for management projections for future periods. The Company estimates the fair value of its

long-lived assets using readily available market information for similar assets.

Closed Store Accounting

The Company recognizes an obligation for the fair value of lease termination costs when the Company ceases
using the leased property in its operations. In measuring fair value, the Company considers the remaining
minimum lease payments, estimated sublease rentals that could be reasonably obtained, and other potentially
mitigating factors. The Company discounts the estimated obligation using the applicable credit adjusted
interest rate, resulting in accretion expense in periods subsequent to the period of initial measurement. The
Company continues to monitor the obligation for lease liability in subsequent periods and revises any
estimated liabilities, if necessary. Severance and benefits associated with terminating employees from
employment are recognized ratably from the communication date through the estimated future service period,
unless the estimated future service period is less than 60 days, in which case the Company recognizes the
impact at the communication date. Generally all other store closing costs are recognized when incurred.

When material, the Company classifies the results of operations of closed stores as discontinued operations
when the operations and cash flows of the stores have been (or will be) eliminated from ongoing operations
and the Company no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the operations associated with the
stores after closure. The Company generally meets the second criteria on all closed stores, as upon closure,
operations cease and the Company has no continuing involvement. To determine if cash flows have been (or
will be) eliminated from ongoing operations, the Company evaluates a number of qualitative and quantitative
factors, including, but not limited to, proximity to remaining open stores and estimated sales migration from
the closed store to any stores remaining open. The estimated sales migration is based on the Company’s
historical estimates of sales migration upon opening a new store in a similar market. For purposes of reporting
the operations of stores meeting the criteria for discontinued operations, the Company reported net sales, gross
margin, and related operating costs that are directly attributable to and specifically identifiable with those
stores operations as discontinued operations. Certain corporate level charges, such as general office cost, field
operations, national advertising, fixed distribution costs, and interest cost are not allocated to discontinued
operations because these costs are not specific to the store’s operations.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures compensation cost for stock options issued to employees and directors using

the intrinsic value-based method of accounting in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees. The Company has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, as amended by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation — Transition and Disclosure, and, as permitted by these standards, continues to apply the
recognition and measurement principles of APB No. 25 to its stock options and other stock-based employee
compensation awards.
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BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The following table presents net income (loss) and earnings per share if the fair value method had been

applied to all outstanding and unvested awards in each period:
Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Net income (loss):

AS TEPOITEA ...t $(10,088) $23.763 $80,220

Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined

under fair value method for all awards, net of related tax effect.. (10,277) (3,604) (6,034)

Pro fOrma . ..o.oee et e e e $(20,365) $20,159 $74,186
Income (loss) per common share — basic:

AS TEPOTTEA ...ttt $ (0.09) $ 021 $ 0.69

Pro forma ...........o i $ (0.18) $ 0.18 $ 0.64
Income (loss) per common share — diluted:

AS TEPOTTEA ...\ttt ettt $ (0.09) $ 021 $ 0.68

Pro forma ........... . i $ (0.18) $ 0.18 $ 0.63

The increase in pro forma stock-based employee compensation expense in fiscal year 2005 is due to
acceleration of vesting of certain stock options (See Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements).

Income Taxes

The Company has generated deferred tax assets and liabilities due to temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income
tax purposes. The Company assesses the adequacy and need for a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets.
The Company also considers SFAS No. 109 tax planning strategies in determining the amount of valuation
allowance required. The Company has established a valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax assets to
the balance that is more likely than not to be realized.

The effective income tax rate in any period may be materially impacted by the overall level of income (loss)
before income taxes, the jurisdictional mix and magnitude of income (loss), changes in the income tax laws
(which may be retroactive to the beginning of the fiscal year), changes in the expected outcome or settlement
of an income tax contingency, changes in the deferred tax valuation allowance, and adjustments of a deferred
tax asset or liability for enacted changes in tax laws or rates.

The Company’s income tax accounts reflect estimates of the outcome or settlement of various asserted and
unasserted income tax contingencies (and interest thereon) including tax audits and administrative appeals. At
any point in time, several tax years may be in various stages of audit or appeal or could be subject to audit
by various taxing jurisdictions. This requires a periodic identification and evaluation of significant doubtful or
controversial issues. The results of the audits, appeals, and expiration of the statute of limitations are reflected
in the income tax accounts accordingly.

Pension

Pension assumptions are evaluated each year. Outside actuaries are used to provide assistance in calculating
the estimated obligations for pension. The Company reviews external data and historical trends to help
determine the discount rate and expected long-term rate of return. The Company’s objective in selecting a
discount rate is to identify the best estimate of the rate at which the benefit obligations would be settled

on the measurement date. In making this estimate, the Company reviews rates of return on high-quality,
fixed-income investments currently available and expected to be available during the period to maturity of
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BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

the benefits. This process includes a review of the bonds available on the measurement date with a quality
rating of Aa or better. To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets, the Company considered
the historical returns and the future expectations for returns for each asset class, as well as the current or
anticipated future allocation of the pension portfolio.

Insurance Reserves

The Company is self-insured for certain losses relating to property, general liability, workers’ compensation, and
employee medical and dental benefit claims, a portion of which is paid by employees. The Company has
purchased stop-loss coverage to limit significant exposure in these areas. Accrued insurance liabilities and related
expenses are based on actual claims filed and estimates of claims incurred but not reported. The estimated
accruals are determined by applying actuarially-based calculations. General liability and workers’ compensation
liabilities are recorded at the Company’s estimate of their net present value while other liabilities for insurance
reserves are not discounted.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued expenses
approximates fair value because of the relative short maturity of these items. The carrying value of the
Company’s long-term obligations at January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005, approximates fair value
because the interest rates are variable and approximate current market rates.

Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is subject to various claims and contingencies including legal actions and other claims arising
out of the normal course of business. In connection with such claims and contingencies, the Company
estimates the likelihood and amounts of any potential obligation using management’s judgment. Management
uses subject matter experts including various internal and external experts to assist in the estimating process.
The Company accrues, if material, a liability if the likelihood of an adverse outcome is probable and the
amount is estimable. If the likelihood of an adverse outcome is only reasonably possible (as opposed to
probable), or if it is probable but an estimate is not determinable, disclosure of a material claim or
contingency is made in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes retail sales in its stores at the time the customer takes possession of merchandise.
All sales are net of discounts and returns and exclude sales tax. The reserve for retail merchandise returns is
estimated based on the Company’s prior experience.

The Company recognizes sales revenue related to gift cards at the time of redemption. The liability for the
gift cards is established for the cash value at the time of purchase. The liability for outstanding gift cards is
recorded in accrued operating expenses.

The Company offers price hold contracts on selected furniture merchandise. Revenue for price hold contracts
is recognized when the customer makes the final payment and takes possession of the merchandise. In the
event that a sale is not consummated, liquidated damages are recorded as the lesser of: 1) $25; 2) 10% of the
merchandise purchase price (exclusive of sales tax); or 3) the amounts deposited by the customer. Cash paid
by the customer is recorded in accrued operating expenses.
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BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Other Comprehensive Income

The Company’s comprehensive income is equal to net income, as there are no items that qualify as other
comprehensive income.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales includes the cost of merchandise (including related inbound freight to the Company’s distribution
centers, duties, and commissions), markdowns, and inventory shrinkage, net of cash discounts and rebates.
The Company classifies warehousing and outbound distribution and transportation costs as selling and
administrative expenses. Due to this classification, the Company’s gross margin rates may not be comparable
to those of other retailers that include warehousing and outbound distribution and transportation costs in cost
of sales.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

The Company includes store expenses (such as payroll and occupancy costs), warehousing and outbound
distribution and transportation costs to the Company’s stores, advertising, purchasing, insurance, non-income
taxes, and overhead costs in selling and administrative expenses. Selling and administrative expense rates may
not be comparable to those of other retailers that include outbound distribution and transportation costs in cost
of sales. Outbound distribution and transportation costs included in selling and administrative expenses were
$223.8 million, $218.7 million, and $198.8 million for fiscal years 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Rent Expense

Rent expense is recognized over the term of the lease. The Company recognizes minimum rent starting when
possession of the property is taken from the landlord, which normally includes a construction period prior to
store opening. When a lease contains a predetermined fixed escalation of the minimum rent, the Company
recognizes the related rent expense on a straight-line basis and records the difference between the recognized
rental expense and the amounts payable under the lease as deferred incentive rent. The Company also receives
tenant allowances, which are recorded in deferred incentive rent and are amortized as a reduction to rent
expense over the term of the lease.

Certain leases provide for contingent rents that are not measurable at inception. Contingent rent includes rent
based on a percentage of sales that are in excess of a predetermined level. Contingent rent is excluded from

minimum rent and is included in the determination of total rent expense when it is probable that the expense
has been incurred and the amount is reasonably estimable.

Advertising Expense

Adpvertising costs are expensed as incurred, consist primarily of print and television advertisements, and are
included in selling and administrative expenses. Advertising expenses were $103.2 million, $97.2 million, and
$102.3 million for fiscal years 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated using the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted earnings per share includes the additional dilutive effect of stock options and unvested
restricted stock, calculated using the treasury stock method.
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Store Pre-opening Costs

Pre-opening costs related to new store openings and the construction periods are expensed as incurred.

Guarantees

In accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, the Company recognizes a liability for
the fair value of guarantees when issued. Guarantees issued prior to January 1, 2003, are not subject to the
fair value recognition rules but are required to be disclosed. With respect to guarantee obligations issued prior
to January 1, 2003, the Company records a liability if the obligation is estimable in the period incurred.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, which requires an entity to
measure the cost of services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date
fair value of the award using an option-pricing model. The cost of the awards, including the related tax
effects, will be recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. SFAS No. 123(R) eliminates the
alternative to use the intrinsic value method for valuing share-based compensation, which typically resulted
in recognition of no compensation cost. On April 15, 2005, the SEC issued Release No. 33-8568, which
amended the effective date for SFAS No. 123(R) to the first interim or annual period of the first fiscal year
beginning after June 15, 2005, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R) as
of January 29, 2006, using the modified prospective method of adoption, in which compensation cost is
recognized for all awards granted subsequent to the date of this statement as well as for the unvested portion
of awards outstanding as of the effective date.

Because the Company previously accounted for options issued under the Company’s incentive plans under the
intrinsic value method permitted under APB No. 25, the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) is expected to have a
significant impact on the Company’s results of operations, although it will have no impact on the Company’s
overall financial position. The impact of SFAS 123(R) cannot be accurately estimated at this time, as it will
depend on the market value and amount of share based awards granted in future periods. However, had the
Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R) in a prior period, the impact would approximate the impact of SFAS
No. 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net income and earnings per share. SFAS No. 123(R)
also requires that tax benefits received in excess of compensation cost be reclassified from cash provided

by operating activities to cash used in financing activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows. This
change in classification will reduce cash provided by operating activities and increase cash used in financing
activities for periods after adoption for any excess tax benefits realized. While the amount of this change
cannot be estimated at this time, the amount of operating cash flows recognized in prior periods for such
excess tax deductions was not significant in fiscal years 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

In March 2005, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 47 (“FIN 47”), Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations, which is effective no later than the end of fiscal years ending after December 15,
2005. FIN 47 clarifies that the term conditional asset retirement obligation as used in SFAS No. 143,
Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations, refers to a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement
activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a retirement activity is
unconditional even though uncertainty exists about the timing and/or method of settlement. Thus, the timing
and/or method of settlement may be conditional on a future event. Accordingly, an entity is required to
recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair value of the
liability can be reasonably estimated. The fair value of a liability for the conditional asset retirement
obligation should be recognized when incurred, generally upon acquisition, constructions, or development
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and/or through the normal operation of the asset. Uncertainty about the timing and/or method of settlement
of a conditional asset retirement obligation should be factored into the measurement of the liability when
sufficient information exists. SFAS No. 143 acknowledges that in some cases, sufficient information may
not be available to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. FIN 47 also clarifies
when an entity would have sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement
obligation. The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 47 during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005,
and this adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Note 2 — Discontinued Operations

The Company reports discontinued operations upon disposition of a component of the Company’s business
when the cash flows have been or will be eliminated from the Company’s ongoing operations and when a
long-lived asset qualifies for held-for-sale treatment. As a result, the Company’s discontinued operations for
fiscal years 2005, 2004, and 2003, are comprised of the following:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
ClOSEA SLOTES . vttt ete ettt et e et $(41,130) $ (1,662) $ 6,617
KB Toys lease indemnifications ...............cooeiiiiiiiienen.... 430 (8,623) (24,411)
Pittsfield distribution cCenter ...............c.oiiiriiriiiiiiininnannann, (999) (2,697) —
Total Pretax 10SS .. ..vvueii ettt $(41,699)  $(12,982)  $(17,794)

Closed Stores

On October 6, 2005, the Company announced its decision to close approximately 126 underperforming stores
in addition to the 40 stores previously planned for closure in fiscal year 2005. The Company completed its
evaluation of underperforming stores in the fourth quarter and, as a result, 174 stores were closed during
fiscal year 2005. To determine if cash flows of each store have been (or will be) eliminated from ongoing
operations, the Company evaluated a number of qualitative and quantitative factors, including: proximity

to remaining open stores, physical location within a metropolitan or non-metropolitan statistical area and
transferability of sales between open and closed trade areas. Based on these criteria, the Company determined
that the results of 130 stores should be reported as discontinued operations for all periods presented. The
Company has included in discontinued operations the net sales and associated costs which were directly
related to and specifically identifiable with these 130 stores. Certain costs such as general office, field
operations, national advertising, fixed distribution costs, and interest expense were not allocated to
discontinued operations because these costs were not specifically identifiable at the store level. The table
below identifies the significant components of income (loss) from discontinued operations for these closed
stores for fiscal years 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
S A (S $215,154 $225,820 $231,730
GroSS MATZIN .ottt ettt e e e e 74,109 90,299 95,829
Operating income (10SS) ......ueiiuiiii e (41,130) (1,662) 6,617
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax ............... $(25,381) $ (1,021) $ 4,029
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The Company’s results of discontinued operations in fiscal year 2005 include pretax losses in the amount of
$41.1 million as the result of the 130 stores reported in discontinued operations in fiscal year 2005, including
$43.6 million of exit-related pretax costs incurred primarily in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, the
reversal of pretax charges of $0.4 million associated with the KB Toys business and a pretax non-cash
impairment charge of $0.7 million and other related charges of $0.3 million associated with the reclassification
of the Pittsfield DC as held-for-sale and the related write-down of its carrying value to fair value less selling
cost. The table below summarizes the type and amount of charges recorded as a result of the store closures
and identifies remaining obligations as of January 28, 2006:

Write-down

of Property,
Inventory, Severance Lease
and Deferred and Termination
Rent Benefits Costs Total
(In thousands)
Charges ...oonvriii $ 19,600 $ 3,300 $20,700 $ 43,600
PAYINEILS .. veee e — (1,539) (2,499) (4,038)
Non-cash reductions .............c.covviiiiiinennen... (19,600) — — (19,600)
Remaining Obligations at January 28, 2006 ............ $ — $ 1,761 $18,201 $ 19,962

Asset write-downs include assets used in normal operations of retail stores and include remaining
unrecoverable net book values of fixtures, equipment, and signs. The inventory write-downs above are specific
to the markdowns associated with the liquidation sales conducted at the closed stores which qualified for
discontinued operations accounting treatment. The Company records markdowns throughout the year in the
normal course of business. The markdowns associated with the liquidation sales are the only markdowns
included in the table above.

Future cash outlays under these store closure obligations are anticipated to be $10.3 million in fiscal year
2006, $5.2 million in fiscal year 2007, $3.1 million in fiscal year 2008, and $1.4 million thereafter.

KB Toys Matters

On January 14, 2004, KB Toys filed for bankruptcy protection pursuant to Chapter 11 of title 11 of the United
States Code. KB Toys acquired the business from the Company pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated
as of December 7, 2000 (the “KB Stock Purchase Agreement”). In connection with the KB Toys bankruptcy,
the Company incurred charges which have been recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations for fiscal years 2005, 2004, and 2003. The following table summarizes these charges:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003

(In thousands)
Continuing Operations
HCC Note — Partial charge-off .................... ool $(6,389) $ — $ (9,598)
Discontinued Operations
Lease indemnifications .............co.iiiiiiniieiniiaeiiieiaaenennn. $ 430 $ (8,623) $(24,411)
Pittsfield distribution Center ...............covuiiriiriiiiiiiannannn. (999) (2,697) —

Total pretax income (loss) from discontinued operations ........... $ (569) $(11,320) $(24,411)
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The fiscal year 2005 loss from discontinued operations for the Pittsfield DC is excluded from the above table,
and thus treated separately from KB Toys matters in fiscal year 2005 because during fiscal year 2005, the
Company obtained title to the Pittsfield DC. As discussed below, the fiscal year 2005 loss from discontinued
operations for the Pittsfield DC is due to the asset meeting held-for-sale criteria during fiscal year 2005.

HCC Note — Partial Charge-Off

As partial consideration for the sale of the KB Toys business, the Company received the HCC Note. The
Company also received a warrant to acquire up to 2.5% of the common stock of KB Holdings, Inc. for a
stated price per share (“KB Warrant”). Upon receipt of the HCC Note in fiscal year 2000, the Company
evaluated its fair value and recorded it at an estimated fair value of $13.2 million. During fiscal year 2002
and until KB Toys’ bankruptcy filing, the Company recorded the interest earned and accretion of the discount
utilizing the effective interest rate method and provided necessary reserves against such amounts as a result
of its evaluations of the carrying value of the HCC Note. For tax purposes, the HCC Note was originally
recorded at its face value of $45.0 million, and the Company incurred tax liability on the interest, which was
accrued but was not payable. This resulted in the HCC Note having a tax basis that was greater than the
carrying value on the Company’s books.

The HCC Note became immediately due and payable at the time of KB Toys’ bankruptcy filing. As a result of the
bankruptcy filing, the Company ceased accruing interest on the HCC Note, charged off a portion of the HCC Note
to reduce its carrying value to fair market value, and wrote down the full value of the KB Warrant resulting in a
pretax charge to continuing operations in fiscal year 2003 in the amount of $9.6 million. In addition, the Company
recorded a tax benefit in continuing operations of $20.2 million in fiscal year 2003 reflecting the charge-off of the
higher tax basis of the HCC Note. As of January 29, 2005, the $7.3 million carrying amount of the HCC Note was
included in the Company’s other assets on the consolidated balance sheet.

Under the KB Toys bankruptcy plan (the “KB Plan”), confirmed by the bankruptcy court on August 18, 2005,
the Company expects to receive $0.9 million on its claim for payment of the HCC Note from the bankruptcy
trust. As a result, the Company recorded a pretax charge to continuing operations in fiscal year 2005 in the
amount of $6.4 million to reduce the carrying value of the HCC Note to $0.9 million. As of January 28, 2006,
the $0.9 million carrying amount of the HCC Note was included in the Company’s other assets on the
consolidated balance sheet.

Lease Indemnifications

When the Company acquired the KB Toys business from Melville Corporation (now known as CVS New
York, Inc., and together with its subsidiaries “CVS”) in May 1996, the Company provided, among other
things, an indemnity to CVS with respect to any losses resulting from KB Toys’ failure to pay all monies
due and owing under any KB Toys lease or mortgage obligation. While the Company controlled the KB Toys
business, the Company provided guarantees with respect to a limited number of additional store leases. As
part of the sale of the KB Toys business by the Company, and in accordance with the terms of the KB Stock
Purchase Agreement, KB Toys similarly agreed to indemnify the Company with respect to all lease and
mortgage obligations. These guarantee and lease obligations are collectively referred to as the “KB Lease
Obligations.” In connection with the bankruptcy, KB Toys rejected 226 store leases and two distribution center
leases for which the Company believes it may have guarantee or indemnification obligations; however 31 of
the rejected store leases expired on or before January 31, 2004 according to the Company’s records. The
Company estimated and recorded pretax charges in discontinued operations of $24.4 million with respect

to 90 leases rejected by KB Toys in fiscal year 2003 and $8.6 million with respect to 72 leases rejected by
KB Toys in fiscal year 2004. In fiscal year 2005, an additional 33 store leases and two distribution center

46



BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 2 — Discontinued Operations (Continued)

leases were rejected. During fiscal year 2005, the Company reversed approximately $0.4 million of the

KB Toys lease obligation originally providing for professional fees that are no longer expected to be incurred.
Based on payments made to landlords of approximately $5.0 million during fiscal year 2005, and the level of
demand notices received from landlords requesting payment, the Company believes that the additional
rejections in fiscal year 2005 are adequately provided for by the $27.2 million remaining unpaid KB Lease
Obligations recorded as of January 28, 2006.

The claims process associated with the KB Toys bankruptcy remains open. As a result of uncertainties
associated with the continuance of the bankruptcy claims process, the Company believes it is possible that it
will continue to receive demand notices from landlords in fiscal year 2006. The Company is an unsecured
creditor of the bankruptcy trust with respect to losses it has incurred in connection with the KB Lease
Obligations and is unable to estimate the timing or amount of any recovery it can expect to receive upon
resolution of these claims. Accordingly, no recoveries related to the KB Toys bankruptcy have been recorded
by the Company. In addition, the typical KB Lease Obligation provides that the terms of the underlying lease
may be extended, amended, or modified without the consent of the guarantor. The Company has concluded
that its reserve for KB Lease Obligations is adequate at January 28, 2006. Based on the uncertainties related
to the KB Lease Obligations, the Company intends to continue to evaluate the adequacy of these reserves as
dictated by the facts and circumstances available to the Company at each future reporting period. In the
event additional liability arises from future defaults on these leases, any related charge would be to
discontinued operations.

At the date of its emergence and as of January 28, 2006, the Company had KB Lease Obligations with respect
to approximately 167 remaining KB Toys store leases and KB Toys’ main office building. Because these
remaining guarantees were issued prior to January 1, 2003, they are not subject to the fair value recognition
provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 45. However, the Company will recognize a liability if a loss in
connection with any of the KB Lease Obligations becomes probable and reasonably estimable.

Pittsfield Distribution Center

As a result of the KB Toys bankruptcy, the Company received notice of a default relating to a first mortgage
(guaranteed by CVS) on the Pittsfield DC. On November 5, 2004, the Company satisfied its indemnity
obligation with respect to the Pittsfield DC at a cost of $8.4 million. The Company recorded a charge to
discontinued operations in fiscal year 2004 in the amount of $2.7 million to reflect its best estimate of the
difference between the subrogation rights flowing from the indemnification payment and the net realizable
value of the Pittsfield DC.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, the Company initiated plans to dispose of the Pittsfield DC. The
property is available for immediate sale in its present condition and is actively being marketed by a reputable
broker. The Company has no intention of using this property in its current operations. As a result, the
Pittsfield DC has been classified as held-for-sale, as defined by SFAS No. 144, and accordingly, its carrying
value at January 28, 2006 has been adjusted to its estimated fair value less applicable selling costs resulting in
a pretax non-cash impairment charge of $0.7 million and other related charges of $0.3 million included in loss
from discontinued operations. In order to estimate the fair value of this property, the Company considered,
among other things, prior appraisal information, current listing price, current market specific analysis of
commercial real estate brokers, and the location of the property. The asset value is included in other current
assets on the consolidated balance sheet as of January 28, 2006.

Other KB Toys Matters

In addition to including KB Toys’ indemnity of the Company with respect to lease and mortgage obligations,
the KB Stock Purchase Agreement contains mutual indemnifications of KB Toys by the Company and of the
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Company by KB Toys. These indemnifications relate primarily to losses arising out of general liability claims,
breached or inaccurate representations or warranties, shared litigation expenses, other payment obligations,
and taxes. Under a tax indemnification provision in the KB Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company is to
indemnify KB Toys for tax losses generally related to the periods prior to the Company’s sale of KB Toys.

As a result of uncertainties associated with the continuance of the bankruptcy claims process, the Company
continues to assess the effect of the KB Toys bankruptcy on such mutual indemnification obligations and has
not made any provision for loss contingencies with respect to any non-lease or non-tax related indemnification
obligations. As of January 28, 2006, management does not believe that the impact would have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of continuing operations, or liquidity.

During fiscal year 2003, discontinued operations reflect the substantial resolution and closure of tax audit
activity, the closing of the statute of limitations, and changes in the expected outcome of tax contingencies
related to KB Toys state and local non-income tax matters. As a result of the substantial resolution and closure
of these items in fiscal year 2003, the Company reversed previously accrued income taxes of approximately
$4.7 million and sales and use taxes of approximately $1.1 million related to KB Toys.

Note 3 — Property and Equipment — Net

Property and equipment — net consists of:

January 28,  January 29,

2006 2005

(In thousands)

Land and land improvements ....................... $ 39882 $ 39913
Buildings and leasehold improvements ............. 651,998 649,618
Fixtures and equipment ....................oooia... 597,216 609,049
Computer software CoStS ..........c.coeeuieirneennnn.. 59,922 55,303
Transportation equipment ..................c.oeu.... 21,483 22,741
Construction-in-progress .............eeeeeneeneen... 1,706 10,336
Property and equipment — cost .................... 1,372,207 1,386,960
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization .... 788,124 738,219
Property and equipment — net ..................... $ 584,083 $ 648,741

Depreciation expense included in loss from discontinued operations was $12.2 million, $4.9 million, and
$4.7 million for fiscal years 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

In fiscal year 2005, the Company incurred $2.0 million in asset impairment charges, included in selling and
administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of operations, for the write-down of long-lived assets of
14 stores. Assets are reviewed for impairment at the store level. Stores with a history of operating losses are
reviewed for impairment. The Company compares the net book value of long-lived assets at stores identified
by this review, to estimated future cash flows of each specific store in order to determine whether impairment
exists. If the assets are not recoverable by the estimated future cash flows, an impairment is recognized to
write-down the long-lived assets to fair value.

Note 4 — Long-Term Obligations

On October 29, 2004, the Company entered into the 2004 Credit Agreement. The 2004 Credit Agreement is
scheduled to mature on October 28, 2009. The proceeds of the 2004 Credit Agreement are available for general
corporate purposes, working capital, and to repay certain indebtedness of the Company, including amounts that
were outstanding related to the Senior Notes and the 2001 Credit Agreement. The pricing and fees related to the
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2004 Credit Agreement fluctuate based on the Company’s debt rating. Loans made under the 2004 Credit
Agreement may be prepaid by the Company without penalty. The 2004 Credit Agreement contains financial and
other covenants, including, but not limited to, limitations on indebtedness, liens, and investments, as well as the
maintenance of two financial ratios — a leverage ratio and a fixed charge coverage ratio. A violation of these
covenants could result in a default under the 2004 Credit Agreement, which would permit the lenders to restrict
the Company’s ability to further access the 2004 Credit Agreement for loans and letters of credit, and require the
immediate repayment of any outstanding loans under the 2004 Credit Agreement. On October 25, 2005, the
Company and the lenders entered into an amendment to the 2004 Credit Agreement in order to eliminate the
impact on the covenant calculations of the estimated charges related to the store closings discussed in Note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements. The Company was in compliance with its amended financial covenants at
January 28, 2006.

The 2004 Credit Agreement permits, at the Company’s option, borrowings at various interest rate options
based on the prime rate or London InterBank Offering Rate plus applicable margin. The 2004 Credit
Agreement also permits, as applicable, borrowings at various interest rate options mutually agreed upon by
the Company and the lenders. The weighted average interest rate of the outstanding loans was 5.1% and 3.2%
at January 28, 2006, and January 29, 2005, respectively. The Company typically repays and/or borrows on a
daily basis in accordance with the terms of the 2004 Credit Agreement. The daily activity is a net result of
the Company’s liquidity position, which is generally affected by: 1) cash inflows such as store cash and other
miscellaneous deposits; and 2) cash outflows such as check clearings, wire and other electronic transactions,
and other miscellaneous disbursements.

In addition to revolving credit loans, the 2004 Credit Agreement includes a $30.0 million swing loan sub-
limit, a $50.0 million bid loan sub-limit, and a $150.0 million letter of credit sub-limit. At January 28, 2006,
the total borrowings outstanding under the 2004 Credit Agreement were $5.5 million, all in swing loans. At
January 29, 20035, the total borrowings outstanding under the 2004 Credit Agreement were $159.2 million,
with $129.2 million in revolving credit loans and $30.0 million in swing loans. The borrowings available
under the 2004 Credit Agreement, after taking into account the reduction of availability resulting from
outstanding letters of credit totaling $65.0 million, were $429.5 million at January 28, 2006.

Due to the early repayment of the Senior Notes and the 2001 Credit Agreement, interest expense in the
third quarter of fiscal year 2004 included debt prepayment charges of $8.9 million.

Note 5 — Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has purchase obligations for retail merchandise issued in the ordinary course of its business that
are valued at $389.5 million, the entirety of which represents obligations due within one year of January 28,
2006. Purchase obligations also include a commitment for future inventory purchases totaling $263.3 million
at January 28, 2006. The Company paid $44.0 million, $52.5 million, and $44.2 million related to this
commitment during fiscal years 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. The Company is not required to meet any
periodic minimum purchase requirements under this commitment. The term of the commitment extends until
the purchase requirement is satisfied.

The Company is involved in legal actions and claims, including various employment-related matters, arising
in the ordinary course of its business. The Company currently believes that such actions and claims, both
individually and in the aggregate, will be resolved without material effect on the Company’s financial
condition, results of operations, or liquidity. However, litigation involves an element of uncertainty. Future
developments could cause these actions or claims to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial
condition, results of operations, and liquidity.

49



BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 5 — Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

In November 2004, the Company was served a civil complaint wherein it was alleged that the Company

had violated the Fair Labor Standards Act regulations by misclassifying as exempt employees its furniture
department managers, sales managers, and assistant managers. This lawsuit was filed as a putative collective
action in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas, Texarkana Division. A similar
action was filed at the end of November 2004, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of
Louisiana. This lawsuit was also filed as a putative collective action alleging that the Company violated the
Fair Labor Standards Act by misclassifying assistant managers as exempt. The plaintiffs in both cases are
seeking to recover, on behalf of themselves and all other individuals who are similarly situated, alleged unpaid
overtime compensation, as well as liquidated damages, attorneys’ fees and costs. On July 5, 2005, the District
Court in Louisiana issued an order conditionally certifying a class of all current and former assistant store
managers who have worked for the Company since November 23, 2001. As a result of that order, notice

of the lawsuit was sent to approximately 5,500 individuals who had the right to opt-in to the lawsuit. On
August 8, 2005, the District Court in Texas issued an order conditionally certifying a class of all current

and former employees who worked for the Company as a furniture department manager at any time between
November 2, 2001, and October 1, 2003. As a result of that order, notice was sent to approximately

1,300 individuals who had the right to opt-in to the lawsuit. The Texas case will include furniture department
managers only, whereas the Louisiana case will include only assistant store managers. While the original
period to opt-in to the lawsuits has passed, the period is expected to be extended for certain individuals based
on several factors, the most significant of which is the impact that the hurricanes of 2005 had on mail delivery
in certain areas of the Gulf Coast states. Until such time as the opt-in period has fully lapsed, the Company
will be unable to determine the number of individuals that will be included in each lawsuit. As of January 28,
2006, approximately 1,100 individuals had joined the Louisiana case, and approximately 300 individuals had
joined the Texas case. The Company has the right to file a motion seeking to decertify the classes after
discovery has been conducted. Pending discovery on the plaintiffs’ claims, the Company cannot make a
determination as to the probability of a loss contingency resulting from either of these lawsuits or the
estimated range of possible loss, if any. The Company intends to vigorously defend itself against the
allegations levied in both lawsuits. However, the ultimate resolution of these matters could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity.

On October 13, 2005, the Company was served a civil complaint wherein it was alleged that the Company
had violated certain California wage and hour laws. This class action lawsuit was filed in the Superior Court
of the State of California, County of Ventura. The plaintiff is seeking to recover, on her own behalf and on
behalf of all other individuals who are similarly situated, alleged unpaid wages and rest and meal period
compensation, as well as penalties, injunctive and other equitable relief, reasonable attorneys’ fees, and costs.
Pending discovery on the plaintiff’s claims, the Company cannot make a determination as to the probability
of a loss contingency resulting from this lawsuit or the estimated range of possible loss, if any. The Company
intends to vigorously defend itself against the allegations levied in this lawsuit. However, the ultimate
resolution of this matter could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results

of operations, and liquidity.

The Company announced on August 20, 2003, that it reached a preliminary agreement to settle two class
action lawsuits filed in the Superior Court of San Bernardino County, California, relating to the calculation

of earned overtime wages for certain former and current store managers and assistant store managers in that
state. Final court approval of the preliminary settlement was received on February 4, 2004. During the

fourth quarter of fiscal year 2003, the Company adjusted the total related charge to $5.7 million (net of tax),
$0.6 million lower than its original estimate which was recorded during the second quarter of fiscal year 2003.

The Company announced on August 20, 2003, that it had reached a preliminary agreement to settle a national
class action lawsuit relating to certain advertising practices of KB Toys. The Court issued a final order
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approving the agreement during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2003. The Company contributed $2.1 million
toward the settlement and accordingly, a charge of $1.2 million (net of tax) was recorded to discontinued
operations in the third quarter of fiscal year 2003.

For a discussion of discontinued operations, including KB Toys matters, see Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Company is self-insured for certain losses relating to property, general liability, workers’ compensation,
and employee medical and dental benefit claims (a portion of which is paid by employees), and the Company
has purchased stop-loss coverage in order to limit significant exposure in these areas. Accrued insurance
liabilities are actuarially determined based on claims filed and estimates of claims incurred but not reported.
With the exception of self-insured claims, taxes, employment-related matters, the lawsuits described above,
and the liabilities that relate to the KB Toys bankruptcy, the Company has not recorded any additional
significant liabilities for other commitments and contingencies.

Note 6 — Income Taxes

The provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations was comprised of the following:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003
(in thousands)
Federal — CUITENE . ...t $12,512 $ 9,582 $ 8,817
State and local — current .......... ... i 577) (336) 7,311
Deferred — federal, state and local ...............c i, (6,746) 4,282 4,705
Income tax Provision ..............oeeeieiieiineiineiin e $ 5,189 $13,528 $20,833

The deferred income tax benefit from discontinued operations was $3.7 million for fiscal year 2005 and
$5.1 million for fiscal year 2004.

Reconciliation between the statutory federal income tax rate and the effective income tax rate was as follows:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003

Statutory federal income tax rate ..............oviiiniiiiiiiiiiiiin.. 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Effect of:

State and local income taxes, net of federal tax benefit ............. 0.6 (1.1) 3.2
Work opportunity tax and other employment tax credits ............ 6.1 2.7) (1.2)
Expiration of capital 10oss carryover ..............c..cooeoiiiiniin.. 47.6 — —
Valuation allowancCe ..............coiiiiniiriir i, (48.7) 0.9 (12.1)
Reversal of previously accrued federal taxes ....................... 2.8) — 6.1)
Charitable donation of appreciated inventory ....................... 2.3) (1.0) 0.2)
Other, net ........ ... . i 05 (1.0) 09

Effective Income tax rate ................coooiuiiiiiininaiennn... 24.8% 30.1% 19.5%

The expiration of the capital loss carryover and related reduction in the valuation allowance in 2005 relates
to a $9.1 million capital loss that was generated in fiscal year 2000 in connection with the sale of the
KB Toys business.

The reduction in the valuation allowance in fiscal year 2003 primarily relates to the reversal of the deferred
tax asset associated with the partial charge-off of the HCC Note. The full face value of the HCC Note and
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subsequent interest income was included in the Company’s income tax returns. In fiscal year 2001, the
Company believed it would sell the HCC Note to an unrelated third party at an amount equal to the fair value
of the HCC Note as reflected on its financial statements. A sale of the HCC Note would have resulted in a
capital loss that the Company believed that it could not have utilized. A valuation allowance of approximately
$15.0 million was recorded through the end of fiscal year 2002 as an offset to the federal and state deferred
tax assets which represented the difference between the Company’s book and tax basis of the HCC Note.

Income tax payments and refunds were as follows:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
Income taxes Paid ............ooiiiiiiiiii $ 22,227 $ 23,314 $45,213
Income taxes refunded ......... ... i (12,166) (10,183) (3,692)
Net income taxes Paid ........veeineeieeieein e eieeeneainns $ 10,061 $ 13,131 $41,521

Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant
components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:

January 28, January 29,
2006 2005
(In thousands)
Deferred tax assets:
Workers’ compensation and other insurance reserves ..................... $ 33,616 $ 29,278
Uniform inventory capitalization ..................cooiiiiiiiiiiniienne.. 25,120 29,904
Depreciation and fixed asset basis differences ............................ 17,066 16,583
State tax net operating losses, net of federal tax benefit .................. 14,747 12,843
ACCTUE TENt oot 13,863 8,151
KB store lease and other discontinued operations contingencies .......... 10,773 13,128
ACCIUEA StALE tAXES .ottt ettt et et e e 9,831 10,209
Closed store accrual ...t 7,198 164
Capital 10SS CAITYOVET ...ttt ettt 505 11,045
5 (O ) — 1,666
Valuation alloWanCes ............ouviiininiinini i eiinieaenanns (5,961) (18,116)
[ 11 ) 39,247 41,136
Total deferred tax aSSELS .......iuutiirt it e e 166,005 155,991
Deferred tax liabilities:
Accelerated depreciation and fixed asset basis differences ................ 31,576 37,520
Prepaid eXpenses .. .......o.iiii it 5,028 4,862
Lease construction reimbursements .............o.eiieiiiniiineenneennnnnns 10,210 2,733
O her .. 22,043 24211
Total deferred tax HabilitieS ..........c.ouinriniiii e 68,857 69,326
Net deferred tax @SSELS .. ...ttt e $ 97,148 $ 86,665

The reduction in the valuation allowances from fiscal year 2004 to fiscal year 2005 relates primarily to a
decrease in the valuation allowances attributable to the expiration of the capital loss carryover and the
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carryover of local tax credits. The valuation allowances shown in the table above include state income tax
valuation allowances that are net of the federal tax benefit.

Net deferred tax assets were shown separately on the consolidated balance sheets as current and noncurrent
deferred income taxes. The following table summarizes net deferred income tax assets from the balance sheet:

January 28, January 29,

2006 2005
(In thousands)
Current deferred income taxes ..............oooeue.. $78,539 $73,845
Noncurrent deferred income taxes .................. 18,609 12,820
Net deferred tax assets ............covevveinennn.. $97,148 $86,665

The Company has established valuation allowances to reflect that it is more likely than not that a portion of
the federal and state deferred tax assets may not be realized.

The Company has the following income tax loss and credit carryforwards at January 28, 2006 (amounts are
shown net of tax excluding the federal income tax effect of the state and local items):

(In thousands)

Federal:
Net capital loss carryforwards .................ocooiiin.n. $ 505 Expires fiscal years 2008 and 2009
Foreign tax creditS ...........coooiiiiiiiiiiiii i 233 Expires fiscal year 2010
State and local:
State net operating loss carryforwards ..................... 22,759 Expire fiscal years 2006 through 2024
California enterprise zone creditS ...............covuvunnn.. 1,942 No expiration date
California alternative minimum tax credits ................ 52 No expiration date
Total income tax loss and credit carryforwards ......... $25,491

The Company’s income taxes payable have been reduced and certain state net operating loss carryforwards
increased by the tax benefits associated with dispositions of employee stock options. The Company receives
an income tax benefit calculated as the difference between the fair market value of the stock issued at the time
of exercise and the option price. These benefits were credited directly to shareholders’ equity and were not
significant for any period presented.

In November 2003, the IRS issued Revenue Ruling 2003-112 which clarified the definition of eligible
employees for purposes of the welfare to work and work opportunity tax credits. The Company has filed
protective refund claims for fiscal years 1994 through 2002. Because of the contingent nature of these claims,
no tax benefit has been recorded for this item.

Throughout fiscal year 2005, the Company settled various state audits and as a result reversed approximately
$3.6 million of previously accrued state taxes. Closure of various federal and state income tax statutes during
the third and fourth quarters of fiscal year 2005 resulted in a net reversal of approximately $1.2 million in
federal and state taxes.

In the first quarter of fiscal year 2004, the Company settled a contingency related to a jobs creation tax credit
matter and as a result reversed approximately $1.0 million of previously accrued state taxes. Closure of
various state and local income tax contingencies also occurred in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004
resulting in a net reversal of approximately $1.8 million of previously accrued state income taxes .

Also, during fiscal year 2004, the Company finalized the audit of Mac Frugal’s * Bargains Close-outs Inc.
(“MFTI”) consolidated income tax returns for years prior to its acquisition by the Company. MFI was acquired
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by the Company in 1998. These issues were substantially settled with the Appeals Division of the IRS in
fiscal year 2003. Also in fiscal year 2003 various state and local income tax examinations were substantially
resolved or closed. As a result, in fiscal year 2003 the Company reversed approximately $3.1 million in
previously accrued federal and state income taxes relating to continuing operations and approximately

$4.7 million relating to discontinued operations.

Years after fiscal year 2001 are open to examination by the IRS. Various states routinely audit the Company
and its subsidiaries. The Company believes that it has adequately provided for tax, interest, and penalties, if
any, that may result from future audit adjustments relating to these years.

Note 7 — Employee Benefit Plans

Pension Benefits

The Company has a qualified defined benefit pension plan (the ‘“Pension Plan”) and a nonqualified supplemental
defined benefit pension plan (the “Supplemental Pension Plan) covering certain employees whose hire date
precedes April 1, 1994. Benefits under each plan are based on credited years of service and the employee’s
compensation during the last five years of employment. The Company maintains the Supplemental Pension

Plan for certain highly compensated executives whose benefits were frozen in the Pension Plan in 1996. The
Supplemental Pension Plan is designed to pay benefits in the same amount as if the participants continued to
accrue benefits under the Pension Plan. The Company has no obligation to fund the Supplemental Pension Plan,
and all assets and amounts payable under the Supplemental Pension Plan are subject to the claims of the general
creditors of the Company.

The investments owned by the Pension Plan are managed with the primary objective of utilizing a balanced
approach with equal emphasis on income and capital appreciation. Investment results are compared to the
performance metrics on a quarterly basis. Changing market cycles require flexibility in asset allocation to
allow movement of capital within the asset classes for purposes of increasing investment return and/or
reducing risk. The targeted ranges of asset allocations are:

Equity SECUTItI®S ...o.vvteit e 45-70%
Debt SECUIILIS .. vvt ettt e e e 30-55%
Cash equivalents ............cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiineannn, up to 25%

As permitted by the Company’s investment policy, equity securities may include the Company’s common
shares. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Pension Plan owned 2,594 shares and 1,793 shares of Big Lots,
Inc. common shares, respectively.

Financial futures contracts and financial options contracts can be utilized for purposes of implementing
hedging strategies. All assets must have readily ascertainable market value and be easily marketable. There
were no futures contracts owned by the Pension Plan at January 28, 2006.

The equity portfolio will be generally fully invested with minimal emphasis on short-term market fluctuations
and broadly diversified. Global equities (foreign) and American Depository Receipts of similar high quality
may also be included to further diversify the portfolio.

Fixed income investments of a single issuer (with the exception of U.S. Government or fully guaranteed
agencies) must not exceed 10% of the total fixed income portfolio. Corporate obligation issues must meet or
exceed a credit rating of Aa at the time of purchase and during the holding period. There are no limitations on
the maximum amount allocated to each credit rating within the fixed income portfolio.
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The asset allocations at December 31 by asset category were as follows:

2005 2004
Equity securities ............o.viiiiiiiiiiiiiiinin... 69.6% 59.9%
Debt Securities ..........oeeiiiiiiiiiiiiin. 26.2 30.0
Cash equivalents ... 42 _10.1
Total ..o 100.0% 100.0%

The Company’s funding policy of the Pension Plan is to make annual contributions based on advice from its
actuaries and evaluation of its cash position, but not less than the minimum required by applicable regulations.
The Company expects no required contributions in fiscal year 2006. Additional discretionary contributions
could be made upon further analysis of the Pension Plan during fiscal year 2006. The assets allocated to debt
securities of 26.2% at December 31, 2005 were below the low end of the targeted range of 30.0%, primarily
due to the impact of a $3.8 million contribution made by the Company in December 2005, and the impact of
rising interest rates on the value of the debt securities held by the Pension Plan. The asset managers perform
an annual reallocation of assets in order to address situations outside of the targeted guidelines.

The Pension Plan and the Supplemental Pension Plan benefits expected to be paid in each of the following ten
fiscal years are as follows:

Fiscal Year

(In thousands)

2000 ... $ 4,930
2007 e 4,976
2008 e 5,175
2000 5,378
2000 5,690
20112005 31,263

Estimated future benefit payments ....................... $57,412

The estimated future benefit payments are based on the same assumptions as those used to measure the
Company’s benefit obligations at January 28, 2006.

The components of net periodic pension cost were comprised of the following:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003

(In thousands)

Service cost — benefits earned in the period ......................... $ 3,310 $ 3,494 $ 3,125
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation ........................... 3,149 3,274 2,971
Expected investment return on plan assets ..............c..cooeeien.... (4,267) (3,420) (2,866)
Amortization of Prior SErvice COSt ............c.oeuviriinnineinnenn... 135 135 135
Amortization of transition obligation ................ ... 13 13 13
Amortization of actuarial 10SS ..ot 1,325 1,508 1,345

Net periodic pension COSt .........veiueeiueeiineineiinerinannnnns $ 3,665 $ 5,004 $ 4,723
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Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost were:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003
Discount rate ..........coouiiiiiiii 5.7% 6.1% 6.8%
Rate of increase in compensation levels ........................ ... ... 4.0% 4.6% 5.1%
Expected long-term rate of return ............coooiiiiiiiiiiiian... 8.5% 8.5% 9.0%
Measurement date for plan assets and benefit obligations ............. 12/31/04 12/31/03 12/31/02

The following table sets forth certain information for the Pension Plan and the Supplemental Pension Plan at
December 31:

Supplemental
Pension Plan Pension Plan
2005 2004 2005 2004
(In thousands)
Projected benefit obligation ..................coiiiiiiiiiiiiiii $51,757  $52,073  $5,001  $5,638
Accumulated benefit obligation ............. .. ..o i 43,468 41,753 4,041 3,799

Fair market value of plan assets .............ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiiin.. 53,217 52,707 — —

The following schedule provides a reconciliation of projected benefit obligations, plan assets, funded status,
and amounts recognized for the Pension Plan and Supplemental Pension Plan at December 31:

2005 2004
(In thousands)
Change in projected benefit obligation:
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year.. $57,711 $54,154
SEIVICE COSt vttt 3,310 3,494
Interest COSt ..ot 3,149 3,274
Benefits paid ... (5,791) (5,256)
Actuarial (gain) 10SS ......vvviiiiiniiiiiiann, (1,621) 2,045
Projected benefit obligation at end of year ....... $56,758 $57,711
Change in plan assets:
Fair market value at beginning of year ........... $52,707 $42,601
Actual return on plan assets ...................... 2,001 3,592
Employer contribution ............................ 4,300 11,770
Benefits paid ... (5,791) (5,256)
Fair market value at end of year ................. $53,217 $52,707
Over (under) funded ..........................oo.... $(3,541) $(5,004)
Unrecognized actuarial loss ......................... 14,949 15,629
Unrecognized transition obligation .................. 106 119
Unrecognized prior service cost ..................... 596 731
Net amount recognized .....................oo.... $12,110 $11,475
Prepaid benefit coSt ............ccovvviiiiiiieniii... $16,828 $15,938
Accrued benefit cost ......... ... i (4,718) (4,463)
Net amount recognized .............coovuvinin... $12,110 $11,475
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Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations for fiscal years 2005 and 2004 were:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004
Discount rate ...ttt 5.7% 5.7%
Rate of increase in compensation levels ............ 3.5% 4.0%
Measurement date for plan assets and benefit
Obligations .........oeiuiiiii 12/31/05 12/31/04

Savings Plans

The Company has a savings plan with a 401(k) deferral feature and a nonqualified deferred compensation plan
with a similar deferral feature for eligible employees. The Company contributes a matching percentage of
employee contributions which is invested directly in the Company’s common shares. The Company’s matching
contributions are subject to IRS regulations. During the fiscal years 2005, 2004, and 2003, the Company
expensed $5.5 million, $5.2 million, and $4.6 million, respectively, for Company matching contributions. In
connection with its nonqualified deferred compensation plan, the Company has purchased mutual fund
investments of $8.6 million and $8.5 million at January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005, respectively, which
are recorded in other assets. These investments were classified as trading securities and were recorded at their
fair value. The Company has recorded treasury stock of $2.5 million at January 28, 2006 and January 29,
2005, in connection with the nonqualified deferred compensation plan.

Note 8 — Leases

Leased property consists primarily of the Company’s retail stores and certain warehouse space. Many of the

store leases provide that the Company pay for real estate taxes, CAM, and property insurance. Certain leases
provide for contingent rents or may have rent escalations. In addition, many leases provide options to extend
the original terms for an additional one to fifteen years.

Total retail store and warehouse lease expense, including real estate taxes, CAM, and property insurance, charged
to continuing operations for operating leases of stores, warehouses, and offices consisted of the following:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
MiInImMum 1EASES ... v ettt e e e e $240,656 $224,124 $201,286
Contingent 1eaSES .......uunein ittt 1,159 894 474
Total retail store and warehouse lease expense ..................... $241,815 $225,018 $201,760

Lease expense for operating leases associated with the 130 closed stores included in loss from discontinued
operations was $15.2 million, $16.8 million, and $15.8 million for 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Lease related income (expense) for the KB Toys business included in loss from discontinued operations

was $0.4 million, $(8.6) million and $(24.4) million for fiscal years 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. This
lease expense was related to KB Toys leases guaranteed by the Company which were rejected during the
KB Toys bankruptcy.
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Future minimum commitments for store and warehouse operating leases, excluding closed store leases and
excluding real estate taxes, CAM, and property insurance, at January 28, 2006, were as follows:

Fiscal Year

(In thousands)

2000 ... $186,999
2007 e 164,750
2008 e 140,572
2000 109,001
20010 e 75,777
Thereafter ... ..ot 128,971

Total store and warehouse operating leases .............. $806,070

Note 9 — Shareholders’ Equity

Earnings per Share

There are no adjustments required to be made to weighted-average common shares outstanding for purposes
of computing basic and diluted earnings per share and there were no securities outstanding at January 28,
2006, which were excluded from the computation of earnings per share.

A reconciliation of the number of weighted-average common shares outstanding used in the basic and diluted
earnings per share computations is as follows:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic ..o 113,240 114,281 116,757
Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted shares ............... 437 520 496
Diluted ... 113,677 114,801 117,253

The dilutive effect of stock options excludes the incremental effect related to outstanding stock options with
an exercise price in excess of the common shares weighted-average market price because their impact is
antidilutive. At the end of fiscal years 2005, 2004, and 2003, stock options outstanding with an exercise price
greater than the weighted-average market price were 5.0 million, 5.1 million, and 6.5 million, respectively.

On February 22, 2006, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to
$150.0 million of the Company’s common shares. The Company expects the purchases to be made from time
to time in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions with such purchases to be completed within
one year of the announcement. Common shares acquired through the repurchase program will be available for
general corporate purposes.

In May 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $75.0 million of the
Company’s common shares. Pursuant to this authorization, the Company purchased 5.4 million common
shares having an aggregate cost of $75.0 million with an average price paid per share of $13.82. The
repurchased common shares were placed into treasury and are used for general corporate purposes
including the issuance of shares for employee benefits, the exercise of stock options, and the issuance
of restricted shares.
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Stock Option Plans

In May 2005, the shareholders of the Company approved the Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the
“2005 Incentive Plan”). The 2005 Incentive Plan replaced the Big Lots, Inc. 1996 Performance Incentive Plan,
as amended (the “1996 Incentive Plan”). Beginning January 1, 2006, equity awards will be issued under the
2005 Incentive Plan.

The 1996 Incentive Plan and 2005 Incentive Plan authorize the issuance of incentive and nonqualified stock
options, restricted stock, performance units, and stock appreciation rights. The Company has not issued
performance units or stock appreciation rights. As a result of its expiration, there are no common shares
available for issuance under the 1996 Incentive Plan at January 28, 2006. The number of common shares
available for issuance under the 2005 Incentive Plan consists of 1) an initial allocation of 1,250,000 common
shares, 2) 2,001,142 common shares, the number of common shares that were available under the 1996
Incentive Plan upon its expiration, and 3) an annual increase equal to 0.75% of the total number of issued
common shares (including treasury shares) as of the start of each of the Company’s fiscal years during which
the 2005 Incentive Plan is in effect. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (“Committee”),
which is charged with administering the 2005 Incentive Plan, determines the term of each award. Options
granted to employees generally expire on the lesser of: 1) the term set by the Committee, which has
historically been 7 to 10 years from the grant date; 2) one year following death or disability; or 3) three
months following termination. Stock options granted under the 1996 Incentive Plan and 2005 Incentive Plan
may be either nonqualified or incentive stock options, and the exercise price may not be less than the fair
market value of the underlying common shares on the date of award. Unless there is a change in control

of the Company, the options generally vest ratably over a four-year or five-year period. See below for a
discussion of the acceleration of vesting for certain options which occurred in the fourth quarter of fiscal year
2005. Upon a change in control of the Company, all awards outstanding automatically vest.

The Company maintains the Big Lots Director Stock Option Plan (“Director Stock Option Plan”) for non-
employee directors. The number of common shares initially available for issuance under the Director Stock
Option Plan was 781,250 shares. The Director Stock Option Plan is administered by the Committee pursuant
to an established formula. Neither the Board of Directors nor the Committee exercises any discretion in
administration of the Director Stock Option Plan. Grants are made annually, approximately 90 days following
the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, at an exercise price equal to 100% of the fair market value on the date
of grant. The present formula provides to each non-employee director an annual grant of an option to acquire
10,000 of the Company’s common shares which become fully exercisable over a three-year period: 20% of
the shares on the first anniversary, 60% on the second anniversary, and 100% on the third anniversary.
Options granted to non-employee directors expire on the lesser of: 1) 10 years plus one month; or 2) one
year following death or disability; or 3) at the end of the trading window immediately following termination.

On November 21, 2005, the Company announced that the Compensation Committee, after discussion with
the Board of Directors, approved accelerating the vesting of stock options representing approximately 3.8
million of the Company’s shares awarded on or before February 21, 2005, under the 1996 Incentive Plan

and the Director Stock Option Plan. The Committee did not, however, accelerate the vesting of stock options
granted after February 21, 2005, including those granted to the Company’s current Chief Executive Officer,
Steven S. Fishman, or the vesting of stock options granted to the Company’s former Chief Executive Officer,
Michael J. Potter. The decision to accelerate vesting of stock options was made primarily to reduce non-cash
compensation expense that would have been recorded in future periods following the adoption of SFAS

No. 123(R) in the first quarter of fiscal year 2006. The Company also believes this action will have a positive
effect on associate morale and retention. This action resulted in an insignificant amount of expense recorded in
the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 for the impact of the shares estimated to be modified and is expected to
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enable the Company to eliminate pretax expense of approximately $11.7 million over the five year period
during which the stock options would have vested, subject to the impact of additional adjustments related to
cancelled stock options. The acceleration resulted in additional proforma stock-based employee compensation
expense in fiscal year 2005 as disclosed in Note 1. The Company also believes this action will have a positive
effect on employee morale and retention. Additionally, the Committee imposed a holding period that requires
all directors, executive vice presidents, and senior vice presidents (including the Company’s named executive
officers other than Messrs. Fishman and Potter whose stock options were not accelerated) to refrain from
selling shares acquired upon the exercise of the accelerated stock options until the date on which the exercise
would have been permitted under the stock option’s original vesting terms or, if earlier, the director or
officer’s death, permanent and total disability, or termination of employment.

As required by the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123, the Company estimates the fair value of stock
options in order to present the proforma net income and earnings per share as if the fair value method of
accounting for options had been adopted. For purposes of this disclosure, the Company used a binomial model
to determine the fair value of all options granted on or after February 1, 2004. The fair value of stock options
granted prior to February 1, 2004, was determined using the Black-Scholes model. The Company believes
that the binomial model considers characteristics of fair value option pricing that are not available under the
Black-Scholes model and, therefore, the binomial model provides a more accurate estimate of fair value.
Similar to the Black-Scholes model, the binomial model takes into account variables such as volatility,
dividend yield rate, and risk-free interest rate. In addition, the binomial model considers the contractual

term of the option, the probability that the option will be exercised prior to the end of its contractual life,

and the probability of termination or retirement of the option holder in computing the value of the option.
The assumptions used in the option pricing models for each of the respective periods were as follows:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003
Weighted-average fair value of options granted ....................... $4.74 $5.48 $5.49
Risk-free Interest rates .............ooouiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniinannn.s 3.9% 3.1% 3.0%
Expected life (YEars) .......oouueiunnimniiin i 55 5.2 4.8
Expected volatility ...........ooiiiiiiiii 42.4% 39.0% 58.0%
Expected annual forfeiture ............ .. .. .. i, 3.0% 3.0% 0.0%

The following table summarizes information about the Company’s stock option plans at January 28, 2006:

Range of Prices Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-
Remaining Average Average
Greater Less Than Options Life Exercise Options Exercise
Than or Equal to Outstanding (Years) Price Exercisable Price
$7.79 $11.50 2,469,529 6.3 $10.96 1,741,529 $10.90
$11.51 $11.75 2,417,850 7.1 11.66 2,321,850 11.66
$11.76 $13.50 1,982,630 5.5 12.28 1,699,630 12.31
$13.51 $16.50 2,537,280 7.0 15.18 2,257,280 15.20
$16.51 $43.38 1,283,456 23 28.90 1,283,456 28.90
10,690,745 6.0 $14.52 9,303,745 $14.87
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Changes in the status of outstanding options were as follows:

Options Price @
Outstanding at February 1, 2003 .................... 9,405,093 $15.56
Granted ...t 2,285,400 11.37
Exercised ........... i (327,675) 11.27
Forfeited ...t (637,902) 16.69
Outstanding at January 31, 2004 .................... 10,724,916 14.73
Granted ... 2,718,800 14.77
Exercised .......c.oiiiiiii (1,050,787) 11.42
Forfeited ... (1,783,429) 15.31
Outstanding at January 29, 2005 .................... 10,609,500 14.97
Granted ...t 2,081,800 11.52
Exercised ........coiiiiiiii (600,021) 11.69
Forfeited ...t (1,400,534) 14.76
Outstanding at January 28, 2006 .................... 10,690,745 $14.52

(a) Weighted-average per share exercise price.

During fiscal year 2005, the Company granted 100,000 restricted common shares with a closing market
price of $11.25. These restricted shares vest in thirds upon the attainment of mutually agreed common share
price targets and fully after five years of service or upon the change in control of the Company.

During fiscal year 2004, the Company granted 172,000 restricted common shares with a closing market
price of $10.85. These restricted shares vest equally over three years. During fiscal year 2005, 53,998 of the
restricted shares granted in fiscal year 2004 vested and 10,000 of the restricted shares granted in fiscal year
2004 were forfeited. The restricted share grants were made in accordance with the 1996 Incentive Plan. The
restricted shares granted during fiscal year 2004 will fully vest if the employee is involuntarily terminated
without cause or upon change in control of the Company. The 2004 restricted share grants will be forfeited,
in whole or in part, as applicable, if the employee voluntarily terminates his or her employment or if the
employee is terminated for cause.

The fair value of the restricted shares as measured at the grant date is amortized on a straight-line basis to
selling and administrative expense over the vesting period. The unamortized portion of the restricted shares
expense is included as a separate component of shareholders’ equity.
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BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 11 — Business Segment Data

The following data is presented in accordance with SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information.

Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
ConSUMADIES . . ..ottt $1,275,851 $1,247,207 $1,196,414
Home ... 1,333,602 1,153,297 1,046,617
Seasonal and tOYS .. ...ttt 830,526 814,661 819,004
O her .o 989,926 934,087 880,618
NEt SAlES .ttt et $4,429,905 $4,149,252  $3,942,653

The Home category includes furniture, domestics, and home décor departments. The Other category
primarily includes electronics, apparel, home maintenance, small appliances, and tools. The Company
internally evaluates and externally communicates overall sales and merchandise performance based on
these key merchandising categories and believes that these categories facilitate analysis of the Company’s
financial performance.
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BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 12 — Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The selected quarterly financial data does not agree to previous quarterly reports issued by the Company as a
result of the 130 stores reported in discontinued operations and closed by the Company in the fourth quarter
of fiscal year 2005. Summarized quarterly financial data for fiscal years 2005 and 2004 was as follows:

Fiscal Year 2005

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Netsales .............oiiiiiiiiiat.
Gross margin ............cooeeiiiennnenn.
Income (loss) from continuing operations ..

Income (loss) from discontinued operations

Net income (losS) ........................

Income (loss) per common share — basic:

Continuing operations ..................
Discontinued operations ................

Income (loss) per common share — diluted:
Continuing operations ..................
Discontinued operations ................

Fiscal Year 2004

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Netsales ........coooiiiiiiiii ..
Gross margin ............cooeeeiuiinnnann.
Income (loss) from continuing operations ..

Income (loss) from discontinued operations

Net income (losS) ................ooo....

Income (loss) per common share — basic:

Continuing operations ..................
Discontinued operations ................

Income (loss) per common share — diluted:
Continuing operations ..................
Discontinued operations ................

First Second Third Fourth Year

$1,043,084 $1,000,511 $991,408 $1,394,902 $4,429,905
425,658 401,362 387,623 517,023 1,731,666
7,266 (12,945) (16,249) 37,653 15,725

534 (807) (2,539) (23,001) (25,813)

7,800 (13,752) (18,788) 14,652 (10,088)
0.06 (0.11) (0.14) 0.33 0.14

0.01 (0.01) (0.03) (0.20) (0.23)

0.07 (0.12) (0.17) 0.13 (0.09)
0.06 (0.11) (0.14) 0.33 0.14

0.01 (0.01) (0.03) (0.20) (0.23)

$ 0.07 $ 0.12) $ (©0.17) $ 0.13 $ (0.09)

First Second Third Fourth Year

$962,749 $942,487 $929,928 $1,314,088 $4,149,252
396,955 384,800 376,038 529,345 1,687,138
5,811 (7,063) (24,018) 56,702 31,432

540 (668) (8,045) 504 (7,669)
6,351 (7,731) (32,063) 57,206 23,763
0.05 (0.06) 0.21) 0.50 0.28

— (0.01) (0.08) 0.01 (0.07)
0.05 (0.07) (0.29) 0.51 0.21
0.05 (0.06) 0.21) 0.50 0.27

— (0.01) (0.08) 0.01 (0.06)
$ 0.05 $ (0.07) $ (029 $ 0.51 $ 0.21

(a) Income (loss) per share calculations for each quarter are based on the applicable weighted-average
shares outstanding for each period and may not necessarily be equal to the full year income (loss) per

share amount.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company, under the supervision and with the participation of its management, including its Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, performed an evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures pursuant to paragraph (b) of Rule 13a-15(e) or Rule 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based
on that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded, as of the
end of the period covered by this report, that such disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting
for the Company as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. The Company’s
internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Internal control systems, no matter how well designed and operated, have inherent limitations, including the
possibility of the circumvention or overriding of controls. Due to these inherent limitations, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. As a result, projections of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control system as of January 28, 2006. In
making its assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control — Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment,
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that the Company
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting, in all material respects, as of January 28, 2006.

The Company’s Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, has issued an
attestation report on management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
The report appears in the Financial Statements and Supplementary Data section of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

No changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, as that term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
and Rule 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act, occurred during the Company’s most recent fiscal quarter that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information contained under the captions “Governance of the Company” and “Stock Ownership” in
the 2006 Proxy Statement, with respect to directors, the code of ethics, the Audit Committee, the audit
committee financial experts of the Company, and Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance,
is incorporated herein by reference in response to this item.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information contained under the captions “Governance of the Company — Director Compensation,”
“Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation,” and “Executive Compensation” in the 2006
Proxy Statement, with respect to director and executive compensation, is incorporated herein by reference in
response to this item.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The information contained under the captions “Executive Compensation — Equity Compensation Plan
Information” and “Stock Ownership — Ownership of Company Stock by Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” in the 2006 Proxy Statement, with respect to securities authorized for issuance under equity
compensation plans and security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management, is incorporated
herein by reference in response to this item.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
Not applicable.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Pre-Approval Policy

The Audit Committee of the Board has adopted the Audit and Non-Audit Services Pre-Approval Policy.
Under the policy, the Audit Committee is required to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services
performed by the independent auditor in order to assure that the provision of those services does not impair
the independent auditor’s independence. Pre-approval is detailed as to the particular service or category of
service and is subject to a specific engagement authorization. The Audit Committee requires the independent
auditor and management to report on the actual fees incurred for each category of service at Audit Committee
meetings throughout the year.

During the year, circumstances may arise when it may become necessary to engage the independent auditor
for additional services which have not been approved. In those instances, the Audit Committee requires
specific pre-approval before engaging the independent auditor. The Audit Committee may delegate pre-
approval authority to one or more of its members for those instances when pre-approval is needed prior to a
scheduled Audit Committee meeting. The member or members to whom pre-approval authority is delegated
must report any pre-approval decisions to the Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting.

Consistent with the policy, all audit and non-audit services rendered by the Company’s independent auditors
in fiscal year 2005, including the related fees, were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.
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Audit and Non-Audit Fees

The fees incurred by the Company for the professional services rendered by Deloitte & Touche LLP, the
Company’s independent auditor, during the two most recently completed fiscal years were as follows:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004
(In thousands)
AUdit TEES oot $1,627 $1,367
Audit-related fees @ ... .. 109 120
Tax fees ™ .. 25 114
All other fees ... — —
TOtal TEES .o v ettt $1,761 $1,601

(a) Principally audits of employee benefit plans and accounting consultation.
(b) Principally tax planning and tax compliance services.
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PART 1V

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements, Financial Statement Schedules and Exhibits

(a) Documents filed as part of this report:

Page

(D Financial Statements

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ............................ 31

Consolidated Statements of OPerations .............c.veuviueiieineineineinennennennenn. 33

Consolidated Balance Sheets ...........oououiiiii e 34

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders” Equity ..., 35

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows .......... ... i, 36

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ...............c.cooiiiiiiiiiiiniininenn.. 37
2) Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule Description

II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts .................c..oooiiiia.. 67

All other financial statements and schedules not listed in the preceding index are omitted because they are not
required or are not applicable or because the information required to be set forth therein either was not
material or is included in the consolidated financial statements or Notes thereto.

BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE II — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Charged to
Beginning Cost and Charged to End

Description of Year Expense Other Accounts Deductions of Year
(In thousands)
Inventory Valuation Allowance

Fiscal year ended January 28, 2006 .. $ 776 672 — 275 $ 1,173 @

Fiscal year ended January 29, 2005 .. $2.651 243 1,500 ® 618 $ 776 @

Fiscal year ended January 31, 2004 .. $2,879 268 — 496 $ 2,651 ©
Closed Store Liabilities

Fiscal year ended January 28, 2006 .. $ — 43,600 @ — 23,638 @ $19,962 ¥
(a) Consists of markdowns of aged goods.

(b)

(©)
(d)

(e

®

Certain amounts were reclassified to other balance sheet accounts during the fiscal year ended
January 29, 2005.

Consists of reserve for merchandise returns and markdowns of aged goods.

Includes charges for the write-down of property, inventory and deferred rent, severance and benefits, and

contract termination cost.

Includes non-cash reductions for the write-down of property, inventory, and deferred rent, and cash

payments for severance and benefits and contract termination costs.

Consists of the remaining liability for severance and benefits and contract termination costs related to

closed stores.

67



3

Exhibit
No.

2

3.1

32

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

Exhibits. Exhibits marked with an asterisk (*) are filed herein. Copies of exhibits will be
furnished upon written request and payment of the Company’s reasonable expenses in
furnishing the exhibits. Exhibits 10.1 through 10.33 are management contracts or compensatory
plans or arrangements.

Document

Agreement of Merger (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended May 5, 2001).

Amended Articles of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 3(a) to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 5, 2001).

Code of Regulations of the Company (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3(b) to the
Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 5, 2001).

Specimen Common Share Certificate (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4(a) to the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended February 2, 2002).

Big Lots, Inc. 1996 Performance Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10
to the Company’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-8).

Amendment to the Big Lots, Inc. 1996 Performance Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated August 17, 2005).

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Grant Agreement under the Big Lots, Inc. 1996
Performance Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Form 8-K dated September 9, 2004).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Big Lots, Inc. 1996 Performance
Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form §-K
dated January 6, 2005).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Big Lots, Inc. 1996 Performance
Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form §-K
dated July 11, 2005).

Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Form 8-K dated May 17, 2005).

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement under the Big Lots 2005 Long-Term
Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form §-K
dated February 21, 2000).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive
Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated
February 21, 2006).

Big Lots, Inc. Executive Stock Option and Stock Appreciation Rights Plan (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10 to the Company’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 3 to Form S-8).

Big Lots, Inc. Amended and Restated Director Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10 to the Company’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-8).

First Amendment to Big Lots, Inc. Amended and Restated Director Stock Option Plan
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(d) to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended August 3, 2002).

Form of Option Award Agreement under the Big Lots, Inc. Amended and Restated
Director Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Form 8-K dated September 9, 2004).

The 1998 Big Lots, Inc. Key Associate Annual Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10(1) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended
February 2, 2002).
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Exhibit

No.

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

Document

Big Lots Savings Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s
Form 10-K for the year ended January 29, 2005).

Big Lots, Inc. Supplemental Savings Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(c) to
the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2004).

Big Lots Defined Benefit Pension Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 29, 2005).

Big Lots, Inc. Supplemental Defined Benefit Pension Plan (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10(u) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2004).

Big Lots Executive Benefit Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(m) to the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2004).

Big Lots, Inc. Director Compensation Package (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10
to the Company’s Form 8-K dated January 27, 2005).

Employment Agreement with Steven S. Fishman (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated June 6, 2005).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement with Steven S. Fishman (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated February 21, 2006).

Employment Agreement with John C. Martin (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 to
the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 1, 2003).

Employment Agreement with Brad A. Waite (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(s)
to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2004).

Employment Agreement with Donald A. Mierzwa (incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10(r) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2004).

Employment Agreement with Charles W. Haubiel II (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2005).

Employment Agreement with Joe R. Cooper (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2005).

Employment Agreement with Kent Larsson (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Form 8-K dated August 17, 2005).

Employment Agreement with Lisa M. Bachmann (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated August 29, 2005).

Employment Agreement with Michael J. Potter (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Company’s Form 8-K dated January 6, 2005).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement with Michael J. Potter (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated June 6, 2005).

Form of Executive Severance Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(r) to
the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 30, 1999).

Form of Senior Executive Severance Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10(s) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 30, 1999).

Form of Retention Package Memorandum (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Company’s Form 8-K dated January 6, 2005).

Credit Agreement among Big Lots Stores, Inc., as borrower, the Guarantors named therein, and
the Banks named therein (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Form 8-K dated October 29, 2004).

First Amendment to Credit Agreement among Big Lots Stores, Inc., as borrower, the Guarantors
named therein, and the Banks named therein (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Company’s Form 8-K dated October 25, 2005).
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Exhibit
No.
10.36
10.37
21*

23%
24.1

24.2

243

24.4

24.5

24.6

24.7

24.8

31.1%

31.2%

32.1%

32.2%

Document

Security Agreement between Big Lots Stores, Inc. and Big Lots Capital, Inc. (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated October 29, 2004).

Stock Purchase Agreement between KB Acquisition Corporation and Consolidated Stores
Corporation (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2(a) to the Company’s Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended October 28, 2000).

Subsidiaries.
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

Power of Attorney for Sheldon M. Berman (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 24.1 to
the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 29, 2005).

Power of Attorney for David T. Kollat (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 24.2 to the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 29, 2005).

Power of Attorney for Brenda J. Lauderback (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 24.3
to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 29, 2005).

Power of Attorney for Philip E. Mallott (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 24.4 to the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 29, 2005).

Power of Attorney for Ned Mansour (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 24.5 to the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 29, 2005).

Power of Attorney for Russell Solt (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 24.7 to the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 29, 2005).

Power of Attorney for James R. Tener (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 24.8 to the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 29, 2005).

Power of Attorney for Dennis B. Tishkoff (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 24.9 to
the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 29, 2005).

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on this

13" day of April 2006.

BIG LOTS, INC.

By: /s/ Steven S. Fishman

Steven S. Fishman
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer
and President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on the 13" day of April 2006.

/s/ Steven S. Fishman

/s/ Joe R. Cooper

Steven S. Fishman
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer
and President (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Sheldon M. Berman*

Joe R. Cooper

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

/s/ Ned Mansour*

Sheldon M. Berman
Director

/s/ David T. Kollat*

Ned Mansour
Director

/s/ Russell Solt*

David T. Kollat
Director

/s/ Brenda J. Lauderback*

Russell Solt
Director

/s/ James R. Tener*

Brenda J. Lauderback
Director

/s/ Philip E. Mallott*

James R. Tener
Director

/s/ Dennis B. Tishkoff*

Philip E. Mallott
Director

Dennis B. Tishkoff
Director

*  The above named Directors of the Registrant execute this report by Charles W. Haubiel II, their attorney-
in-fact, pursuant to the powers of attorney executed by the above-named Directors and filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, all in the capacities indicated and on the 13" day of April, 2006.

By: /s/ Charles W. Haubiel II

Charles W. Haubiel II
Attorney-in-Fact
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EXHIBIT 21

SUBSIDIARIES

Name Jurisdiction
Big Lots Stores, Inc. OH
C.S. Ross Company OH
BLSI Property, LLC DE
Big Lots Capital, Inc. OH
Durant DC, LLC DE
CSC Distribution, Inc. AL
Closeout Distribution, Inc. PA
Consolidated Property Holdings, Inc. NV
Midwestern Home Products, Inc. DE
Midwestern Home Products Company, Ltd. OH
Tool and Supply Company of New England, Inc. DE
Sonoran LLC DE
Sahara LLC DE
Great Basin LLC DE
Industrial Products of New England, Inc. ME
SS Investments Corporation DE
Mac Frugal’s Bargains * Close-outs Inc. DE
PNS Stores, Inc. CA
West Coast Liquidators, Inc. CA
Capital Retail Systems, Inc. OH
Barn Acquisition Corporation DE
Fashion Barn, Inc. NY
Fashion Barn of New Jersey, Inc. NJ
Fashion Barn of Florida, Inc. FL
Fashion Barn of Indiana, Inc. IN
Fashion Barn of Pennsylvania, Inc. PA
Fashion Barn of Oklahoma, Inc. OK
Fashion Barn of Texas, Inc. X
Fashion Barn of Ohio, Inc. OH
Fashion Outlets Corp. NY
Fashion Barn of Vermont, Inc. VT
Fashion Barn of Virginia, Inc. VA
Fashion Barn of South Carolina, Inc. SC
Fashion Barn of North Carolina, Inc. NC
Fashion Barn of West Virginia, Inc. \\AY%
Fashion Bonanza, Inc. NY
Rogers Fashion Industries, Inc. NY
Rogers Fashion Industries, Inc. NJ
Saddle Brook Distributors, Inc. NY
Saddle Brook Distributors, Inc. NJ
DTS, Inc. NY
DTS, Inc. TN
Fashion Barn of Missouri, Inc. MO
Fashion Barn, Inc. MA

Fashion Barn of Georgia, Inc. GA



EXHIBIT 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following documents of our reports dated April 13, 2006,
relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule of Big Lots, Inc. and
subsidiaries and management’s report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting appearing
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Big Lots, Inc. for the year ended January 28, 2006.

1. Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement No. 33-42502 on Form S-8 pertaining to
Big Lots, Inc. Director Stock Option Plan;

2. Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement No. 33-42692 on Form S-8 pertaining to
Big Lots, Inc. Supplemental Savings Plan;

3. Post-Effective Amendment No. 3 to Registration Statement No. 33-6086 on Form S-8 pertaining to
Big Lots, Inc. Executive Stock Option and Stock Appreciation Rights Plan;

4.  Post-Effective Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement No. 33-19309 on Form S-8 pertaining to
Big Lots, Inc. Savings Plan; and

5. Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement No. 333-32063 on Form S-8 pertaining to
Big Lots, Inc. 1996 Performance Incentive Plan.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Dayton, Ohio
April 13, 2006



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Steven S. Fishman, certify that:

L.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Big Lots, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: April 13, 2006 By: /s/ Steven S. Fishman

Steven S. Fishman
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer
and President



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Joe R. Cooper, certify that:

L.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Big Lots, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: April 13, 2006 By: /s/ Joe R. Cooper

Joe R. Cooper
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

This certification is provided pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and accompanies the annual report on
Form 10-K (the “Report”) for the year ended January 28, 2006, of Big Lots, Inc. (the “Company”). I, Steven
S. Fishman, Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company, certify that:

(i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: April 13, 2006 By: /s/ Steven S. Fishman

Steven S. Fishman
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer
and President




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

This certification is provided pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and accompanies the annual report on
Form 10-K (the “Report”) for the year ended January 28, 2006, of Big Lots, Inc. (the “Company”). I, Joe R.
Cooper, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify that:

(i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: April 13, 2006 By: /s/ Joe R. Cooper

Joe R. Cooper
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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notice of annual meeting

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held at 9:00 a.m.
EDT on Thursday, May 25, 2006, at the Big Lots, Inc. corporate
office, 300 Phillipi Road, Columbus, Ohio. Whether or not you
plan to attend, you are encouraged to return the proxy card which
accompanies this report fo ensure that your shares will be represented.
In accordance with the accompanying proxy statement, shareholders

who attend the meeting may withdraw their proxies and vote in person

if they so desire.

ceo/cfo certifications

The most recent certifications by our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
pursuant to Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are filed as exhibits to
our Form 10-K. We have also filed with the New York Stock Exchange the most recent Annual
CEO Certification as required by Section 303A.12(a) of the New York Stock Exchange Listed
Company Manual.

company information
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